
Public Accounts Committee 
 

Meeting Venue: 
Committee Room 3 - Senedd 

 

 

 

Meeting date: 
5 February 2013  

 

Meeting time: 
09:00 

 

For further information please contact:  

Policy: Tom Jackson 
Committee Clerk 
029 2089 8597 / 029 2089 8032 
Publicaccounts.comm@Wales.gov.uk  

  

 

Agenda 
 

 

1. Introductions, apologies and substitutions   

2. Briefing in the Wales Audit Office report on Caldicot and 
Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board (9:05 - 9:45) (Pages 1 - 69)  
PAC(4) 04-13 – Paper 1  

3. Briefing from the Auditor General for Wales on the Wales Audit 
Office report Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-
up Report (9:45 - 10:30) (Pages 70 - 119)  
PAC(4) 04-13 – Paper 2  

4. Papers to note  (Pages 120 - 125) 

5. Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the 
public from the meeting for the following business:    
Items 6 and 7.  

6. Options for handling Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal 
Drainage Board (10:30 - 10:45)  

7. Options for handling Operations of the Forestry Commission 
Wales Follow-up Report (10:45 - 11:00)  

Transcript 
View the meeting transcript.  

Public Document Pack



Audit of Accounts 2010-11 

Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal 
Drainage Board 

Report in the Public Interest

Audit year: 2010-11

Issued: 8 October 2012 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 Agenda Item 2

Page 1



Status of report 

Page 2 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 –Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

This report in the public interest has been prepared in accordance with Section 22 of the 

Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004. 

No responsibility is accepted in relation to any officer, member or any other person in their 

individual capacity or any third party 

The Wales Audit Office team that assisted me in preparing this report comprised  

David Rees, Derwyn Owen, Deryck Evans, Katrina Febry, Jeremy Morgan, Jane Thomas, 

Lucy Evans, Ian Phillips and Ramim Khan. 

Anthony Barrett 

Appointed Auditor of Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

Wales Audit Office, 24 Cathedral Road, Cardiff CF11 9LJ 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 2



Contents

Page 3 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 –Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

This report is issued in the public interest under Section 22 of the Public Audit (Wales)  

Act 2004. I have issued this report to draw the public’s attention to a failure in governance 

arrangements and inadequacies in management and internal control at Caldicot and 

Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board. As a result of such failures the Drainage Board 

has, in my view, acted unlawfully on occasions. 

Summary report 

Summary 6

Recommendations 7

Detailed report 

Overview of the structure, financing and activities of Caldicot and Wentlooge 

Levels Internal Drainage Board 

8

The Drainage Board’s governance arrangements were inadequate and 

ineffective 

9

The Drainage Board lacked clarity of purpose and strategic direction 10

The Drainage Board’s decision-making framework was not properly 

constituted, and as a result, the Drainage Board has been operating 

contrary to law 

10

The Drainage Board’s Establishment Committee did not have a clear 

membership and remit, and inadequate records were kept of its 

proceedings prior to 2011 

12

The formal records of committee and Board proceedings contain 

inaccuracies, anomalies, breaches of information law and, in a number of 

cases, minutes appear to have been drafted to represent the views of the 

former Clerk and Engineer and former Office and Personnel Manager 

rather than those of the Board and its committees 

14

The Board’s failure to introduce key governance policies and procedures 

has contributed to major governance failings within the Drainage Board’s 

operations

16

Some members and officers acted in a way which is likely to undermine public 

confidence in the way in which the Drainage Board operated 

18

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 3



Page 4 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

The former Clerk and Engineer had a conflict of interest when he drew up 

proposals for his own redundancy and presented those proposals to the 

Board’s Establishment Committee 

19

The Board failed to put in place arrangements to ensure the independent 

review of the pay of the former Clerk and Engineer. The Clerk and 

Engineer was involved in submitting proposals relating to his pay to 

committees of the Board. 

22

Three members of the Board and the former Clerk and Engineer 

participated in proceedings of the Board relating to an ongoing court case 

when they had a conflict of interest in the matter 

29

The Drainage Board did not exercise good financial management and control 

at a corporate level 

36

The Drainage Board’s budget setting process for 2010-11 was not robust 

and Board minutes do not record that the Board formally approved the 

budget or amendments to it 

36

The Drainage Board did not have a formal budgetary control system  

in place for financial years prior to 2011-12 and had no documented 

financial control procedures 

37

The way in which the Board has set the annual rate has resulted in a 

potential inequity between the respective financial burdens placed on the 

council taxpayer and the local ratepayer. Furthermore, the Drainage 

Board is unable to demonstrate that it has been setting a lawful rate for 

several years. 

38

The Drainage Board has failed to demonstrate that it has achieved value for 

money and acted lawfully in some key areas 

39

The Drainage Board spent taxpayers’ money funding ‘inspection’ visits by 

Board members and officers without having any business case to justify 

these visits or any effective means of assessing the benefits realised 

from these visits. I consider that the expenditure did not represent value 

for money and that the expenditure was contrary to law. 

40

The Drainage Board did not have adequate procedures in place for  

the procurement of goods and services and did not always comply  

with its own procedures. As a result, the Drainage Board is unable to 

demonstrate that it has achieved value for money from these purchases. 

43

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 4



Page 5 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

On some occasions, the Drainage Board used public resources in 

supporting external organisations when it had no statutory powers to  

do so 

48

The Drainage Board did not have HR policies and procedures in place. 

This has led to a lack of transparency over the grading and remuneration 

of staff. Furthermore, the former Clerk and Engineer recommended to the 

Board that the Office Manager’s post be re-graded even though he had a 

personal and pecuniary interest. 

49

The decisions taken to allow senior staff time off in lieu of extra-

contractual hours worked were not taken properly. These decisions, 

which were based on recommendations made by the former Clerk and 

Engineer, benefited only three members of staff including the former  

Clerk and Engineer and the former Office and Personnel Manager. 

51

The Drainage Board provided services to other drainage boards without 

having considered the strategic implications, costs and risks of doing so 

52

The Drainage Board’s recording and pricing of private works has not 

been sufficiently robust, and the operation of its ‘profit incentivisation’ 

scheme was contrary to law 

53

Next steps 55

Acknowledgements 56

Appendices

The Nolan seven principles of public life 57

Declarations of interest in the sea defences case 58

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 5



Summary report 

Page 6 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 –Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

Summary

1. This document is issued in the public interest under Section 22 of the Public Audit 

(Wales) Act 2004 (the Act) which requires me to consider whether, in the public 

interest, I should make a report on any matter which comes to my notice in the course 

of the audit, in order for it to be considered by the audited body or to be brought to the 

attention of the public. I have issued this report to draw the public’s attention to a 

failure in governance arrangements and inadequacies in management and internal 

control at Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board (the Drainage 

Board). As a result of such failures the Drainage Board has, in my view, acted 

unlawfully on occasions. I believe it is important that the public has a full and proper 

awareness of the events concerning the Board. I also consider it appropriate to give 

the Drainage Board an opportunity to demonstrate whether they have taken the 

important steps needed to improve arrangements and to ensure that the risk of such 

failures recurring is reduced to a minimum. 

2. In 2011, a number of concerns relating to the operation of the Drainage Board were 

raised with me in my capacity as the statutory auditor of the Drainage Board by former 

officers and a former member of the Board. The concerns raised included matters of 

overall governance, probity and value for money. I determined that several of the 

issues raised were matters which fell within my statutory remit and should be 

investigated.  

3. In the course of my audit investigation, I considered whether the Drainage Board has 

been governed and managed to the standards the public has a right to expect from a 

public body. 

4. I have concluded that the Drainage Board has not been governed and managed 

effectively for a number of years. I found that its governance framework was inadequate 

and some elements I would have expected to find within a robust governance framework 

were absent. As a consequence, the Drainage Board operated in an ad hoc and 

inconsistent way and on a number of occasions this resulted in the Drainage Board 

acting unlawfully. Furthermore, the Drainage Board has been beset by personal conflict, 

the interests of individuals have been allowed to influence decision making and the 

Board is unable to demonstrate that it delivered value for money. In short, the Drainage 

Board has not operated to the standards that the public has a right to expect from a 

public body. I found that: 

! the Drainage Board’s governance arrangements were inadequate and 

ineffective; 

! some members and officers acted in a way which is likely to undermine public 

confidence in the Drainage Board; 

! the Drainage Board did not exercise good financial management and control at a 

corporate level; and 

! the Drainage Board has failed to demonstrate that it has achieved value for 

money and acted lawfully in some key areas. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 6



Page 7 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

5. In my view, the organisation lost sight of the fact that it was a public body. It failed to 

remember that it did not exist for its own sake but to serve those who work and live on 

the Gwent Levels.  

6. It has been apparent throughout the course of my review that the Drainage Board  

has been beset by personal conflict both at Board and officer level for a considerable 

period of time. This led to the breakdown of relationships, staffing disputes and 

infighting. This has severely impacted on the ability of the Drainage Board to conduct 

its business effectively. I have not sought, nor is it my role, to arbitrate in these 

matters. However, the Drainage Board will need to continue to address a number of 

cultural issues if it is to operate effectively in the future. In my view, these cultural 

issues were allowed to fester and grow in the absence of a robust and effective 

governance framework. 

7. Since 1 April 2005, the Auditor General has appointed auditors to undertake the 

annual audit of the accounts of the Drainage Board. These audits identified some 

matters of concern and made recommendations for improvement, particularly in 

respect of the financial management and budgetary control within the Drainage Board. 

The audit which led to this report has been far more extensive than would be the case 

in conducting an annual audit of the financial statements. I have therefore considered 

matters that the auditor would not routinely consider. However, the number of issues 

identified within the current audit and the scale and significance of some of these 

issues raises legitimate questions regarding the effectiveness of previous audits. I am 

currently considering what improvements need to be made to our methodology for the 

audit of small public bodies and for staff training to ensure that key audit issues are 

identified and reported on as early as possible. 

8. In September 2011, some of the issues emerging from the current audit were 

communicated to the Drainage Board’s Interim General Manager (in March 2012  

the Interim General Manager was appointed as Clerk and General Manager, and is 

referred to in this report as the General Manager). I am pleased to report that the 

Board has put in place a programme of organisational improvement. The improvement 

programme is well underway.  

Recommendations

R1 The Board should satisfy itself that the improvement programme it has put in place is 

effectively addressing the matters of concern raised within this report. 

R2 The Board should commission an independent review to commence in 12 months’ time 

to assess the impact and effectiveness of its improvement programme. 

R2 The Board should regularly review its progress against the improvement programme 

and ensure that all actions are completed.  

R4 The Board should consider whether to seek recovery of salary overpayments made to 

the former Clerk and Engineer. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 7



Detailed report 

Page 8 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 –Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

Overview of the structure, financing and activities of 
Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

9. The Drainage Board is a public body which operates under statutory provisions; 

primarily the Land Drainage Act 1991. The Drainage Board is responsible for the  

day-to-day management of the drainage system on the Gwent Levels. This is an area 

of land between Chepstow and Cardiff, south of the M4 motorway and bordered by  

the Severn Estuary. This is an area where in the absence of a well-maintained 

drainage system valuable agricultural, commercial and residential land would 

otherwise be flooded on a periodic basis. 

10. The operations of the Drainage Board are financed from the following sources: 

! levies raised upon Monmouthshire, Newport and Cardiff local authorities  

(72 per cent); 

! private drainage works undertaken on behalf of landowners or other 

organisations at their request (18 per cent); 

! other miscellaneous income (eight per cent); and 

! rates payable by landowners with property on the Gwent Levels (two per cent). 

11. The operations of the Drainage Board are overseen by a Board. The Board, until 

elections in May 2012, comprised 37 members. Eighteen of the members were elected 

from amongst the ratepayers and 19 were appointed to the Board by the local 

authorities on whom levies are raised. In recent years, not all 19 seats on the Board  

for local authority appointed members were filled resulting in a majority of elected 

members on the Board. Following the elections in May 2012, Newport City Council has 

yet to appoint representatives to the Board. 

12. At the time this audit work began, the Drainage Board employed 22 members of staff 

headed by the former Clerk and Engineer, Mr Jackson-Johns. The senior management 

team included Mr Jackson-Johns’ wife who was employed in the capacity of Office and 

Personnel Manager. The senior management structure as at 1 June 2011 is set out in 

Exhibit 1.

Exhibit 1: The Drainage Board senior management structure 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 8



Page 9 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

13. The Drainage Board is an unusually small public body. It has a small workforce with 

very limited administrative and support capacity. Members of the Board receive no 

remuneration in respect of the functions they perform for the Board (other than the 

Chairman of the Board who receives a small monthly allowance). These members give 

up a considerable amount of their time on a voluntary basis to provide public service. 

This is important context in respect of my audit findings. 

14. Since the audit commenced, several key personnel changes have been made within 

the Drainage Board. The Clerk and Engineer, the Office and Personnel Manager and 

the Engineer Health and Safety and Plant Manager have resigned and a General 

Manager has been appointed. The Drainage Board’s management has now been 

restructured.

15. The events and issues referred to in this report predate the implementation of the new 

management structure. The Board has recently approved and implemented a revised 

structure for its field staff and a revised and modernised pay structure which the 

current General Manager has told us will result in an annual cost saving to the 

Drainage Board.

16. The following sections set out the conclusions of my audit of the Drainage Board. 

The Drainage Board’s governance arrangements were 
inadequate and ineffective 

17. Public bodies must demonstrate that they are delivering the services for which they are 

responsible in accordance with principles of good governance. This means that public 

bodies must put in place robust arrangements to ensure that: 

! there is a clarity of purpose and strategic direction; 

! they are acting within their legal framework; 

! the roles of officers and Board members are documented and clearly understood;  

! decisions are made in an open and transparent way and clearly reported and 

communicated; and 

! Board members and officers conduct themselves in accordance with the highest 

standards of propriety required of those holding public office. 

18. In my view, the governance arrangements at the Drainage Board, during the period to 

which this report relates, were deficient in a number of key areas. In particular: 

! the Drainage Board lacked clarity of purpose and strategic direction; 

! the Board lacked a properly constituted decision-making framework; 

! the Establishment Committee, one of the Board’s key committees, lacked a clear 

membership and remit and failed to keep adequate records; and 

! the formal record of Board and committee proceedings was deficient in several 

respects. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 9



Page 10 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

The Drainage Board lacked clarity of purpose and strategic direction 

19. Having a clear purpose is fundamental to good governance. It supports the delivery  

of good-quality services and helps ensure value for money. When this purpose is 

communicated effectively it can properly guide people’s actions and decisions at  

all levels of the organisation. 

20. The primary responsibility for determining the Drainage Board’s strategy and corporate 

objectives rests with the Board, supported by its senior officers. I considered, during 

the course of my audit, whether there was evidence that the Board was providing 

strategic leadership and had a clear focus on the organisation’s purpose and on 

outcomes for citizens and service users.  

21. I consider that the Board was not providing strategic leadership. The minutes of the 

Board and its committees indicate that it was too involved in detailed operational 

matters and has not given sufficient attention to setting the organisation’s purpose, 

strategic objectives and priorities. 

22. The Drainage Board did not have key strategic documentation in place which I would 

have expected to be present, such as: 

! a strategic plan including corporate/strategic objectives and performance 

measures;

! operational plan(s) clearly linked to the corporate/strategic objectives; 

! an organisational budget (capital and revenue) prior to 2010-11; 

! overall work programme for the Drainage Board; 

! private works policy which links to the overall agreed work programme; and 

! a workforce plan. 

23. The Drainage Board’s current General Manager has acknowledged the need for  

the Board to develop a coherent strategic approach and is currently working with  

the Board to develop the Board’s approach to business planning. This work is well 

underway and the General Manager expects it to be completed by the end of 2012. 

24. The development of a clearly articulated strategy requires significant investment but is 

crucial if the Drainage Board is to demonstrate that it is delivering value for money for 

those it serves. 

The Drainage Board’s decision-making framework was not properly 

constituted and, as a result, the Drainage Board has been operating 

contrary to law 

25. The Drainage Board is a statutory body and must act in accordance with the legislation 

that governs its operations and proceedings. Schedule 2, paragraph 3(1) of the  

Land Drainage Act 1991, which governs the proceedings of internal drainage boards, 

empowers internal drainage boards, subject to ministerial approval, to make and 

implement rules regulating its proceedings:  

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 10



Page 11 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

‘An internal drainage board may, with the approval of the relevant Minister, make rules: 

(a) for regulating the proceedings of the board, including quorum, place of meetings 

and notices to be given of meetings; 

(b) with respect to the appointment of a chairman and a vice-chairman; 

(c) for enabling the board to constitute committees; and  

(d) for authorising the delegation to committees of any of the powers of the board 

and for regulating the proceedings of committees, including quorum, place of 

meetings and notices to be given of meetings.’  

26. In order to operate effectively, internal drainage boards need to adopt and obtain 

ministerial approval for a scheme of rules. I would expect these rules to constitute  

the Drainage Board’s standing orders and include the elements referred to in 

paragraph 25.

27. The minutes of a meeting of the Board’s Governance/Establishment Committee on  

30 June 2008 record that the former Clerk and Engineer told the committee ‘the 

Regulations and Standing Orders for the Board date back to 1943. There is urgent 

need for these to be updated in line with best practice...’ In June 2008 therefore, the 

Board had not adopted and received approval for rules of procedure in accordance 

with legislative requirements. This is despite the fact that in 2005 the Department of 

the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) had issued model standing orders 

which were available for adoption and approval by internal drainage boards. 

28. At a meeting of the Board on 9 February 2009 several documents, including draft  

IDB Regulations and Standing Orders and an IDB Scheme of Delegation were

circulated to members of the Board. The minutes record that the Board resolved to 

formally adopt the documents from 1 April 2009. Officers of the Welsh Government, 

however,have confirmed that they have been unable to locate any request by the 

Drainage Board to the relevant Minister for approval of standing orders as required 

under the Land Drainage Act 1991. The documents adopted by the Board were based 

on the model documents issued by DEFRA. 

29. Prior to the Board’s decision in February 2009 to adopt standing orders, the Board had 

already purported to establish several committees of the Board including: 

! Establishment Committee 

! Governance Committee 

! Finance Committee 

! Works and General Purposes Committee 

! Remuneration and Expenses Committee 

30. I have requested details of when each of these committees was established and a 

copy of their respective constitutions but the Drainage Board has not been able to 

provide me with this information. 

31. Prior to 1 April 2009, the Board had not made rules approved by the relevant Minister 

under Schedule 2, paragraph 3(1) of the Land Drainage Act 1991 to enable it to 

constitute committees, decisions made by these committees would therefore, in my 

view, be contrary to law, unless such decisions were confirmed by the full Board.  

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 11



Page 12 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

32. On 9 February 2009, the Board agreed to adopt a scheme of delegation which sets  

out matters reserved for the Board, ie matters which only the Board could decide. 

However, the scheme of delegation does not set out the role, remit and powers of  

the Board’s committees. Furthermore, I have not been able to locate any other 

documentation that established the terms of reference and/or constitution of the 

Board’s committees. In the absence of such documentation and or Ministerial 

approval, I consider these committees have not been properly or lawfully constituted. 

Moreover, I have been unable to establish whether the committees operated within the 

remit intended by the Board on their establishment. 

33. The Drainage Board is required under legislation to ensure that members appointed to 

the Board by local authorities outnumber elected members by at least one. This is to 

reflect the fact that the local authorities provide the majority of the Drainage Board’s 

financing. Whilst the historic composition of the Board has technically reflected the 

statutory requirements, not all appointed member vacancies on the Board were filled, 

resulting in a majority of elected members on the Board. More significantly, many of 

the appointed members did not attend meetings of the Board or its committees. The 

failure of several appointed members to attend meetings contributed to an impression 

that the Drainage Board was being run by the elected members to the exclusion of 

appointed members.

34. Each of the Board’s committees were constituted to provide for a majority of elected 

members over appointed members. This has led to a perception, by some Board 

members, that the committee structure was engineered to ensure that the elected 

members were able to exercise control of the Board, despite the fact that 72 per cent

of the Board’s financing was provided by local authorities who had appointed members 

to represent the interests of local authority taxpayers. 

35. I consider that the perception that elected members had an undue influence over the 

Board’s proceedings is accurate. However, I acknowledge that this was also due to the 

fact that many appointed members did not attend Board meetings. 

The Drainage Board’s Establishment Committee did not have a clear 

membership and remit, and inadequate records were kept of its 

proceedings prior to 2011 

36. At an unspecified date (during or before 2007), a Board committee was purportedly set 

up which was known as the Establishment Committee. But in the absence of 

ministerial approval, the Establishment Committee had no powers to take decisions or 

make recommendations. The Drainage Board has been unable to produce any 

documentation that sets out the role and remit of the Establishment Committee or the 

scope of its decision-making powers.  

37. The Establishment Committee met irregularly following its creation and until 2010 it 

appears to have been dealing primarily with pay and grading matters. It is not possible  

to conclude on the extent and scope of the committee’s proceedings due to the 

inadequacy of the records maintained as set out in paragraphs 42 to 48.

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 12



Page 13 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

38. In late 2010 and early 2011, the type of issue being dealt with by the Establishment 

Committee changed. The Establishment Committee started to consider a range of 

matters that were of corporate significance eg, redundancy/restructuring proposals, 

grievance and disciplinary matters.  

39. The Establishment Committee met four times between 28 February 2011 and 14 July 

2011. Most of the members of the Establishment Committee were elected Board 

members (as opposed to local authority appointed members). Between March 2009 

and July 2011, the Establishment Committee had 7 to 10 members but, for most of this 

period, only two of the members were local authority appointed members. The balance 

of representation on the Establishment Committee was notably different from that 

required by law for the Board as a whole. In any event, as noted, in the absence of 

ministerial approval, the Establishment Committee has no powers to take decisions or 

make recommendations. 

Appointments to and membership of the Board’s Establishment Committee was unclear 

40. It is unclear how some members of the Establishment Committee were appointed to 

that committee. Whilst Board minutes record that the appointment of some members 

of the Establishment Committee was approved by the Board, I have been unable to 

find a record of the appointment of other members of the Establishment Committee. 

41. The minutes of a meeting of the Board dated 14 February 2011 record that the Board 

resolved that two new members of the Establishment Committee should be appointed. 

However, the two new members approved by the Board had already attended and 

participated in Establishment Committee meetings in November and December 2010. 

The attendance and participation of these individuals in these Establishment 

Committee meetings, without the Board’s approval, was highly irregular and would 

have been sufficient to invalidate the proceedings. The absence of any formal minutes 

of the November and December 2010 meetings means that it is not possible to 

determine what was discussed at these meetings and what decisions were made. 

The records of the proceedings of the Establishment Committee prior to 2011 were 

inadequate

42. No formal minutes were kept of meetings of the Establishment Committee prior to 

2011. Before 2010 the only records retained were short, handwritten notes of the 

meetings. These notes, whilst recording resolutions of the committee, do not provide 

any record of the considerations of the committee or of the rationale for decisions 

reached. During 2010 very short, typed summaries of the meetings were kept. 

However, these records do not include the considerations of the committee nor is it 

clear whether these notes were approved by the members of the committee. I have not 

been able to locate any agendas for Establishment Committee meetings prior to 2011. 

43. In 2011, full minutes of the Establishment Committee were produced which set out in 

more detail the deliberations of the Establishment Committee and the resolutions 

reached by the committee. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 13



Page 14 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

44. The Board minutes record that the Board received reports from the Establishment 

Committee. It is unclear whether these were written or oral reports. The Board has 

been unable to provide me with copies of Establishment Committee reports prior to 

2011 and therefore it is not possible to conclude on their contents. Maintaining an 

effective audit trail within decision making is crucial, both to demonstrate transparency 

and to demonstrate that decisions have been made fairly and lawfully.  

45. It is not possible to conclude whether business conducted in the Establishment 

Committee was fully and accurately reported to the Board and whether the Board 

received the information it required to take an informed decision on the Establishment 

Committee’s recommendations. 

46. I consider that the proceedings of the Establishment Committee prior to 2011 were 

highly irregular for the further reasons set out above.  

47. It is not apparent why the scope of the Establishment Committee changed from  

late 2010 onwards or how the decision to change its responsibilities was reached.  

48. Since the appointment of the current General Manager, no further Establishment or 

other committee meetings have taken place. There is now no committee structure and 

the Board discusses and makes all decisions. 

The formal records of committee and Board proceedings contain 

inaccuracies, anomalies, breaches of information law and, in a number 

of cases, minutes appear to have been drafted to represent the views of 

the former Clerk and Engineer and former Office and Personnel 

Manager rather than those of the Board and its committees 

49. The record of proceedings for meetings of a public body is extremely important in 

demonstrating that that body has operated in a lawful, fair and transparent way and 

made its decisions objectively. The record will usually include minutes of meetings, 

agendas, papers considered and a record of those who attended each meeting.  

The Land Drainage Act 1991 sets out that minutes which have been signed by the 

Chairman of the meeting will be ‘evidence of the proceedings’ of internal drainage 

boards. 

50. As set out in paragraphs 42 to 48, I found that the records maintained for one of the 

Board’s main committees prior to 2011 were particularly poor.  

51. I have reviewed a sample of Board and committee meeting records from 2007 to date 

and this review has identified examples of inaccuracies, anomalies and breaches of 

information law. These include: 

! Board and committee minutes refer to reports received by the Board or committee 

but in some cases officers of the Drainage Board have been unable to locate a 

copy of the reports referred to (see paragraphs 44, 94, 100 and 118).

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 14



Page 15 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

! The Board minutes of 9 February 2009 refer to a governance meeting held on  

26 January 2009. The Drainage Board has been unable to locate any records for 

a meeting held on this date. It is not possible to determine whether the minutes 

of 9 February 2009 are inaccurate or whether a meeting was held on 26 January 

2009 and no records were kept. 

! The Establishment Committee minutes of 18 January 2010 record that the 

former Vice-Chairman of the committee was not in attendance. However, the 

attendance sheet shows a signature against his name as being present at the 

meeting.

! On a number of occasions minutes of the Board made reference to named 

individuals eg, ratepayers in arrears with their rates and comments relating to 

staff performance. These minutes were routinely distributed to staff and made 

publicly available. The disclosure of personal information is potentially a serious 

breach of the Data Protection Act 1998.  

52. On his appointment as Clerk and Engineer to the Board on 1 April 2001, Mr Jackson-

Johns had responsibility for taking the minutes of the Board and its committees.  

He transferred this responsibility to his spouse, the former Office and Personnel 

Manager, in or around 2003.

53. It is evident that some of the minutes of the Board and its committees during 2001  

and 2002 were written not as an historic record of the meeting proceedings but to 

represent the personal opinions and interests of the former Clerk and Engineer. This is 

particularly the case for meetings during which Mr Jackson-Johns’ remuneration was 

discussed. The minutes make use of underlining, capitalisation and adjectives to 

emphasise the opinions and feelings of Mr Jackson-Johns in respect of proposals 

relating to his pay. I am concerned that the Board did not make alternative 

arrangements for taking minutes when the minute-taker had a clear conflict of interest.  

I am also concerned that minutes in this form were accepted by members of the Board 

and signed by the former Chairman. 

54. I have also noted that during 2009, Mrs Jackson-Johns started to refer to her own role 

within the minutes as ‘the Assistant Clerk’. Mrs Jackson-Johns was never appointed 

Assistant Clerk.  

55. Following the departure of Mr Jackson-Johns, the new General Manager has 

acknowledged deficiencies in respect of the record keeping of Board and committee 

meetings. He commissioned consultants to support the Board in this area and a 

number of significant improvements have been implemented. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 15



Page 16 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

The Board’s failure to introduce key governance policies and procedures 

has contributed to major governance failings within the Drainage Board’s 

operations

56. Public bodies should establish robust and effective governance arrangements which 

set out the parameters within which the organisation operates and which help direct 

and guide the conduct and behaviour of members of staff and Board members. 

57. I expect all public bodies to have in place: 

! standing orders which govern the proceedings of the Board at a corporate  

level, including ensuring that the Drainage Board complies with the legislative 

framework governing it (see paragraphs 25 and 59);

! constitutions setting out the roles, remits and delegations of each part of the 

governance structure, including Board committees (see paragraphs 25 and 59);

! financial regulations which detail the financial responsibilities that apply to 

everyone working in the organisation and regulations for financial matters such 

as contract procurement, investment of assets, banking, audit and staff 

remuneration (see paragraph 60);

! codes of conduct for officers and members which set out the values and 

principles of good conduct which public officials are required to adhere to  

(see paragraph 61);

! policies which provide guidance for staff and Board members on dealing  

with personal and/or pecuniary interests which arise in the course of  

their work, including requirements for declaration and recording of interests  

and participation in decision making (see paragraphs 62 to 64); and 

! gifts and hospitality policies which provide guidance for staff and Board members 

on accepting offers of hospitality and procedures for reporting and approving 

such matters (see paragraph 65 and 66).

58. These need not be separate documents, for example a Code of Conduct for Board 

members may include a policy on Board member interests. 

59. I have concluded that the Drainage Board’s governance policies and procedures were 

wholly inadequate and, in many instances, non-existent. Until April 2009 when the 

Board implemented new standing orders, the Drainage Board was operating under 

standing orders titled Statutory Rules and Orders and dated 1942. The Statutory Rules 

and Orders were made under legislation repealed in 1991. The Statutory Rules  

and Orders do not set out the Drainage Board’s rules of procedure or set out a 

constitutional framework for the Drainage Board’s operation. I have not been able to 

identify any documentation that sets out the remits, powers or rules of procedure for 

any of the Board’s committees. As noted above, the Board only adopted a scheme of 

delegation with effect from 1 April 2009. Whilst this document identifies matters that 

are reserved for determination by the Board, it does not identify to which committee or 

officer non-reserved matters could be delegated. But in the absence of ministerial 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 16



Page 17 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

approval, the delegation to committees was ineffective and there was in any event no 

power to delegate to officers. 

60. Until April 2009, the Drainage Board did not have financial regulations in place.  

In the absence of such regulations, the Drainage Board was operating informally in 

accordance with custom and practice. 

61. The Drainage Board did not adopt codes of conduct for either employees or Board 

members until 9 February 2009. Codes of conduct were adopted on 9 February 2009 

and came into force with effect from 1 April 2009. Employees were required to sign 

and date a form acknowledging that they had received the code. A copy of the signed 

form was placed on each employee’s employment file. The Code of Conduct for Board 

members which was adopted on 9 February 2009 is a one-page summary document in 

bullet point form. This document, due to its lack of detail, has very limited value. Board 

members were not required to sign to acknowledge receipt of this document or their 

acceptance of its provisions. 

62. Until April 2009, the Board had not approved any policies relating to employee or 

Board members’ personal or pecuniary interests which might conflict with the Drainage 

Board’s interests. The Code of Conduct for Board members adopted with effect from  

1 April 2009 does identify the need for Board members to declare their interests and,  

in certain circumstances, withdraw from decision making. As set out in paragraph 61,

the code is not comprehensive and Board members were not required to indicate 

acceptance of its provisions. The Drainage Board’s standing orders introduced from  

1 April 2009 include several provisions in respect of Board member interests. The 

standing orders emphasise the requirement for Board members to declare their 

interests and, where there is a conflict of interest, to withdraw from participation in the 

decision-making process. I have found, during the course of my audit, that some Board 

members did not comply with this requirement (as set out in paragraphs 151 and 152).

63. Board members were expected to complete on election or appointment a form – 

Register of Members’ Interests – which recorded their interests, including interests in 

property, contract and any financial and/or business interests and memberships of 

other organisations. Members were also expected to complete updated forms if their 

interests changed. The requirement to disclose this information appears to have been 

introduced in 2008. However, a review of the file held by the Drainage Board indicates 

that not all members completed these forms and I have found no evidence that officers 

undertook any follow-up to ensure that the forms were submitted.  

64. The Employee Code of Conduct adopted from April 2009 makes no explicit reference 

to employee interests and the Drainage Board did not have any policies or guidance 

for staff in respect of personal or pecuniary interests. The financial regulations adopted 

from April 2009 do make a brief reference to staff interests and states: ‘employees 

must declare to an appropriate responsible officer any financial or other interest,  

which could conflict with the Board’s interests’.

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 17



Page 18 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

65. On occasions, public officials may be offered gifts or hospitality by suppliers, service 

users and members of the public. It is essential that public sector organisations have 

policies and guidance in place to guide staff and Board members on whether offers 

may be accepted and on the procedures for recording offers and authorising their 

acceptance. This is necessary to protect the organisation (and individuals) from 

allegations that decisions have been influenced by inappropriate considerations.  

The Drainage Board did not have adequate policies and procedures in place in respect 

of gifts and hospitality. There was no policy or procedures in place in respect of offers 

of gifts and hospitality to Board members.  

66. The Employee Code of Conduct does not refer to gifts and hospitality. The financial 

regulations which came into force on 1 April 2009 state that for employees ‘in terms of 

hospitality and gifts, only usable gifts of a small value may be accepted by individual 

staff or a section as a whole. Under no circumstances may cash be accepted as a gift.’ 

There were no guidelines or procedures implemented which set out the procedure  

for recording offers of gifts and hospitality or for authorising the acceptance of offers. 

The Drainage Board does not have any record of offers received and accepted.  

My audit found that hospitality was accepted from an equipment supplier in Italy as  

set out in paragraphs 207 to 222. I have also been told in an interview by an officer of 

the Drainage Board that, on more than one other occasion, members of staff accepted 

hospitality at Chepstow Races from suppliers. In the absence of any record of the 

acceptance of hospitality, it is not possible to confirm the dates or the circumstances 

surrounding the acceptance of this hospitality. 

67. Since September 2012, the current General Manager has reviewed the Drainage 

Board’s governance arrangements and associated documentation and revised 

arrangements are being introduced. 

Some members and officers acted in a way which is 
likely to undermine public confidence in the way in which 
the Drainage Board operated 

68. The standards expected of those holding public office are high. It is essential that such 

individuals conduct themselves in accordance with the seven principles of public life – 

the so-called ‘Nolan principles’ (see Appendix 1). Not only must public officials conduct 

themselves in accordance with these principles, they must also be seen to do so if 

public confidence is to be maintained. 

69. In the course of my audit I came across specific examples where I consider officers 

and members acted in a way which is likely to undermine public confidence in the 

operation of the Drainage Board. These matters relate to: 

! proposals for the severance of the former Clerk and Engineer’s contract of 

employment; 

! proposals relating to the former Clerk and Engineer’s pay; and 

! the role and conduct of some Board members and the former Clerk and 

Engineer in relation to a legal case brought against the Drainage Board. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 18



Page 19 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

The former Clerk and Engineer had a conflict of interest when he drew 

up proposals for his own redundancy and presented those proposals to 

the Board’s Establishment Committee 

70. At a meeting of the Board on 20 September 2010, the minutes record that the ‘CEO 

[Mr Jackson-Johns] reported that as a Statutory Body and as a responsible employer, 

the Board is required to have a formal Redundancy Policy in place’. A draft policy was 

circulated for Members’ information, which was approved by Members. The document 

sets out, albeit briefly, the process to be followed when considering potential 

redundancies and the selection criteria to be applied. This document was, in my view, 

a precursor to putting forward restructuring/redundancy proposals. 

71. The minutes of the Establishment Committee meeting dated 28 February 2011 record 

that the committee agreed unanimously to ‘recommend to the full Board that they 

contemplate redundancies and commence the process of fair consultation with 

employees, in consultation with the Union’. The minutes do not record any reasons 

why this recommendation was made or what considerations the Establishment 

Committee had taken into account in making this recommendation. The former 

Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Board have stated that the Establishment 

Committee did consider and discuss reasons why the Drainage Board might need to 

make redundancies. They are unclear why these discussions were not recorded in the 

minutes. They also told me that the former Clerk and Engineer was asked to consider 

a range of different scenarios and to propose plans for each of these scenarios. In the 

event the former Clerk and Engineer only produced one proposal, that related to his 

own redundancy.

72. The minutes of a Board meeting dated 21 March 2011 record that ‘the Members 

agreed that consultation would be commenced with its employees and the GMB Union 

in order to contemplate redundancies in due course’. The minutes do not record any 

reasons why this recommendation was made or what considerations the Board took 

into account in making this decision. 

73. The Establishment Committee reconvened on 20 April 2011. The minutes state that 

‘The Board must now progress with the process of redundancies as recommended  

by the Establishment Committee and resolved by the full Board previously. The CEO 

[Mr Jackson-Johns] confirmed that he would shortly be in a position in early May to 

outline a series of proposals for the Board's consideration which would demonstrate 

cost savings for the Board going forward. It was stated that any redundancies/  

re-evaluation of positions would be open, fair and reasonable and undertaken with due 

consultation with all employees and the Union, and in accordance with the Board's 

Redundancy Policy.The minutes do not set out any of the considerations taken into 

account which underpinned the decision to progress a restructuring of the Drainage 

Board leading to staff redundancies. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 19



Page 20 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

74. The former Clerk and Engineer, Mr Jackson-Johns, had in fact already prepared a 

paper entitled Work Proposal & Board Restructuring, dated 20 April 2011. This paper 

was directed to the former Chairman and former Vice-Chairman of the Board, 

Mr Waters and Mr Attewell. The paper states ‘I would like to speak to you both in 

confidence on a very important matter’. 

75. The main thrust of the paper is a proposal that Mr Jackson-Johns be granted 

‘enhanced voluntary redundancy from the Board with the signing of the relevant 

compromise agreement with effect from the 30th June 2011’. The paper also suggests 

that Mr Jackson-Johns would be willing to be re-engaged as a consultant to the 

Drainage Board. Whilst the paper is primarily related to Mr Jackson-Johns’ post, it also 

briefly sets out wider Board restructuring proposals, identifying posts which were  

‘safe’ and others which were ‘unsafe’. The paper provides no rationale to support the 

need for restructuring. Furthermore, it gives no basis for determining which posts were  

‘safe’ and which posts ‘unsafe’. I have also noted that whilst the paper designated  

Mr Jackson-Johns’ wife’s post as ‘safe’, Mr Jackson-Johns designated the posts of  

two other members of staff with whom he and his wife had an ongoing employment 

dispute as ‘unsafe’. 

76. The paper prepared by Mr Jackson-Johns makes no reference to the Drainage 

Board’s Redundancy Policy which had been approved by the Board on 20 September 

2010 and the proposals put forward by Mr Jackson-Johns are inconsistent with the 

policy itself.

77. The paper in support of his restructuring proposals is wholly inadequate and 

inappropriate for the reasons set out in paragraph 75. I consider that Mr Jackson-

Johns’ primary objective was to end his employment by the Drainage Board having 

secured a significant financial payment. 

78. On 9 May 2011, Mr Jackson-Johns wrote to the Drainage Board’s solicitors to update 

them on progress on the restructuring proposals. In this correspondence, he referred  

to a meeting he had held with Mr Waters and Mr Attewell (the former Chairman  

and former Vice-Chairman of the Board respectively) regarding his proposals for 

restructuring the Drainage Board. In this correspondence, Mr Jackson-Johns records 

his account of the meeting which includes: 

! ‘These [Mr Jackson-Johns’ proposals] have been accepted with respect to my 

position and the other Proposals will be actioned accordingly (may be modified 

as needed as these are an initial base to work from).’ 

! ‘They have also requested I provide some limited Consultancy Work (as detailed 

in my Proposals).’ 

! ‘This will now start the redundancy process and the restructuring taken forward 

accordingly.’

! ‘The Establishment Committee will therefore now be meeting on Tuesday 31 May 

at 7.00pm where the Chairman will be recommending I have Voluntary 

Redundancy (Enhanced/Compromise Agreement etc.) with effect from 30th June 

2011.....’

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 20



Page 21 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

79. The former Chairman and former Vice-Chairman have both stated in interview that  

Mr Jackson-Johns’ account of this meeting is inaccurate. They maintain that they  

did not agree to Mr Jackson-Johns’ proposals or that any payment should be paid  

to him should he leave the employment of the Board. The former Chairman and

former Vice-Chairman maintain that they urged Mr Jackson-Johns to remain in the 

employment of the Drainage Board. However, Mr Jackson-Johns was adamant  

he would be leaving his employment with the Drainage Board on 30 June 2011.  

The former Chairman and former Vice-Chairman have told me that they reluctantly 

agreed that the Establishment Committee would consider Mr Jackson-Johns’ 

proposals. Mr Jackson-Johns has stated in interview that whilst the former Chairman 

and former Vice-Chairman had reluctantly agreed to his proposals, he understood that 

this agreement was subject to Board approval. 

80. On 20 May 2011, Mr Jackson-Johns sent an e-mail to an external consultant. He 

wrote: ‘As advised – I am taking Voluntary Redundancy from the Board with effect 

from the 30th June 2011. The Chairman and Vice-Chairman have requested on behalf 

of the Board that they would like to use my services as a Consultant to the Board  

until a suitable replacement is recruited and the current ‘difficulties/investigations etc. 

are resolved for the Board.’ 

81. At the point of Mr Jackson-Johns sending this e-mail, neither the Establishment 

Committee nor the Board had met to consider Mr Jackson-Johns’ proposals. 

82. On 31 May 2011, the Establishment Committee met. Mr Waters and Mr Attewell were 

present at the meeting as Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the committee respectively. 

Members were only provided with a copy of Mr Jackson-Johns’ proposals and a letter 

from Mr Jackson-Johns commending his proposals to the Committee at the meeting 

itself. The report was a slightly updated version of the report referred to in paragraphs

74 to 76. The revised draft was dated 1 May 2011. It is not clear why the paper was 

not provided to members in advance of the meeting. This was a breach of the 

Drainage Board’s standing orders which require papers for meetings to be provided to 

members at least seven days in advance of the meeting. 

83. The minutes record that Mr and Mrs Jackson-Johns left the room whilst the proposals 

were considered. The minutes record that the Establishment Committee resolved  

‘to recommend to the full Board to accept the restructuring proposals of the CEO’s 

report and to pursue a course of restructuring for the Board’. 

84. There was no business case to support the redundancy proposals or to justify the 

decision of the Establishment Committee to recommend the proposals to the Board. 

As a public body, the Drainage Board must act reasonably and failure to do so may 

render decisions contrary to law. In the absence of a proper business case, I consider 

the decision made by the Establishment Committee to be unreasonable and unlawful. 

85. I consider that Mr Jackson-Johns had a conflict of interest in respect of the proposals 

presented to the Establishment Committee. He should not have been involved in 

drawing up proposals relating to himself and his spouse when he had a disqualifying 

personal financial interest in the matter. As such, he could not lawfully participate in 

the process in any way. His involvement amounts to bias and would have been 

sufficient to invalidate any decision taken to approve his proposals.  

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 21



Page 22 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

86. I am concerned that when members of the Establishment Committee received the 

proposals put forward by Mr Jackson-Johns, they appear not to have recognised that Mr 

Jackson-Johns had a personal and pecuniary interest in the matter. The Establishment 

Committee should not have considered these proposals. In order to ensure that any 

restructuring proposals were in the interests of the Drainage Board, I would have 

expected members of the Committee to have sought impartial, external support and 

advice.

87. The Board met on 13 June 2011. The restructuring proposals were included on the 

agenda but Mr Jackson-Johns’ paper was only provided to members at the meeting. 

This was a breach of the Drainage Board’s standing orders which required papers for 

meetings to be provided to members at least seven days in advance of the meeting. 

88. Mrs Jackson-Johns was responsible for taking the minutes of the meeting. Unfortunately, 

there is no minute of the discussion which ensued regarding Mr Jackson-Johns’ 

restructuring proposals. I understand that the Board rejected Mr Jackson-Johns’ 

proposals despite the Establishment Committee’s recommendation that they should be 

accepted. Mr Jackson-Johns orally tendered his resignation and left the meeting 

accompanied by Mrs Jackson-Johns. It is for this reason that no minutes are available. 

Mr Jackson-Johns subsequently sought to rescind his resignation and requested that  

the Board grant him a severance package. The Board refused this request and Mr 

Jackson-Johns’ contract of employment terminated at the end of June 2011. 

89. The Board subsequently took legal advice on its obligations in respect of Mr Jackson-

Johns’ employment and determined not to rescind the resignation and not to make any 

severance payment to Mr Jackson-Johns. 

The Board failed to put in place arrangements to ensure the independent 

review of the pay of the former Clerk and Engineer. The Clerk and 

Engineer was involved in submitting proposals relating to his pay to 

committees of the Board. 

Between late 2001 and early 2002, the former Clerk and Engineer was involved in submitting 

proposals relating to his own pay to committees of the Board which, if accepted, would have 

resulted in a variation to his contract of employment. Board members failed to recognise that 

a conflict of interest existed and allowed the former Clerk and Engineer to participate in the 

decision-making process when disqualified from doing so. 

90. The former Clerk and Engineer of the Drainage Board, Mr Jackson-Johns, was appointed 

as Clerk and Engineer of the Drainage Board on 23 March 2001. He subsequently 

adopted the designation of ‘Chief Executive’. I have not seen any resolution of the Board 

or other documentation appointing Mr Jackson-Johns as Chief Executive. The former 

Chairman of the Board, Mr Waters, stated in interview that Mr Jackson-Johns had orally 

requested the designation of Chief Executive. The former Chairman stated that he did  

not agree to this request but Mr Jackson-Johns nevertheless started to use the title on  

Board documentation. The former Chairman stated in interview that this was done 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 22



Page 23 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

‘surreptitiously’. Mr Jackson-Johns told us that he found the title ‘ridiculous’. Mr Jackson-

Johns acknowledged that the Board had not resolved that he should have the title Chief 

Executive. He stated that he had adopted the title due to pressure from his senior officers 

to do so. I do not accept this explanation.  

91. Mr Jackson-Johns’ contract of employment states that his post would be subject to  

the Association of Drainage Authorities (ADA) Lincolnshire Branch Scheme of 

Conditions of Service (the so-called ‘Lincolnshire terms’). Whilst the Lincolnshire terms 

are nationally recognised terms and conditions of service for employees of internal 

drainage boards, no drainage board is obliged to adopt them. The Lincolnshire terms 

include national pay-scales and terms for overtime, expenses etc. The Lincolnshire 

terms were adopted by the Board of the Drainage Board (sometime prior to 1996) and 

all employees were subject to these terms.  

92. On appointment as Clerk and Engineer of the Drainage Board in March 2001,  

Mr Jackson-Johns was graded at Grade 12 of the Lincolnshire terms and placed on 

Spinal Point 41. Grade 12 incorporates pay points 41 to 44. The highest-published 

grade within the Lincolnshire terms is Grade 13 (incorporating pay points 44 to 47). 

The Lincolnshire terms allow for employers to introduce, if required, further grades 

above Grade 13 by extending the salary spine. For example, a drainage board could 

resolve to introduce a Grade 14 which would incorporate pay points 47 to 50. 

93. I do not consider that the Board put in place proper arrangements to review the 

remuneration of the Clerk and Engineer, during Mr Jackson-Johns’ period of 

employment as Clerk and Engineer. It was left to Mr Jackson-Johns to draw up 

proposals for his own pay and to present them to the Board. Mr Jackson-Johns  

was not impartial in matters relating to his own pay but the Board did not make any 

arrangements to obtain impartial, independent external advice on Mr Jackson-Johns’ 

pay proposals.  

94. On 26 November 2001, only eight months after his appointment as Clerk and 

Engineer, Mr Jackson-Johns submitted a request to the Board’s Works and General 

Purposes Committee for his post to be re-graded. The minutes refer to a ‘very detailed 

report that [Mr Jackson-Johns] had prepared regarding proposals to review his grading 

to fairly reflect his position as Clerk and Engineer to the Board from 1st April 2001’.

Whilst the minutes refer to the report as ‘Appendix VI on the yellow sheets’, the Board 

has been unable to locate a copy of this report. 

95. The minutes of the Works and General Purposes Committee record that Mr Jackson-

Johns, in presenting his own proposals for re-grading, made reference to pay grades 

EM1 and EM2 and the Hays Points system as used by the Environment Agency ie, a 

different pay and grading system than that adopted by the Drainage Board. It does not 

appear that the committee was informed that had they accepted Mr Jackson-Johns’ 

proposals it would have resulted in a fundamental contractual change; effectively 

taking Mr Jackson-Johns’ pay outside the Lincolnshire terms.  

96. In the event, the committee rejected Mr Jackson-Johns’ proposals and instead 

proposed to re-grade the job to Lincolnshire terms Grade 13 on Spinal Point 45. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 23



Page 24 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

97. Mr Jackson-Johns made a counterproposal that he be re-graded to Lincolnshire terms 

Band 13 on Spinal Point 47 (the highest spinal point within the Lincolnshire terms) and 

that he receive incremental increases payable in four steps of 2.5 per cent per annum 

applicable from 1 April 2002 until 1 April 2005. Mr Jackson-Johns’ proposal would 

have resulted in him being paid in excess of the highest-published spinal point under 

the Lincolnshire terms, in effect creating a new grade. The minutes do not show that 

the committee was informed of this. 

98. Mr Jackson-Johns’ counterproposal was rejected by the committee. The minutes 

record that Mr Jackson-Johns reluctantly accepted the recommendation of the 

committee. I am concerned regarding these events for the following reasons: 

! Mr Jackson-Johns was engaged in making proposals relating to his own pay and 

participated in the committee’s deliberations, despite having a pecuniary interest 

in the matter; 

! Mr Jackson-Johns does not appear to have informed the committee of the 

implications of accepting his proposals ie, that it would result in a fundamental 

variation in his contract of employment; and 

! the report referred to in the minutes, which set out Mr Jackson-Johns’ pay and 

grading proposals cannot be found by the Drainage Board. 

99. I am also concerned that the minutes of the Works and General Purposes Committee, 

which record these events, appear to have been drafted to represent the personal 

views and opinions of Mr Jackson-Johns rather than as a factual, historic account  

of the meeting. Mr Jackson-Johns was the minute-taker for the Board and its 

committees during this period as set out in paragraph 52. The minutes of the Works 

and General Purposes Committee meeting of 26 November 2001 use underlining, 

punctuation and capitalisation to emphasise Mr Jackson-Johns’ opinions and feelings. 

Minute-takers are required to maintain objectivity when taking minutes. This was not 

the case on this occasion. 

100. Mr Jackson-Johns’ pay and grading was discussed further at meetings of the Board  

on 10 December 2001, 14 January 2002 and 28 January 2002. The minutes refer to 

Mr Jackson-Johns’ report on his pay and grading. The report as described is not filed 

with the minutes. However, on the Board’s minutes file, I found a paper prepared by Mr 

Jackson-Johns which compared the operations of the Drainage Board with another 

internal drainage board. The purpose of this paper appears to be to justify an increase 

in Mr Jackson-Johns’ pay. I am not clear whether this paper was provided to, or 

considered by, Board members.  

101. On 28 January 2002, the Board resolved to increase Mr Jackson-Johns’ salary to 

Spinal Point 45 of the Lincolnshire terms, effective from 1 January 2002. In addition, 

the Board resolved to provide Mr Jackson-Johns with a ‘suitable 4x4 vehicle, thereby 

ending the payment of monthly travelling expenses’. Whilst the Lincolnshire terms do 

not refer to the provision of cars for employees, the agreement to provide the car was 

in lieu of Mr Jackson-Johns’ entitlement to a car allowance and mileage expenses.  

The Board granted this change after Mr Jackson-Johns submitted a business case to 

the Board showing that the provision of a car was a more cost-effective option for the 

Board than paying a car allowance and mileage expenses. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 24



Page 25 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

102. I am concerned that the minutes of the Board dated 28 January 2002 record that at 

that meeting the then Chairman of the Board (prior to Mr Waters’ appointment as 

Chairman) acted as Mr Jackson-Johns’ ‘advocate’ in respect of Mr Jackson-Johns’ 

pay. I consider this wholly inappropriate. The Chairman should not have sought to 

represent Mr Jackson-Johns’ interests. He had a duty to represent the Drainage 

Board’s interests. The Chairman of the Board remained as Chairman of the meeting 

despite having taken on the role of Mr Jackson-Johns’ advocate. 

103. I have further concerns that the minutes of the meeting of the Board on 10 December 

2001 appear to have been drafted based upon the views and opinions of Mr Jackson-

Johns, and not to be a factual and historic record of these meetings. For example,  

the minutes include a statement that ‘this confidential matter [Mr Jackson-Johns’ pay] 

.... had not really been satisfactorily resolved in respect of either party’. In fact, the 

Board’s Works and General Purposes Committee had resolved on 26 November 2001 

to reject Mr Jackson-Johns’ pay proposals. It was therefore Mr Jackson-Johns himself 

who did not consider this matter to have been resolved satisfactorily. Furthermore, Mr 

Jackson-Johns has chosen to underline elements of the text within the minutes of 

some meetings to place his own emphasis on the proceedings. 

104. At a meeting of the Board on 11 February 2002, the then Chairman of the Board raised 

concerns that matters related to Mr Jackson-Johns’ pay and remuneration which had 

been discussed by the Board had become ‘widescale public knowledge’. The minutes 

record that ‘It was now apparent that a review of the Board’s procedures dealing  

with regradings/reviews of its employees was necessary, and in future these be dealt 

with by a small sub-committee (in private and confidence) who would make their 

recommendations to the appropriate full Meeting of the Board’. From this time on,  

the full Board did not consider and scrutinise proposals relating to the former Clerk  

and Engineer’s pay. Responsibility for this was delegated to a committee of the Board 

and the Board was only requested to accept any committee recommendation. But in 

the absence of ministerial approval, the Committee had no delegated authority to 

make recommendations. 

In 2006, the former Clerk and Engineer was involved in submitting proposals relating to  

his own pay to the Board’s Remuneration and Expenses Subcommittee. This resulted in Mr 

Jackson-Johns being paid significantly in excess of the highest published Lincolnshire terms 

salary scales. Mr Jackson-Johns had a personal and pecuniary interest in the matter and 

should not have been allowed to participate in the decision-making process in any capacity. 

105. The minutes of a meeting of the Board’s Remuneration and Expenses Subcommittee 

held on 22 May 2006, record that Mr Jackson-Johns advised the subcommittee that it 

‘was necessary for the Sub-Committee to confidentially review the Clerk and Engineer’s 

remuneration (equipped with the necessary plenary power to implement the said 

review)’. The minutes record that Mr Jackson-Johns set out the responsibilities of his 

role and provided ‘detailed examples of comparative salaries throughout the Land 

Drainage Industry’. The Drainage Board has not been able to produce a copy of the 

information provided to the subcommittee by Mr Jackson-Johns. The minutes also 

record that Mr Jackson-Johns ‘also detailed ........... what he believed was a fair and 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 25



Page 26 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

reasonable ‘remuneration package’ for his senior post’. The Drainage Board has been 

unable to produce a copy of Mr Jackson-Johns’ proposals and there are no details of the 

proposals recorded in the minutes. 

106. The minutes of the meeting of the Remuneration and Expenses Subcommittee on

22 May 2006 record that the committee asked Mr Jackson-Johns to leave the meeting 

whilst discussions on his pay took place. The minutes record that Mr Jackson-Johns 

was recalled to the meeting and ‘the Chairman [Mr Waters] advised him of the  

Sub-Committee ‘offer’ with a further review in 3 years’ time (May 2009)’.

107. The minutes of the Remuneration and Expenses Subcommittee meeting of 22 May 2006 

do not record the offer that was made to Mr Jackson-Johns. A meeting of the Board on 

12 June 2006 records that ‘it was resolved to accept and endorse the recommendations 

of the Remuneration & Expenses Sub-Committee’. The minutes of the Board do not 

record what the recommendation of the Remuneration and Expenses Subcommittee  

was in respect of Mr Jackson-Johns’ pay. 

108. Mr Jackson-Johns’ personnel file shows that Mr Jackson-Johns’ pay was increased 

from £55,228 to £65,553 on 22 May 2006 (backdated to 1 April 2006). In the absence 

of an authorising minute, it is not clear whether this increase was agreed by the Board. 

However, this increase led to Mr Jackson-Johns being paid £8,268 per annum more 

than the highest published salary spinal point under the Lincolnshire terms. 

109. I consider that it was unacceptable for Mr Jackson-Johns to be involved in advising the 

Remuneration and Expenses Subcommittee in respect of his own pay. Mr Jackson-

Johns had a personal and pecuniary interest in the matter and he should not have 

been involved in the decision-making process in any way.

110. I am also concerned that members of the Board allowed this to happen. Members of 

the Board were aware that Mr Jackson-Johns was not impartial in respect of his own 

pay. The Board did not establish arrangements to review on a regular basis the 

remuneration of the former Clerk and Engineer. The Board allowed Mr Jackson-Johns 

to determine the timing of his own pay reviews and relied on the evidence that Mr 

Jackson-Johns provided to them in reaching their decisions. The Board did not take 

any external or independent advice on these matters; nor did it seek to obtain 

comparative information on how individuals doing similar jobs in other organisations 

were remunerated. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 26



Page 27 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

In late 2007, the former Clerk and Engineer was allowed to be involved in submitting 

proposals relating to his own pay to the Board’s Establishment Committee. This resulted in 

Mr Jackson-Johns receiving large pay increases over three years. Before these increases, 

Mr Jackson-Johns was already being paid significantly in excess of the maximum payable 

under the highest published Lincolnshire terms. Mr Jackson-Johns had a personal and 

pecuniary interest in the matter and should not have participated in the decision-making 

process in any capacity. 

111. On 26 November 2007, Mr Jackson-Johns made a presentation to the Board’s 

Establishment Committee. He proposed that he should receive an annual pay award  

of five per cent per annum each year for five years commencing 1 April 2008.  

These increases were to be in addition to the annual percentage increase payable to 

all Board employees under the Lincolnshire terms. 

112. At the time of making this proposal, Mr Jackson-Johns was already being paid £67,684 

per annum. This was £8,536 more than the highest-published salary spinal point under 

the Lincolnshire terms. Furthermore, the Remuneration and Expenses Subcommittee 

meeting of 22 May 2006 had resolved that Mr Jackson-Johns’ pay would be reviewed 

in May 2009. 

113. There are no formal minutes of the Establishment Committee of 26 November 2007.  

A handwritten note of the meeting has been retained which was signed by the former 

Chairman of the Board, Mr Waters, and the former Office and Personnel Manager,  

Mrs Jackson-Johns. The record of the meetings consists of the following text:  

‘April 2008, 5% increase p.a. from 1 April 2008 to be reviewed in three years’.

The attendance sheet for this meeting indicates that both Mr and Mrs Jackson-Johns 

were present for the ‘first part only’. However, in the absence of an agenda for the 

meeting or formal minutes, it is not clear to what extent Mr and Mrs Jackson-Johns 

participated in the deliberations over Mr Jackson-Johns’ pay. 

114. The resolution of the Establishment Committee to approve the increase of Mr Jackson-

Johns’ pay by five per cent per annum for three years resulted in Mr Jackson-Johns 

being paid significantly in excess of the maximum payable to him under the 

Lincolnshire terms. By 1 April 2010, Mr Jackson-Johns’ salary had risen to £83,122.28 

per annum, whereas the maximum remuneration payable under the Lincolnshire terms 

was £63,660 per annum.  

115. The former Chairman of the Board has told us that he has a different recollection of 

what was agreed at the Establishment Committee meeting of 26 November 2007.  

He has stated that he recalls that Mr Jackson-Johns ‘was to be offered a pay increase 

of 5% spread over the next three years, not that he would receive a 5% increase for a 

period of three years [per annum].’ He has told us that he has no recollection of seeing 

or signing the handwritten note referred to in paragraph 113.

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 27



Page 28 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

116. It does not appear that members of the Establishment Committee were informed that 

Mr Jackson-Johns was already being paid significantly more than the highest-

published salary point under the Lincolnshire terms. The former Chairman and former 

Vice-Chairman of the Board have both stated in interview that they were unaware of 

this. I do not consider that the Establishment Committee had the authority to take such 

a decision without approval by the Board. 

117. Mr Jackson-Johns stated in interview that his pay proposals had been made on the 

basis that the Land Drainage Act 1991 states that ‘An internal drainage board may  

pay to persons employed by them such reasonable remuneration as they think fit’.

However, I consider that the Board, in adopting the Lincolnshire terms, had determined 

‘such reasonable remuneration’ as they deemed fit. It does not appear that the Board 

resolved to dispense with the Lincolnshire terms, nor does it appear that Mr Jackson-

Johns informed the Board or the Establishment Committee that his proposals were not 

within the Lincolnshire terms.  

118. The minutes of the following Board meeting on 10 December 2007 record that the 

report of the Establishment Committee ‘was received by the Board, the contents of 

which were noted by the Members and which was also detailed under the Works and 

General Purposes Committee as appropriate’. The Establishment Committee report  

is not filed with the Board minutes. I have not been able to ascertain whether this 

report made reference to Mr Jackson-Johns’ pay. Mr Jackson-Johns was present at 

the meeting and did not declare an interest. If the Board had considered Mr Jackson-

Johns’ pay, Mr Jackson-Johns would have had to declare his interest and withdraw 

from the meeting whilst that item was considered. 

119. On 11 December 2007, a letter was sent to Mr Jackson-Johns from the former 

Chairman of the Board, Mr Waters, advising him that ‘the members [of the Board] had 

accepted with approval the recommendations of the Establishment committee relating 

to the re-grading of your position’. The letter confirmed a five per cent salary increase 

each year for the next three years (ie 2008, 2009 and 2010) ‘with the usual annual 

increments’. I understand this letter to mean that Mr Jackson-Johns would receive  

five per cent increases each year for three years over and above any ‘cost of living’ 

increases awarded under the Lincolnshire terms. This letter is inconsistent with the 

minutes of the Board which do not record any such approval. Mr Waters told me that 

he has no recollection of signing this letter or sending it to Mr Jackson-Johns. 

In 2010, the former Clerk and Engineer wrote to the former Chairman of the Board offering  

to accept temporary pay-cuts. The letter, which was considered by the Board, contained 

misleading content. 

120. On 4 August 2010, Mr Jackson-Johns wrote to Mr Waters in which he referred to 

concerns relating to the financial situation of the Drainage Board. Mr Jackson-Johns 

volunteered to take a temporary ‘5% reduction in my salary with effect from 1st 

September 2010 and a further 5% reduction (totalling 10% from the 1st March 2011 – 

if the Board’s current financial difficulties have not improved by then’. Mr Jackson-

Johns further wrote: ‘The above coupled with no annual pay award this year, no 

annual bonus and taking into account inflation being +2%, essentially means in real 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 28



Page 29 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

terms I will facing a 15% reduction (1/6th) in my salary’. This letter was at best 

misleading because as set out above, on 1 April 2008, 1 April 2009 and 1 April 2010, 

Mr Jackson-Johns had received five per cent increases in his salary over and above 

the annual pay awards received by other staff within the Drainage Board. Mr Jackson-

Johns was in fact the only member of staff who had, as at 4 August 2010, received a 

pay award for the 2010-11 financial year. 

121. At a meeting of the Board on 20 September 2010, the Chairman of the meeting,

Mr Attewell, read out Mr Jackson-Johns’ letter offering to take temporary pay 

reductions. Mr Jackson-Johns was present at this meeting but it is not apparent from 

the minutes that the Board was informed that whilst the letter stated that he had not 

received a pay increase for 2010-11, he had in fact had a pay increase of five per cent 

with effect from 1 April 2010 and further increases of five per cent in each of the two 

previous financial years. This was over and above the annual pay award applicable to 

all Board staff. The Board accepted Mr Jackson-Johns’ proposal and thanked him ‘for 

his gesture’. 

122. In the course of my audit, I have found no evidence that the financial position of the 

Drainage Board was as precarious as was suggested by Mr Jackson-Johns. The 

Drainage Board’s Finance Manager has told me that she did not accept Mr Jackson-

Johns’ analysis of the finances of the organisation. It is not apparent why Mr Jackson-

Johns sought to persuade the Board that it faced serious financial difficulties and to 

emphasise this by volunteering for temporary pay-cuts.  

123. However, in view of subsequent events in which Mr Jackson-Johns sought to arrange 

his own voluntary severance from the Drainage Board based on the need to make 

financial savings, I consider that it is probable that Mr Jackson-Johns, in making his 

offer to take voluntary and temporary pay-cuts, was already attempting to engineer his 

exit from the Drainage Board.  

Three members of the Board and the former Clerk and Engineer 

participated in proceedings of the Board relating to an ongoing court 

case when they had a conflict of interest in the matter 

124. The Gwent Levels is an area which is at risk from flooding. The sea wall was built  

to protect the area. It is entirely understandable that residents and workers in the 

Gwent Levels wish to ensure that the sea wall is maintained, strengthened and 

enhanced. Many members of the Board live and work in the area and desire to protect 

both their interests and those of the local area from flood risk. However, it is important 

that members of the Board understand that their interests as private individuals and 

the interests of the Drainage Board are not necessarily the same. Board members who 

have personal or pecuniary interests which conflict with the interests of the Drainage 

Board must declare these interests. Board members are disqualified from taking any 

part in any decision-making process relating to that matter unless such interest is too 

remote or insignificant to matter. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 29



Page 30 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

125. On 6 April 2010, Mr Leonard Attewell, an elected member and then Vice-Chairman  

of the Board and a landowner on the Gwent Levels, acting in a personal capacity, 

brought a High Court claim against the Environment Agency seeking a declaration 

from the high court that the Environment Agency had a statutory responsibility for 

repairing and maintaining the sea wall protecting the Gwent Levels from flooding.  

He further argued that the duty of maintenance included enhancing the flood defences 

by extending the height of the sea wall along the Caldicot stretch of the Gwent Levels. 

The court case is referred to in this report as ‘the sea defences case’. 

126. Two other elected members of the Board of the Drainage Board and landowners on 

the Gwent Levels contributed to the costs of bringing this legal action. These were  

the former Chairman of the Board, Mr Neville Waters, and a further member, Mr David 

James. A number of other local landowners and farmers also contributed to the cost  

of the legal action. The Environment Agency disputed the claim on the basis that it 

considered it had no statutory responsibility for the maintenance and repair of the  

sea wall. The Environment Agency argued that the Drainage Board had statutory 

responsibility for the sea wall under the Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Act 1884.  

127. In response, Mr Attewell extended his claim to name the Drainage Board as a  

co-defendant, ie he decided to take legal action against the Drainage Board. This 

meant that if Mr Attewell was successful in his claim, the Drainage Board could be 

found liable for maintaining and extending the height of the sea wall along the Caldicot 

stretch of the Gwent Levels. The application to add the Drainage Board to the claim 

was granted by the court and the Drainage Board became a co-defendant in the sea 

defences case. Mr Attewell was therefore in the position of bringing a legal claim in a 

personal capacity against his own Board, supported by two other members of the 

Board.

128. Mr Attewell has told me that he recognised the difficulty of pursuing legal action 

against the Board whilst being Vice-Chairman of the Board. He has told me that he 

wrote a letter of resignation to the former Chairman of the Board and this letter was 

discussed at a meeting of the Board. Mr Attewell has told me that his resignation was 

not accepted and he therefore stayed on the Board. Whilst Board minutes do not 

record these events and the Board has not retained a copy of Mr Attewell’s resignation 

letter, Mr Attewell’s account is consistent with evidence provided by other Board 

members.  

129. Cardiff Council, Monmouthshire County Council and Newport City Council were 

subsequently joined to the claim due to their financial interest in the matter. The main 

funding for the Drainage Board was provided by the local authorities through annual 

levies and therefore if the Drainage Board was found to be liable for extending the 

height of the sea wall, it would have a significant financial impact on the local 

authorities which financed the Board. 

130. If the claim had been successful and the Drainage Board had been deemed liable for 

increasing the height of the sea wall, it has been estimated by the former Clerk and 

Engineer, Mr Jackson-Johns, in a statement to the high court, that the potential liability 

on the Drainage Board would have been in the region of £35 million to £40 million.  

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 30



Page 31 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

131. I consider that Mr Attewell, Mr Waters and Mr James each had a personal and 

pecuniary interest in the sea defences case. This interest was due to their interest as 

owners of land located in an area which would gain increased protection from flooding 

should the claim be successful and due to their funding of the case.  

132. Members of the Drainage Board were required to comply with the Drainage Board’s 

Summary Code of Conduct which came into force on 1 April 2009. The code of 

conduct states that the onus is on each member to make a judgment and declare an 

interest in a matter affecting the individual, their family or friends more than other 

people in the area.  

133. The code of conduct also states that where an interest is so significant that a 

reasonable person would regard it as likely to prejudice Board members’ judgment of 

the public interest: 

! the member must withdraw from the meeting room; 

! the member must not seek to improperly influence the decision on that matter; 

! each situation should be judged on its own merit; and 

! if in doubt, advice should be sought from the Chairman or the Clerk. 

Three members of the Board participated in proceedings of the Board relating to the  

sea defences case when they had disqualifying personal interests 

134. I consider from 9 July 2010, the date on which the Drainage Board was joined to the 

claim, on each occasion the sea defences case was considered by the Board, those 

Board members with an interest in the case should have declared their interest and 

withdrawn from the meetings whilst the matter was discussed. They should have taken 

no part in the decision-making process. The three Board members with an interest in 

the case failed to declare their interest on one or more occasions and remained in the 

meeting whilst the case was discussed. Two of these Board members participated  

in a meeting of the Board in December 2010 when significant decisions were made  

by the Board in respect of the case. They participated in the decision-making process 

when disqualified from doing so. 

135. Appendix 2 sets out a record of the meetings the three members attended, when their 

interests were and were not declared, and how they participated in Board meetings 

relating to the sea defences case. 

136. Mr Attewell and Mr Waters have told me they had not been informed and did not 

appreciate that they were required to leave the meeting room whilst the case was 

discussed. Nevertheless they should have been aware of the requirements of the 

Drainage Board’s Summary Code of Conduct referred to in paragraph 133.

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 31



Page 32 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

137. The first reference to the sea defences case occurs in the minutes of a Board meeting 

on 12 July 2010. The minutes state that Mr Jackson-Johns briefed the Board on the 

case and advised the Board that an extraordinary meeting of the Board would be held 

on 3 August 2010 and that ‘Members would be called upon to decide the way forward 

for the Board in this landmark case’. Mr Jackson-Johns informed the Board that the 

meeting would be attended by the solicitors acting for Mr Attewell. It is not clear why 

Mr Jackson-Johns thought it appropriate to ask the solicitor, representing Mr Attewell 

who was acting against the Drainage Board, to address the Board.  

138. An extraordinary meeting of the Board was held on 3 August 2010. The minutes record 

that Mr Attewell’s solicitor was present and addressed the meeting. The solicitor 

briefed the Board members on the sea defences case. The minutes of the meeting 

record that the solicitor told the Board that ‘A group of land owners on the Caldicot 

Level represented by [Mr Attewell] ............................. was currently bringing a case 

against the Environment Agency with regard to maintenance of the Sea Defences’. 

The minutes do not record how the Drainage Board had become involved in  

the case and appear to suggest that this was in some way due to the actions of the 

Environment Agency. The minutes do not record that Mr Attewell had joined (included) 

the Drainage Board in his legal action. The minutes record that Mr Attewell’s solicitor 

‘advised the Board to fight the case using the direct briefing approach’. I do not 

understand how the legal representative of Mr Attewell came to be advising the Board 

on how it should respond to the claim brought against it by Mr Attewell on 9 July 2010.  

139. The minutes of the Board meeting of 3 August 2010 record that after Mr Attewell’s 

solicitor left the meeting, the Board resolved to instruct Mr Jackson-Johns to: 

! ‘engage a Barrister; 

! take advice and report back to the Board; 

! acknowledge service; and 

! produce a statement in response.’ 

140. The minutes of the Board meeting of 3 August 2010 also record ‘that the Chairman 

and CEO be given plenary powers to engage the services of a suitable Barrister as 

soon as possible’. I am of the view that both Mr Jackson-Johns and the former 

Chairman, Mr Waters, should have refused these instructions. It would have been 

wholly inappropriate for Mr Waters to be involved in gaining legal representation for the 

defendant whilst he was financially supporting the claimant, Mr Attewell, and had a 

personal and pecuniary interest in the outcome of the case. Mr Waters was therefore 

disqualified from involvement in the Board’s decision-making process and from 

involvement in instructing the Board’s legal representatives. Mr Waters has told me 

that in the event he had no involvement in engaging a barrister on behalf of the 

Drainage Board and the Clerk and Engineer, Mr Jackson-Johns contacted and 

instructed the Drainage Board’s legal representatives. I consider that Mr Jackson-

Johns also had a conflict of interest in this matter as set out in paragraphs 153 to 159.

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 32



Page 33 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

141. The Board met again on 20 September 2010. The case summary notes were 

circulated to all members and a copy placed with the minutes. Mr Jackson-Johns 

advised that the three councils funding the Drainage Board had been written to and 

invited to join the proceedings as a co-defendant or agree to be bound by the decision 

in the litigation. ‘In view of the enormity and possible repercussions of this case’  

the Board resolved to appoint two Board members ‘to represent the views of the 

Board’, and councillor members were urged to approach their respective chief 

executive officers, in order to chase up a response to a letter sent from the Drainage 

Board’s solicitor regarding the invitation to be joined to the proceedings. 

142. The Board met again on 8 November 2010. The Drainage Board’s solicitor who had 

been appointed in August 2010 was present at the meeting whilst the sea defences 

case was considered. The Board resolved at the meeting of 8 November 2010 to 

continue to defend the case. 

143. The Board met on 13 December 2010. The minutes record that the sea defences  

case was considered and that Mr Jackson-Johns briefed the Board on the case.  

The minutes record that ‘following a protracted and very lengthy discussion, the 

following was resolved by vote: 

! Board accepted liability incumbent under the 1884 Act; and 

! Board agreed the requirement that the definition of ‘maintain’ was to be decided 

first by the judge.’ 

144. These decisions were highly significant as they determined the Drainage Board’s legal 

stance in relation to the sea defences case. 

145. Mr Waters attended and acted as Chairman of the meeting. Mr Attewell also attended. 

Mr James who had provided funding for the case was not present. The minutes of  

the meeting record that Mr Waters and Mr Attewell did not declare their personal and 

pecuniary interest in this matter and they participated in the decision-making process 

whilst disqualified from doing so. This included voting on Board resolutions on which 

they had a conflict of interest.  

146. On 14 December 2010, an appointed member of the Board wrote to Mr Jackson-Johns 

raising his concern regarding the participation of Mr Waters and Mr Attewell in the 

meeting of 13 December 2010. Mr Jackson-Johns responded: ‘To be honest upon 

reflection I do agree with you – Chair and Vice Chair should have excused themselves 

from the Meeting – as they have done in the past. To move matters forwards can you 

get MCC [Monmouthshire County Council] to formally write to the Board detailing the 

issues ASAP. I would assume the Board will then re-convene to discuss the resolution 

ASAP in the New-Year – with Chair and Vice Chair not taking part.’  

147. On 10 January 2011, Mr Jackson-Johns sent an e-mail to a consultant used by the 

Drainage Board. The e-mail states ‘NB – Finance Meeting scheduled for Monday 14th 

Jan – will now be a short full Board Meeting – to sort out the ‘BIG’ oversight of 

Members with a Conflict of Interests not leaving Decembers Boards meeting when

Sea Defences issues were voted on!!’ 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 33



Page 34 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

148. Mr Waters and Mr Attewell accept they were present during the Board’s consideration 

of the sea defences case at the Board meeting of 13 December 2010. They have 

acknowledged that they should have declared their interest at the meeting and 

withdrawn from the meeting. Mr Waters informed me that he had declared his interest 

at previous meetings but overlooked to do so at the meeting of 13 December 2010.  

He expressed regret regarding this oversight. Mr Attewell and Mr Waters maintain that 

they did not comment on or take part in any discussions about the case and did not 

vote on the proposed resolutions. They maintain that they both abstained during the 

vote. The minutes of the meeting of 13 December 2010 do not record what 

contributions individual Board members made to the proceedings or whether individual 

members voted in favour or against the resolutions, or whether they abstained. 

However, their very presence in the meeting means that they participated in the 

decision-making process when disqualified from doing so. 

149. The Board met on 24 January 2011. The minutes of the meeting record that Mr Jackson-

Johns informed the Board that members needed to reconsider the resolutions it had 

made on 13 December 2010 regarding the sea defences case. The Board rescinded  

the Board resolutions of 14 December 2010 and instead resolved ‘i) That the Board 

accepted liability incumbent under the 1884 Act, subject to the Board having the 

necessary resources ii) That the Board agreed the requirement that the definition of 

‘maintain’ was to be decided first by the Judge’. 

150. The judge determined that the definition of ‘maintain’ did not include increasing the 

height of the sea wall and ordered that Mr Attewell pay the Drainage Board’s costs in 

defending the claim.  

151. In my view, Mr Waters, Mr Attewell and Mr James failed to differentiate their roles as 

members of the Board from their roles and interests as private individuals in taking 

legal action against the Drainage Board. I accept that these individuals did not act  

with ill intent and when they initially became involved in the legal claim they did not 

anticipate that the Drainage Board would be a defendant to the claim. Nevertheless,  

by participating in the decision-making process when disqualified from doing so,  

Mr Waters, Mr Attewell and Mr James undermined the integrity of the decision-making 

process and breached the Drainage Board’s Summary Code of Conduct. 

152. The code of conduct is clear that it is for a member with a prejudicial interest to  

declare their interest and to withdraw from the meeting while the matter is considered. 

Nevertheless, I recognise that the former Clerk and Engineer and several other 

members of the Board were aware of the interests of Mr Attewell, Mr Waters and  

Mr James. It is disappointing that on those occasions when Mr Attewell, Mr Waters 

and Mr James did not declare their interests and/or withdraw from the meeting,  

they were not reminded to do so by those who knew of those interests. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 34



Page 35 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

On several occasions the former Clerk and Engineer of the Drainage Board participated in 

proceedings of the Board relating to the sea defences case when he had a disqualifying 

personal interest 

153. Mr Jackson-Johns was present at each meeting of the Board between August 2010 

and April 2011 in which the sea defences case was discussed and he participated in 

the deliberations of the Board and in the decision-making process. During the course 

of my audit work, I reviewed a number of electronic documents held by the Drainage 

Board. Review of these documents has led me to conclude that Mr Jackson-Johns had 

an interest in the sea defences case which he should have declared at meetings of the 

Board in which the sea defences case was considered. Mr Jackson-Johns should have 

withdrawn from these meetings and taken no part in the proceedings. He was also 

disqualified from providing advice and/or having any involvement in the conduct of the 

case due to his involvement in supporting the Claimants’ case against the Environment 

Agency.

154. Mr Attewell lodged his claim against the Environment Agency on 6 April 2010.  

Mr Jackson-Johns was actively and closely involved in supporting the claim.  

Mr Jackson-Johns undertook research on behalf of Mr Attewell, advised Mr Attewell’s 

solicitor on the Environment Agency’s defence, met Mr Attewell’s legal representatives 

to discuss the case and suggested amendments to Mr Attewell’s legal statements at 

the request of Mr Attewell’s solicitor. In an e-mail dated 2 July 2010, Mr Attewell’s 

solicitor wrote to Mr Jackson-Johns stating ‘Thank you for your continuing input and 

assistance in this case’. It does not appear that Mr Jackson-Johns informed the Board 

of his close involvement with Mr Attewell’s claim, nor have I found any evidence that 

the Board authorised and approved Mr Jackson-Johns’ actions in supporting a claim 

against another public body. Mr Jackson-Johns stated in interview that all Board 

members were fully aware of his work in support of the claim.  

155. Regardless of this, when the Drainage Board was joined to the claim on 9 July 2010, 

Mr Jackson-Johns should have declared his interest to the Board and withdrawn from 

any further involvement in the Board’s consideration of the matter. Mr Jackson-Johns 

failed to do this and participated in Board meetings from August 2010 when he was 

disqualified from doing so. 

156. Following the decision of the High Court on 9 July 2010 to grant Mr Attewell’s request  

to join the Drainage Board to the claim as a co-defendant, Mr Attewell’s solicitor wrote 

to the Board on 19 July 2010. The letter informs the Board of the court’s decision and 

enclosed a number of legal documents. The solicitor stated that: ‘You will appreciate 

that whilst we have discussed this matter with you previously, it is a case in respect  

of which the Drainage Board will need independent advice. The writer will come to the 

board meeting on 3rd August 2010, at your request to discuss the issues in the case, 

but it must be noted that in doing so, we cannot give you any advice as to the board’s 

position in the litigation.’  

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 35



Page 36 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

157. Mr Jackson-Johns responded in writing to Mr Attewell’s solicitor on 20 July 2010,  

‘on behalf of the Board and its Chairman’. It does not appear that Mr Jackson-Johns 

shared the letter dated 19 July 2010 or the response which he had sent on the Board’s 

behalf with the Board. The former Chairman of the Board has told me that he had not 

seen and had no input to the letter of 20 July 2010. The content of this letter indicates 

that Mr Jackson-Johns wanted Mr Attewell’s solicitor to provide legal services to the 

Drainage Board in respect of the sea defences case. This would have been entirely 

inappropriate in view of the fact that the solicitor was representing Mr Attewell’s action 

against the Drainage Board. In the event, as noted above, Mr Attewell’s solicitor 

advised Mr Jackson-Johns that the Drainage Board would need to procure 

independent legal advice. 

158. Mr Jackson-Johns has told me that in supporting Mr Attewell’s claim he was working 

for the Board and he was acting under the personal instructions of the Board’s  

former Chairman and former Vice-Chairman. I do not accept this explanation.  

The Board did not authorise Mr Jackson-Johns’ activities in respect of the claim. 

Furthermore, Mr Jackson-Johns was fully aware that both the former Chairman and 

former Vice-Chairman had personal and pecuniary interests in the sea defences case. 

The former Chairman and former Vice-Chairman have told me that they refute Mr 

Jackson-Johns’ claim that he was acting in accordance with their instructions. 

The Drainage Board did not exercise good financial 
management and control at a corporate level

The Drainage Board’s budget setting process for 2010-11 was not 

robust and Board minutes do not record that the Board formally 

approved the budget or amendments to it 

159. The Board is responsible for strategic decision making. This includes considering the 

Drainage Board’s financial requirements, approving the annual budget and setting the 

rate to be levied on agricultural landowners within the Gwent Levels. 

160. At a meeting on 18 January 2010, the Board’s Finance and Administration 

Subcommittee was presented with ‘an indicative budget analysis for the next 7 years’. 

This budget analysis was a spreadsheet showing estimated annual income and 

expenditure for the period 2010-11 to 2016-17. The majority of the figures had simply 

been increased by three per cent each year (if increased at all) and no analysis or 

reasons were given for the year-on-year movements. I do not consider this a robust 

methodology. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 36



Page 37 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

161. The minutes of the Finance and Administration Subcommittee meeting held on 

Monday 18 January 2010 record that only the annual drainage rate was recommended 

by the subcommittee to the full Board for approval. The minutes of the subsequent 

Board meeting held on Monday 8 February do not record that the 2010-11 budget  

was presented to or formally approved by the Board, nor have I been able to find any 

record of approval of the annual drainage rate by the Board. I have been told by 

officers of the Board that the Board did approve these matters but that the approval 

was not recorded in the Board minutes. 

162. During the course of the year, the annual budget was revised on several occasions.  

I have not been able to find any evidence that the Board approved these budget 

variations.

163. In failing to review and approve the 2010-11 budget and subsequent variations,  

I consider that members of the Board collectively failed to exercise their responsibility 

as Board members in respect of the Drainage Board’s finances. 

The Drainage Board did not have a formal budgetary control system  

in place for financial years prior to 2011-12 and had no documented 

financial control procedures

164. Budgetary control is a fundamental aspect of good financial management for all 

organisations. Where budgetary control is not strong, it exposes the organisation to 

financial risk, overspending and can threaten the ability of the organisation to meet its 

objectives. I consider that the Drainage Board did not have adequate budgetary control 

arrangements in place in respect of financial years prior to 2011-12. 

165. The Drainage Board did not have a formal budgetary control system in place for 

financial years prior to 2011-12 and there were no documented financial control 

procedures.

166. There was some limited evidence of budget monitoring. During 2010-11, the Board 

received reports on expenditure incurred for the first and second quarter of the year. 

These ‘budget reports’ consisted of a comparison of expenditure to date with the full 

year annual budget figures rather than the predicted profile for the period. This did not 

provide a meaningful comparison to assess the financial performance of the Drainage 

Board on an ongoing basis. No similar comparison of expenditure to the budget for the 

third quarter was reported to the Board. I am also concerned that the ‘budget reports’ 

for Quarter 1 were subsequently revised after being presented to the Board. I have 

seen no evidence that the revised position was disclosed to either the Finance and 

Administration Subcommittee or the Board. 

167. The Board has acknowledged that its budget management and monitoring procedures 

have needed improvement. It has already sought to improve its budget preparation 

processes. A documented financial control procedure has been implemented and 

there are plans to review this following an assessment of the Board’s arrangements by 

Internal Audit. In addition, work is under way to produce a detailed programme of 

works which will be used as the basis to set budgets for 2013-14 onwards.  

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 37



Page 38 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

The way in which the Board has set the annual rate has resulted in a 

potential inequity between the respective financial burdens placed on the 

council taxpayer and the local ratepayer. Furthermore, the Drainage 

Board is unable to demonstrate that it has been setting a lawful rate for 

several years. 

168. The Land Drainage Act 1991 empowers internal drainage boards to set a drainage 

rate on the occupiers of all agricultural land within its area and to set special levies on 

local authorities. The legislation includes a complex formula which drainage boards 

must use when determining the rate payable by the landowners. In summary, the rate 

is calculated by taking the number of hectares of land within the Drainage Board's 

boundary and its total potential annual rent. This provides an annual value figure which 

is then multiplied by a rate set each year by the Board. The legislative formula requires 

that the financial amount to be raised by rates and levies shall be determined using the 

same ratio between agricultural and non-agricultural land values respectively.  

169. The Drainage Board currently has approximately 21,000 acres of land within its 

drainage district. Special levies are set against the local authorities within this 

catchment area, namely: Newport City Council, Cardiff Council and Monmouthshire 

County Council. Of the total Board income from rates and levies, only three per cent is 

raised from landowner rates. The drainage rate is set annually by the Board members 

in January each year. 

170. I have reviewed the way in which the rate has been set by the Drainage Board. Whilst  

I am satisfied that the Board has sought to apply the statutory formula, I have serious 

concerns in the way in which this has been done. 

171. Officers of the Drainage Board have provided me with the annual rental values  

that have been used to set the rate and determine the levies charged to the local 

authorities. I understand that the annual rental values were determined in 1991-92. 

The valuations for non-agricultural properties were provided by Newport City Council, 

Cardiff Council and Monmouthshire County Council. The values for agricultural 

properties were provided by a valuer appointed by the Drainage Board. I sought to 

reconcile the valuations obtained in 1991-92 with the values used to set the drainage 

rate in recent years but have been unable to do so. This is because the records kept 

by the Drainage Board for 1991-92 are incomplete.

172. The Drainage Board is unable to demonstrate that the rate set is lawful and that the 

financing burden has been equitably divided between the ratepayer landowners and 

the local authorities who pay levies to the Drainage Board. 

173. The Land Drainage Act 1991 includes provision for making adjustments of annual 

rental values to reflect increases or decreases in the annual value of chargeable 

properties in the area. This may become necessary where, for example, part of a 

chargeable property is no longer used for its former purpose or where land is 

reclaimed for use. Internal drainage boards may need to make these adjustments  

to ensure that there is a fair and equitable distribution of the financing burden. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 38



Page 39 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

174. I would expect the Board to have made a number of adjustments to annual rental 

values over recent years to reflect changes in circumstances within the Gwent Levels. 

I have reviewed the annual rental values used by the Drainage Board since 1992 to 

determine the annual rate.  

175. Between 1992 and 2002-03, all of these changes related to the transfer of land from 

agricultural to non-agricultural use.  

176. No adjustments have been made to recognise the major downscaling of industrial 

premises, such as the Llanwern Steel Works. These changes could have had a 

significant impact on annual rental values. Not implementing these changes may  

have led to an inequitable and unlawful distribution of the financing burden, ie the 

agricultural ratepayers may have been under-billed and the levies made on the local 

authorities set too high, resulting in an unlawful subsidy being given to the agricultural 

ratepayers.

177. I have not reached a conclusion on the financial impact which has arisen due to the 

failure to implement the necessary adjustments. However, my provisional assessment 

is that the accounts of the Drainage Board are likely to have been misstated for a 

number of years.  

178. No adjustments at all have been made to the annual rental values since the 2002-03 

financial year. Mr Jackson-Johns has stated in interview that he considered all 

changes made to land use after 2002-03 and is satisfied that no significant 

developments had taken place since 2002-03. The Drainage Board will need to 

consider whether it concurs with this assessment. 

The Drainage Board has failed to demonstrate that it 
has achieved value for money and acted lawfully in 
some key areas 

179. Public bodies are funded by taxpayers. It is therefore imperative that they use the 

resources that they have at their disposal in an economic, efficient and effective way. 

They should be able to demonstrate value for money. 

180. As has been set out in this report, the Drainage Board lacked a clear strategy and 

operated without an effective governance framework. Without these things, it is not 

possible to demonstrate that the Drainage Board was achieving value for money. 

However, during the course of my audit, I have identified specific areas and issues 

where, in my view, the Drainage Board has: 

! failed to achieve value for money; and/or 

! is unable to demonstrate that it has achieved value for money; and/or 

! has expended public resources when it had no legal power to do so. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 39



Page 40 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

The Drainage Board spent taxpayers’ money funding ‘inspection’ visits 

by Board members and officers without having any business case to 

justify these visits or any effective means of assessing the benefits 

realised from these visits. I consider that the expenditure did not 

represent value for money and that the expenditure was contrary to law. 

181. It is common and reasonable for public bodies to seek to learn from each other and  

to identify where good practice exists that can be adopted. However, before public 

money is expended, particularly where overseas visits are being considered, it is 

essential that the public body considers: 

! the legality of any proposed visit; 

! the likely benefits which will be accrued from the visit; 

! the cost of the visit and whether the cost is outweighed by the potential benefits; 

! which public officials (Board members or officers) have the knowledge, 

experience and expertise to make informed judgments and decisions relating to 

the subject of the visits; 

! public perception; and 

! how any benefits will be secured and measured to demonstrate value for money. 

182. The Drainage Board has organised several visits that the Board’s documentation 

refers to as ‘inspections’. These include ‘inspections’ to the Netherlands, Italy and 

Northern Ireland. 

183. I have considered the visits undertaken to Italy in 2005 and Northern Ireland in  

2008. Owing to the length of time that has elapsed since the ‘inspection’ visit to the 

Netherlands in 2000, the Board no longer holds detailed records of this visit. I have not 

therefore been able to conclude on whether this visit represented value for public 

money. 

The Drainage Board failed to demonstrate that it achieved value for money in respect of its 

inspection trip to Italy 

184. On 21 September 2004, the former Office and Personnel Manager, Mrs Jackson-

Johns, wrote to all members of the Board asking for their interest in participating in a 

‘Proposed Inspection to Venetian area of Italy – Autumn 2005’. This correspondence 

did not detail any purpose for the visit, what would be inspected or what benefit the 

Drainage Board would realise from the visit. Board members were not asked to identify 

any specific interest, knowledge or expertise they possessed which would make their 

attendance on the visit beneficial for the Drainage Board. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 40



Page 41 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

185. The visit to Italy was organised and the inspection party comprising 37 people arrived 

on 12 October 2005 and returned to the UK on 15 October 2005. The Drainage Board 

delegation spent the morning of 13 October 2005 visiting local drainage works. The 

afternoon was spent visiting wetlands. These visits were hosted by an Italian drainage 

organisation. The following day was spent on a guided sightseeing tour of Venice.  

186. The Drainage Board delegation comprised 13 members and three officers of the Board 

and 21 ‘guests’. The ‘guests’ were mainly the spouses or parents of Board members 

and officers. 

187. The Drainage Board spent £12,233 on the visit. However, Board members and officers 

were asked to pay £100 each towards the visit and guests £300 each. The payment 

from guests was calculated to cover the full cost of their attendance. The Drainage 

Board received the contributions due from Board members and their guests. The net 

cost to the Drainage Board after contributions was £4,333. 

188. I have several concerns regarding the visit which include the following: 

! the absence of a business case setting out the objectives or potential benefits of 

the visit; 

! the lack of any documented, reasonable justification for 13 Board members and 

three officers to undertake this visit at the public’s expense; and 

! no analysis of specific benefits accrued as a result of this visit.  

189. I do not consider that the primary purpose of the visit to Italy was to further the 

objectives of the Drainage Board. The Office and Personnel Manager, Mrs Jackson-

Johns, who went on the visit as the event organiser, wrote an account of the visit 

stating that it was intended as an ‘interesting inspection for the Board members of the 

Caldicot and Wentlooge IDB to mark the end of our Chairman’s term of office in 

October 2005’.

190. The visit was primarily designed as a celebratory event and its primary purpose was 

not to further the work of the Drainage Board. I consider that such expenditure does 

not represent value for public money and is contrary to law. 

The Drainage Board failed to demonstrate that it achieved value for money in respect of its 

inspection trip to Northern Ireland 

191. A further Board ‘inspection’ visit was organised to Northern Ireland between 

25 September 2008 and 28 September 2008. The itinerary included one day with the 

Rivers Agency Northern Ireland (RANI). The second day consisted of a tour of the  

Old Bushmills Distillery, a trip to the Giants Causeway, Dunlace Castle and  

Carrick-a-Rede.

192. All members of the Board were invited to attend the visit and 28 individuals made up 

the delegation: 11 board members, three members of staff (Mr and Mrs Jackson-Johns 

and the Drainage Board’s Works Foreman) and 14 guests. The guests were mainly 

spouses of the attendees. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 41



Page 42 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

193. The Drainage Board spent £11,172.65 on the visit. However, Board members and 

officers were asked to pay £115 each towards the visit and guests £345 each.  

The payment from guests was calculated to cover the full cost of their attendance.  

The net cost to the Drainage Board after contributions was £4,732.65. 

194. As was the case for the Italy visit, I have several concerns regarding the visit to 

Northern Ireland which include the following: 

! Lack of a business case setting out the objectives or potential benefits of the 

visit.

! Absence of any documented, reasonable justification for 11 Board members and 

three officers to undertake this visit at the public’s expense. 

! I have seen no analysis of specific benefits accrued as a result of this visit. 

! The visit was undertaken shortly before a scheduled Board election. It was 

therefore likely that some Board members who made the visit would soon no 

longer be Board members. Any knowledge gained by the Drainage Board in 

relation to these members would then be of no benefit to the Drainage Board. 

195. Furthermore, I do not consider that the primary purpose of the visit to Northern Ireland 

was to further the objectives of the Drainage Board. The Office and Personnel 

Manager, who organised the inspection and accompanied her husband, the former 

Clerk and Engineer, wrote a report on the visit stating ‘as the current Board goes out of 

office at the end of October, it seemed timely to organise an Inspection for the Board 

Members, Officers and Guests’. This indicates that the visit was primarily designed to 

mark the end of Board members’ term in office and not an inspection designed to 

further the work of the Drainage Board.

196. The minutes of a monthly Drainage Board office staff meeting on 26 February 2008 

state regarding the visit to Northern Ireland: ‘Event is really organised for the benefit of 

the Board Members .....’. The Drainage Board cannot spend public money in order to 

benefit Board members. I consider that such expenditure does not represent value for 

public money and is contrary to law. 

The Drainage Board is unable to demonstrate that it achieved value for money in respect of 

its inspection trip to the Netherlands 

197. Whilst I have not been able to obtain detailed records for the ‘inspection’ visit to the 

Netherlands, I have concerns that this visit may not have represented value for money. 

The purpose of the ‘inspection’ visit to the Netherlands in 2000 as set out by the Office 

and Personnel Manager was ‘to mark the Millennium’.  

198. The General Manager has stated that no inspection visits have taken place since his 

appointment and no further visits will take place unless there is good reason and value 

for money can be demonstrated. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 42



Page 43 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

The Drainage Board did not have adequate procedures in place for

the procurement of goods and services, and did not always comply  

with its own procedures. As a result, the Drainage Board is unable to 

demonstrate that it has achieved value for money from these purchases. 

199. When purchasing equipment, public bodies must ensure that they can demonstrate  

that procurement complies with proper procedure and that value for money has been 

secured.

200. I would expect any public body to have in place comprehensive procedures which set 

out how procurements should be conducted for all significant purchases. Furthermore, 

before embarking on a procurement, I would expect any public body to have prepared 

a business case which includes: 

! Business need (linked to strategy) 

! Option appraisal 

! Costs and benefits 

The Drainage Board did not have adequate procedures in place to demonstrate that it was 

achieving value for money in respect of procurements prior to 2009 

201. Prior to April 2009, the Drainage Board had not adopted any financial regulations setting 

out the procedures which must be followed when procuring goods and services and/or 

entering into contracts. In the absence of such regulations, It appears that the Drainage 

Board’s approach to procurement was at best ad hoc. The Drainage Board has failed to 

retain an effective audit trail of its procurements prior to April 2009. For example, the 

Drainage Board has not kept procurement files holding documentation such as the 

rationale for the procurement, quotations/tenders received and the basis for decisions 

reached. However, I consider that the Drainage Board cannot now demonstrate that it 

has achieved value for money in these procurements. 

202. With effect from 1 April 2009, the Board adopted financial regulations. These 

regulations specify that the Drainage Board should obtain three competitive quotations 

for all purchases with a financial value in excess of £2,501. If the requirement to obtain 

three quotations cannot be complied with for legitimate reasons, or a decision is 

reached to accept a quotation which is not the lowest, the regulations require the 

Board’s approval to be obtained. 

203. The financial regulations also specify that the Clerk and Engineer, Office and 

Personnel Manager and Finance Manager may approve procurements under £10,000 

but must obtain the approval of the Chairman of the Board for procurements between 

£10,000 and £20,000. All procurements over £20,000 require approval of the Board 

prior to the purchase, unless the purchase is urgent, in which case the Chairman of  

the Board has delegated authority to proceed with the procurement but must seek 

approval from the Board retrospectively.  

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 43



Page 44 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

204. In 2009, following recommendations made by the external auditor regarding the need 

to improve recording of decision making regarding capital purchases, the Drainage 

Board’s Finance Manager introduced new procedures FP3 Purchasing – Quotations.

These procedures emphasised the need to retain quotations and all paperwork relating 

to the purchase of goods or services. It also required a Capital Expenditure Request 

Form to be completed and retained for all purchases over £2,500. This form requires a 

justification for the planned procurement to be provided.  

205. These additional procedures are helpful and have been incorporated into the Drainage 

Board’s financial regulations. I am, however, concerned that the procedures do not set 

any financial thresholds above which potential contracts should be tendered and 

business cases and contract specifications prepared. 

206. Following the introduction of the new regulations and procedures, the Drainage Board 

has procured goods and services with a value in excess of £2,501. I have specifically 

considered two specific procurements: 

! purchase of an Energreen vegetation control machine; and 

! purchase of a car for use by the Drainage Board’s former Clerk and Engineer,  

Mr Jackson-Johns. 

The Drainage Board spent over £175,000 on the purchase of an Energreen vegetation 

control machine without having first set out a clear business need for the procurement.  

The procurement which involved acceptance of hospitality from the supplier has exposed the 

Drainage Board to allegations that the process was flawed 

207. In September 2009, the Drainage Board’s former Engineer Health and Safety and 

Plant Manager wrote to an Italian company, Energreen, expressing interest in an 

Energreen vegetation control machine. This interest appears to have arisen following 

the attendance of an employee of the Drainage Board at a trade show in Paris. 

208. Energreen supplied the Drainage Board with information about the equipment and 

invited the former Engineer Health and Safety and Plant Manager to visit the 

company’s factory in Verona. It was made clear by Energreen that ‘we take care of 

everything you just have to reach Stansted airport and then you are in our capable 

hands’. 

209. The former Engineer Health and Safety and Plant Manager responded to the 

Energreen representative stating that he would speak to the Clerk and Engineer,  

Mr Jackson-Johns, and the Vice-Chairman, Mr Attewell, regarding the possible visit.  

He also informed Energreen that any potential purchase would have to be in the 

following financial year for budgetary reasons.  

210. On 23 September 2009, the former Engineer Health and Safety and Plant Manager 

informed Energreen that he was unavailable on the proposed dates of the trip (12 to 

14 October 2009) but that the former Vice-Chairman of the Board and another elected 

member of the Board were ‘keen to take up your offer’. He also indicated that a third 

elected member of the Board was also keen to attend. The Energreen representative 

confirmed that the company would accommodate all three Board members.  

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 44



Page 45 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

211. The proposed visit was rescheduled to 3 to 4 November 2009 at the company’s 

request. In the event, the former Engineer Health and Safety and Plant Manager 

accompanied the three Board members on the visit. The planned visit was reported to 

the Board on 12 October 2009. 

212. I consider that it was not necessary to conduct a visit to the Energreen factory  

at this stage as the equipment was available for inspection within the UK and the 

Drainage Board had been made aware of this fact by Energreen. The former Vice-

Chairman of the Board has told me that the Drainage Board had had a bad experience 

in the past whilst procuring equipment, and that in view of this, it was considered 

prudent and proper to inspect Energreen’s factory to ‘see how the machines were 

made and to check the number of machines produced and the support provided by 

Energreen in the event of a problem’. I consider that the Board could have obtained 

assurances in writing from Energreen. Furthermore, the Board could have sought 

feedback on some of these matters from Energreen’s UK-based customers. Moreover, 

even if a visit to the Energreen factory was warranted, I consider sending four Board 

representatives was excessive. 

213. It is evident from correspondence between Energreen and the Drainage Board’s 

former Engineer Health and Safety and Plant Manager, that whilst in Italy, a proposed 

purchase was discussed and the Energreen representative indicated that a ‘special 

bonus’ would be applied if a purchase was made in 2009. The bonus referred to was a 

discount on the purchase price. 

214. In an e-mail from Mr Jackson-Johns to the Drainage Board’s former Engineer Health 

and Safety and Plant Manager on 2 December 2009, Mr Jackson-Johns expressed 

reservations regarding any potential purchase and expressed concerns over budgets 

and that the Drainage Board already had surplus equipment. Mr Jackson-Johns did, 

however, authorise obtaining a quote from Energreen. 

215. I have seen no evidence that any consideration was given to the operational needs of 

the Drainage Board, including how the potential purchase would benefit the Drainage 

Board, how the equipment would be used or how the functionality of the equipment 

would overlap with the Drainage Board’s existing plant and equipment. The Drainage 

Board purchased two other pieces of equipment in September and November 2009 

which in part would fulfil the same role as the Energreen equipment. 

216. A quotation was obtained from Energreen and this quotation was considered at the 

Board meeting of 14 December 2009. The Board deferred making any decision until 

budgets had been set for 2010-11. Following the Board meeting, alternative quotations 

were sought for similar equipment from other suppliers. This technically fulfilled the 

requirements of the financial regulations to obtain three quotations. However, each 

item of equipment had a different specification and as the Drainage Board had not 

defined its own business need, it is difficult to see how the Board compared the 

quotations; other than on the basis of price. There was no business case for the 

purchase and I am concerned that some individuals involved in the decision to 

purchase the equipment had received hospitality from the supplier of the equipment. 

This has given rise to the possibility that the objectivity of these individuals may have 

been impaired by the hospitality they received. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 45



Page 46 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

217. I have reviewed the three quotes obtained. All of the quotes provided include both  

the base machine plus optional extras. I do not consider that it is possible to compare 

the cost of the three options on a like-for-like basis. Nevertheless, at the Plant and 

Works Subcommittee meeting held on Monday 15 March 2010, the purchase of the 

Energreen was recommended as the lowest-cost quotation at a price of £175,662.50 

(inclusive of VAT). The committee was chaired by the former Vice-Chairman of the 

Board, who was one of those who had visited Energreen in Italy. A second member of 

the committee had also attended the visit to Energreen. The former Engineer Health 

and Safety and Plant Manager was also in attendance both at the committee and on 

the visit..  

218. A Capital Expenditure Request Form submitted to the Finance Manager sets out  

the rationale for the purchase as ‘to give greater productivity in the maintenance of 

watercourses in a short window of time’. I do not consider that this is an adequate 

justification for a major capital purchase. 

219. At the Plant and Works Subcommittee meeting of 15 March 2010, it was also noted  

that as a result of the purchase of the Energreen, another major item of equipment 

which had been purchased as recently as September 2009 ‘would for all intents and 

purposes become mothballed’. 

220. On 26 April 2010, the Drainage Board’s former Engineer Health and Safety and Plant 

Manager wrote by e-mail to Energreen accepting their ‘final quotation sent 22 March 

2010’.

221. Between 22 June and 24 June 2010, two employees of the Drainage Board went as 

guests of Energreen to Italy to undertake a final approval check on the equipment 

which had been procured.  

222. I have a number of concerns regarding the purchase of the Energreen equipment 

which are as follows: 

! No record that the Board approved the purchase of the Energreen, despite this 

being required by the Drainage Board’s financial regulations. The Board’s former 

Chairman and the former Vice-Chairman of the Board have told us that the 

Board did discuss and approve the purchase at a Board meeting on 12 April 

2010 but the minutes of the meeting were inaccurate.  

! The Drainage Board has not demonstrated that there was a business need for 

the purchase and failed to specify its needs throughout the procurement process. 

! The Drainage Board has failed to demonstrate that the purchase represents 

value for money. 

! The acceptance of hospitality from a single supplier gives rise to the perception 

that said supplier has been inappropriately favoured. 

! As referred to in paragraphs 65 and 66, the Drainage Board did not have a policy 

for the registering, recording and authorisation of hospitality. As a consequence, 

this has led to a lack of transparency in the decision-making process and has 

resulted in those individuals who received hospitality being engaged in the 

decision-making process when they were potentially conflicted. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 46



Page 47 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

The purchase of a vehicle for use by the former Clerk and Engineer was in breach of the 

Drainage Board’s financial regulations and the Drainage Board is unable to demonstrate that 

it achieved value for the money spent 

223. The minutes of a meeting of the Board’s Plant and Works Subcommittee dated 

10 August 2009 record that ‘The CEO [Mr Jackson-Johns] advised that, in line with the 

board’s policy of replacing [the Clerk and Engineer’s vehicle] every three years – this 

period was now coming to expiration towards the end of 2009. It was therefore now 

necessary to commence appropriate investigations for the purchase of a suitable 

replacement vehicle. He therefore requested of the Committee that he be authorised to 

commence these works – to be assisted by the Chairman and the Vice-Chairman as 

necessary.’

224. The minutes of a meeting of the Board’s Plant and Works Subcommittee dated 

16 November 2009 record that the meeting resolved that ‘the Chairman and  

Vice-Chairman to be given plenary powers to work to a budget in the region of £27,000 

(quoted for a second-hand Freelander.) Quotations to be obtained from [two motor 

dealers]. Current CEO vehicle to be either advertised or used in part-exchange, 

whichever was most cost effective.’ 

225. On 9 February 2010, the Drainage Board purchased a used Land Rover Freelander for 

£24,349 (plus road tax and boot liner) from a Land Rover dealer. The CEO's existing 

vehicle was part exchanged for £8,000.  

226. It was the Drainage Board’s usual practice for the former Engineer Health and Safety 

and Plant Manager to seek quotes for vehicles, equipment and machinery. It is unclear 

why this was not done in this case: 

! It is not apparent on what basis a budget of £27,000 was set or who suggested 

this amount as being an appropriate budget. 

! Whilst the Plant and Works Subcommittee authorised Mr Jackson-Johns to seek 

quotations, It is not apparent from the Board’s records that any alternative 

quotations were sought. This represents a breach of the Drainage Board’s 

financial regulations which require three quotations for a purchase of this value. 

! There is no reference in the minutes of the Board that the purchase of the new 

vehicle was approved. This represents a breach of the financial regulations 

which require all purchases in excess of £20,000 to be approved by the Board.  

It would appear that when the Board approved the minutes of the Plant and 

Works Subcommittee meeting of 16 November 2009, members of the Board 

incorrectly assumed that the Board had de facto approved the purchase.  

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 47



Page 48 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

227. In interview, the former Vice-Chairman of the Board told me that the former Clerk and 

Engineer identified the car in one of the specified garages and requested the vehicle 

be purchased. Neither the former Chairman nor the former Vice-Chairman therefore 

played a role in identifying the car for purchase. 

228. The Drainage Board is not able to demonstrate that it has achieved value for money 

for this purchase. 

On some occasions, the Drainage Board used public resources in 

supporting external organisations when it had no statutory powers to do 

so

229. The Drainage Board is a statutory body. It is only able to act in accordance with the 

statutory powers granted to it. It cannot use public resources to undertake any 

activities which are outside its legal remit.  

230. Some members of the Board were actively involved in the activities of a local pressure 

group, the Gwent Levels Flood Defence Alliance (GLFDA). The aim of the group is  

to ensure that the sea wall defences protecting the Gwent Levels are maintained  

and improved. This is a laudable aim and many of the members of the Board will 

understandably have considerable sympathy with this aim. However, the Drainage 

Board cannot lawfully provide financial support for lobbying groups.  

231. Several members of the Board and the former Clerk and Engineer of the Drainage 

Board, Mr Jackson-Johns, have been members of the GLFDA. Whilst the Board has 

not authorised the provision of support for the group, this has been provided in several 

ways nonetheless. This includes: 

! Providing secretariat support to the group. 

! Allowing meetings to take place at the Drainage Board’s offices free of charge. 

Other groups meeting at the Drainage Board’s offices are required to pay for the 

use of the facilities. 

! Designing the group’s headed stationery. 

! Distributing publicity materials with the Drainage Board’s mailings. 

232. Mr Jackson-Johns’ timesheets indicate that he claimed time off in lieu from the Drainage 

Board for the time he spent supporting the GLFDA. The Drainage Board was therefore 

paying Mr Jackson-Johns for his work with the GLFDA. I consider that this support was 

unlawful. I have seen no evidence that the Board determined that providing support  

for the GLFDA was one of Mr Jackson-Johns’ duties nor that the Board authorised  

Mr Jackson-Johns to take time off in lieu for these activities.

233. I consider the support provided to the GLFDA was unlawful. I am concerned that 

Board members who were also members of the GLFDA did not consider it necessary 

to declare their membership of the GLFDA, even though the Register of Members’ 

Interests required them to disclose their membership of any ‘body whose principal 

purpose include the influence of public opinion or policy’. I consider that the GLFDA 

falls within this definition.

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 48



Page 49 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

234. The Drainage Board makes payments or subscribes to a number of other organisations. 

In most cases these payments are designed to support the activities and operations  

of the Drainage Board and, as such, in my view are within the Drainage Board’s legal 

powers, eg the Drainage Board’s membership of the Association of Drainage Authorities. 

However, I consider that the legal basis for some payments is questionable, eg the 

Drainage Board’s membership of the National Farmers Union. The General Manager 

has reviewed the organisations the Drainage Board supported or subscribed to in order 

to ensure that the Drainage Board had the requisite legal powers and any expenditure 

represented value for money. As a result of this review, several subscriptions were 

discontinued. 

The Drainage Board did not have HR policies and procedures in place. 

This has led to a lack of transparency over the grading and remuneration 

of staff. Furthermore, the former Clerk and Engineer recommended to 

the Board that the Office and Personnel Manager’s post be re-graded 

even though he had a personal and pecuniary interest. 

235. Internal drainage boards may remunerate their staff as they see fit as long as this is 

within reasonable limits. 

236. In making decisions regarding staff remuneration, it is essential that boards ensure 

that they have robust and transparent processes in place to ensure that employment 

and equalities legislation is complied with. Boards must ensure that members of staff 

are treated fairly and that their remuneration reflects their responsibilities relative to 

other members of the drainage board’s staff. 

237. In adopting the Lincolnshire terms as set out in paragraph 91, the Drainage Board 

accepted a framework within which decisions relating to staff remuneration were to  

be made. The Lincolnshire terms specify 13 staff grades with 47 spinal points across 

these grades. As set out in paragraphs 111 to 119, the remuneration set in 2007 for 

the former Clerk and Engineer, Mr Jackson-Johns, exceeded the highest-published 

pay point under the Lincolnshire terms.  

238. The Lincolnshire terms provide for members of staff to receive automatic annual 

increments (ie, to move onto a higher spinal point within the same grade). The 

Lincolnshire terms do not set out a procedure to be followed when considering  

re-grading a post (which could lead to the promotion of the existing post-holder).  

It is incumbent on each board to develop effective HR policies and procedures to: 

! evaluate each job within the organisation in accordance with clear and objective 

criteria and to grade jobs accordingly; 

! establish criteria against which eligibility for staff increments will be determined; 

! establish procedures for re-grading posts; and 

! develop recruitment and promotion policies, including whether competition is 

required, when jobs are re-graded. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 49



Page 50 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

239. During the course of my work, I found an absence of formal HR policies within the 

Drainage Board. Decisions over HR matters appear to have been delegated to the 

Board’s Establishment Committee. In the absence of formal policies, procedures or 

criteria for decision making, decisions were not made transparently. I have found no 

evidence that proper consideration was given by the Board to the grading of posts  

or to the relative responsibilities of the post-holders. Decisions on the award of 

incremental points appear to have been taken on the basis of staff presentations to  

the Establishment Committee. This practice was contrary to the Lincolnshire terms, 

(see paragraph 238) and therefore represented a breach of staff contractual 

employment rights. Even if incremental points had been linked to performance, I do not 

consider that requiring staff to present to the Establishment Committee would have 

facilitated an objective assessment of annual performance. The Drainage Board has 

acknowledged that staff contractual rights were breached. The General Manager has 

told me that retrospective adjustments have now been applied to staff pay to recognise 

employees’ contractual entitlements. 

240. I have a particular concern regarding the way in which the Office and Personnel 

Manager’s post was re-graded from Lincolnshire terms Grade 5 to Grade 6 with  

effect from 1 October 2004. This decision was taken by a meeting of the Board on 

14 October 2004. The minutes of the meeting do not show that the Board considered 

the responsibilities of the post in reaching its decision. This decision increased the 

maximum which Mrs Jackson-Johns could be paid under her terms of employment 

from £22,869 to £25,326 (at 2004-05 rates). 

241. I am further concerned that Mr Jackson-Johns recommended to the Board that his 

wife’s post be re-graded. I consider that Mr Jackson-Johns had a personal and 

pecuniary interest in the matter and should not have been involved in any way in the 

decision-making process.  

242. The current General Manager has told me that the Board has now introduced robust 

HR policies and procedures and has retained both external HR and employment law 

consultants to assist the Board’s management to ensure that all staffing matters are 

managed in line with best HR practice. He considers that there are now appropriate 

and transparent processes in place to ensure that employment and equalities 

legislation is complied with. I will be reviewing the progress made by the Board in this 

area as part of my ongoing audit. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 50



Page 51 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

The decisions taken to allow senior staff time off in lieu of  

extra-contractual hours worked were not taken properly. These 

decisions, which were based on recommendations made by the former 

Clerk and Engineer, benefited only three members of staff including the 

former Clerk and Engineer and the former Office and Personnel 

Manager.

243. On 30 June 2008, the Board’s Governance/Establishment Committee met. The 

minutes of the meeting refer to a PowerPoint presentation made by Mr Jackson-Johns 

relating to overtime worked by ‘senior officers’. The minutes record that ‘Best practice 

in the industry was outlined’. The PowerPoint presentation referred to in the minutes 

has not been filed with the minutes and the Drainage Board has been unable to locate 

a copy of this presentation. 

244. The former Chairman of the Board, Mr Waters, wrote to Mr Jackson-Johns and to the 

Drainage Board’s former Engineer Health and Safety and Plant Manager on 14 July 

2008 stating that the Governance/Establishment Committee had put in place time off in 

lieu arrangements for personnel paid in excess of the overtime payment limit. The 

overtime limit being referred to related to a provision within the Lincolnshire terms 

which states that ‘payment for overtime shall be limited to employees of salary points 

no higher than the top of Grade 6 (spine point 26)’. In fact, Mr Jackson-Johns and the 

Drainage Board’s former Engineer Health and Safety and Plant Manager were the

only members of staff who were being paid above the overtime limit. The proposal put 

forward by Mr Jackson-Johns to the Governance/Establishment Committee stood to 

benefit only himself and one other member of staff.  

245. On 7 June 2010, Mr Waters wrote to both the Finance Manager and the former Office 

and Personnel Manager, Mrs Jackson-Johns, stating that ‘following on from recent 

discussions between myself and the Vice Chairman and similar arrangements already 

agreed and in place for senior management’, these members of staff would be entitled 

to claim time off in lieu of extra-contractual hours worked. 

246. I have several concerns regarding this action: 

! The decision to allow these members of staff time off in lieu does not appear to 

have been approved by either the Board or a Board committee. I consider that 

Mr Waters did not have the delegated authority to make changes unilaterally to 

staff terms and conditions of employment.  

! The decision was not ‘similar’ to the arrangements already agreed for the former 

Clerk and Engineer and the former Engineer Health and Safety and Plant 

Manager in 2008, as stated in Mr Waters’ letter. Both the former Clerk and 

Engineer and the former Engineer Health and Safety and Plant Manager were 

paid above the overtime limit set out in the Lincolnshire terms, whereas the 

former Office and Personnel Manager, Mrs Jackson-Johns, and the Finance 

Manager were paid below the overtime limit. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 51



Page 52 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

! The Finance Manager was already entitled to be paid overtime for excess  

hours worked as her pay was below Spinal Point 26 of the Lincolnshire terms. 

Mrs Jackson-Johns was also below the overtime limit but was employed on a 

part-time contract. The Lincolnshire terms state that part-time staff must work the 

equivalent of full-time hours before they receive any entitlement to overtime.  

Mrs Jackson-Johns had no entitlement to claim overtime unless she had already 

worked an extra 11 hours in a week. The only officer who therefore benefited 

from the change introduced by the Chairman, Mr Waters, in his letter of 7 June 

2010 was the former Office and Personnel Manager. Mrs Jackson-Johns had, 

prior to this date, claimed overtime payments although she was not entitled to do 

so under her contract of employment. The letter appears to be an attempt to 

regularise and/or justify the situation. However, as the Board did not authorise 

the change, I consider that Mrs Jackson-Johns was not entitled under her 

contract to claim overtime payments or time off in lieu of extra-contractual hours 

worked (unless hours worked exceeded full-time hours).  

The Drainage Board provided services to other drainage boards without 

having considered the strategic implications, costs and risks of doing so 

247. Under the provisions of the Land Drainage Act 1991, internal drainage boards are  

able to undertake work on behalf of other internal drainage boards. This may include 

providing administrative or specialist engineering services.  

248. In recent years, the Drainage Board has agreed to provide services at negotiated 

prices to other internal drainage boards including: Powysland, Lower Wye, River Lugg 

and West Mendip internal drainage boards. 

249. When carrying out work on behalf of another drainage board, I would expect the 

Drainage Board to have considered: 

! the relative risks and rewards of undertaking this work; 

! what impact the out-of-district work would have on delivering the Drainage 

Board’s statutory responsibilities; 

! the financial cost of undertaking this work, derived from a detailed assessment of 

the resources required and the expenses which would necessarily be incurred; 

and

! the need to legally contract with the other drainage board to clarify issues such 

as the scope of the services to be delivered, required performance levels and the 

extent of each board’s liability.  

250. I have concluded that none of the above factors were adequately considered by the 

Drainage Board. I have not found any detailed costings which establish the basis on 

which prices agreed with the other drainage boards were set, nor have I found any 

evidence that the strategic implications and risks of taking on the additional work were 

considered. The agreements between the internal drainage boards are largely informal 

which has led to the Drainage Board being exposed to risk. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 52



Page 53 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

251. I understand that the former Clerk and Engineer, Mr Jackson-Johns, was personally 

responsible for costing the agreements and for negotiating with each of the other 

drainage boards. I find it surprising that he chose not to involve the Drainage Board’s 

Finance Manager in the costing process.  

The Drainage Board’s recording and pricing of private works has not 

been sufficiently robust and the operation of its ‘profit incentivisation’ 

scheme was contrary to law 

252. Under the provisions of the Land Drainage Act 1991, internal drainage boards are 

empowered to undertake drainage works on behalf of other organisations or private 

individuals with their consent. This work is commonly referred to as ‘private’ or 

‘rechargeable’ work. (This is distinct from the work that an internal drainage board  

may undertake for other drainage boards as set out in paragraphs 247 to 251.)

253. Internal drainage boards may charge the cost of undertaking private works to the 

organisations and individuals for whom they undertake these works. The legislation 

does not empower internal drainage boards to price the cost of the work it undertakes 

to generate profit. 

254. Private work can be beneficial to internal drainage boards when undertaken within the 

context of an overall work programme. If private work is scheduled for periods when 

there is less demand for the Drainage Board’s statutory activities, it can help to ensure 

that vehicle, plant and staffing resource is more fully utilised. 

255. The Drainage Board undertakes private work on behalf of other organisations and 

individuals. In 2009-10, the Drainage Board received income of £284,262 in respect  

of this work. I have several concerns regarding this activity: 

! The Drainage Board did not have an organisational work programme.  

The Drainage Board appears to have agreed to undertake private works on  

an ad hoc basis without proper consideration of the impact such works would 

have on the statutory works the Drainage Board was required to undertake.  

This was symptomatic of wider strategic failings of the Drainage Board as 

highlighted in paragraphs 19 to 24.

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 53



Page 54 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

! The standard of record keeping for private works was often very poor.  

The documentation setting out the work to be completed often only stated 

‘private works as requested’. Under legislation, internal drainage boards are  

only empowered to undertake ‘drainage works’ for other organisations and 

individuals. In the absence of robust records, I have not been able to satisfy 

myself that all the private works undertaken were drainage works. Any private 

work undertaken which was not drainage work would be unlawful. The Drainage 

Board has now reviewed the private works it has undertaken since 2006-07.  

I have been told by the current General Manager that he is satisfied that all 

private works undertaken during this period were drainage works except for 

works undertaken for the former Clerk and Engineer and a minor job undertaken 

for the former Engineer Health and Safety and Plant Manager. In the latter case, 

the General Manager is uncertain of the nature of the work undertaken. 

! The costing of private works was not sufficiently robust. Private works were in 

theory priced to break-even. An assessment was made of the staffing, material 

and vehicle and plant cost required to undertake the work. A further 10 per cent 

was added to the cost of each job in order to recover an element of the Drainage 

Board’s corporate overheads. Whilst the application of an overhead rate is 

reasonable, the Drainage Board has been unable to demonstrate that it had a 

robust methodology for determining that the overhead rate of 10 per cent was 

calculated to recover the Drainage Board’s full costs. It appears that some  

jobs were in fact being priced to generate profit and not just to cover cost 

(alternatively the overhead rate of 10 per cent was set much too low). The jobs 

which appear to have been overpriced were primarily those undertaken for other 

organisations as opposed to private individuals. From 2005-06 to 2009-10, the 

Drainage Board made profits on private works of 26.4 per cent, 25.6 per cent, 

27.6 per cent, 16.6 per cent and 9.64 per cent respectively. The legislation only 

allows internal drainage boards to recover the cost of undertaking private works.  

256. The Works and General Purposes Committee held on 14 August 2006, the former 

Clerk and Engineer advised the committee that it needed to consider the introduction 

of a Board ‘incentive’ scheme. The proposal was that Board staff would be eligible  

for bonus payments if the Drainage Board made a profit of at least 15 per cent on 

‘rechargeable/private works’. The total amount to be distributed to staff would be  

10 per cent of the profit made. Each member of staff (including office-based staff) 

would receive a flat amount which would not exceed one week’s gross pay for that 

employee. The scheme was to be retrospectively implemented for the 2005-06 

financial year. The committee resolved to recommend these proposals to the Board. 

257. From 2005-06 to 2009-10, the following payments were made to staff under the 

scheme as set out in Exhibit 2.

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 54



Page 55 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

Exhibit 2: Payments made to staff under the Drainage Board’s profit incentivisation 

scheme

Financial year Total bonus paid Amount per employee  

(pro-rated for part-time and 

new starters 

2005-06 £3,116.65 £250

2006-07 £7,186.00 £450

2007-08 £7,758.32 £500

2008-09 £5,700.00 £300

2009-10 £2,850.00 £150

Total £26,610.97

258. In 2009-10, the Drainage Board did not make the profit margin of 15 per cent required 

on private/rechargeable work before bonuses became payable. The percentage 

achieved was 9.64 per cent. The Board resolved to make bonus payments 

nonetheless.

259. I consider the bonus scheme introduced by the Drainage Board is contrary to law.  

The Drainage Board is not able to budget to generate profit on private works. The 

existence of a Board scheme which provides bonuses for generating profits on private 

works must, necessarily, be contrary to law as were all payments made under this 

scheme.

260. The Drainage Board’s current General Manager determined shortly after his 

appointment that no bonuses should be paid under the profit incentive scheme for 

2010-11.

Next steps 

261. The Drainage Board is now required by Section 25 of the Public Audit (Wales) Act 

2004 to consider this report at a full meeting of the Board within one month of the date 

of this report. At the meeting, the Board must decide: 

! whether the report requires it to take any action; 

! whether the recommendations in the report are to be accepted; and 

! what action (if any) to take in response to the report and recommendations. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 55



Page 56 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

Acknowledgements

262. I wish to express my appreciation to current and former officers and Board members of 

the Board for their co-operation during the audit. I would particularly like to thank those 

members of staff who have sought to respond quickly to my requests for information, 

whilst continuing to deliver their own work programmes.  

Anthony Barrett 

Appointed Auditor 

8 October 2012 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 56



Appendix 1 

Page 57 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 –Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

The Nolan seven principles of public life 

Selflessness

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. They should not do 

so in order to gain financial or other material benefits for themselves, their family, or their 

friends. 

Integrity

Holders of public office should not place themselves under any financial or other obligation 

to outside individuals or organisations that might seek to influence them in the performance 

of their official duties. 

Objectivity

In carrying out public business, including making public appointments, awarding contracts,  

or recommending individuals for rewards and benefits, holders of public office should make 

choices on merit. 

Accountability

Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions and actions to the public and 

must submit themselves to whatever scrutiny is appropriate to their office.  

Openness

Holders of public office should be as open as possible about all the decisions and actions 

that they take. They should give reasons for their decisions and restrict information only 

when the wider public interest clearly demands. 

Honesty

Holders of public office have a duty to declare any private interests relating to their public 

duties and to take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects the public 

interest. 

Leadership

Holders of public office should promote and support these principles by leadership and 

example. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 57



Appendix 2 

Page 58 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 –Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

Declarations of interest in the sea defences case 

Date of 

Board

meeting 

Matter discussed Mr Leonard Attewell Mr Neville Waters Mr Tom James 

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from

meeting 

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from meeting

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from

meeting 

12/07/2010 The Clerk and Engineer of the 

Board ‘gave a brief synopsis  

of the situation to date’ and 

advised the Board that an 

extraordinary meeting of the 

Board would be held on 

3 August 2010 at 14:30 hours. 

He informed the Board that the 

meeting would be attended by 

the solicitors acting for the 

claimant (Mr Attewell). The 

Clerk and Engineer informed 

the Board at the meeting on  

12 July 2010 that ‘Members 

would be called upon to decide 

the way forward for the Board 

in this landmark case.’

Yes No No Yes No No No Not

applicable 

Not

applicable 

03/08/2010 Mr Attewell's solicitor was 

present and addressed the 

meeting. He briefed the Board 

members on the court case. 

The solicitor told the Board that 

No Not

applicable

Not

applicable 

Yes No No Yes No No 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

P
age 58



Page 59 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

Date of 

Board

meeting 

Matter discussed Mr Leonard Attewell Mr Neville Waters Mr Tom James 

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from

meeting 

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from meeting

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from

meeting 

‘A group of landowners on the 

Caldicot Level represented  

by Mr Attewell was currently 

bringing a case against the 

Environment Agency with 

regard to maintenance of the 

sea defences’. The solicitor 

‘advised the Board to fight the 

case using the direct briefing 

approach’. The claimant’s 

solicitor left the meeting and 

the Board resolved to instruct 

the Chief Executive to: 1) 

engage a barrister, 2) take 

advice and report back to the 

Board, 3) acknowledge service 

4) produce a statement in 

response. The Board resolved 

‘that the Chairman and CEO 

be given plenary powers to 

engage the services of a 

suitable Barrister as soon as 

possible’. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

P
age 59



Page 60 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

Date of 

Board

meeting 

Matter discussed Mr Leonard Attewell Mr Neville Waters Mr Tom James 

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from

meeting 

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from meeting

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from

meeting 

20/09/2010 Case summary notes were 

circulated to all members and 

a copy placed with the 

minutes. Mr Jackson-Johns 

advised that the three councils 

funding the Drainage Board 

had been written to, and 

invited to join, the proceedings 

as a co-defendant or agree  

to be bound by the decision  

in the litigation. ‘In view of  

the enormity and possible 

repercussions of this case’,  

the Board resolved to appoint 

two Board members to 

represent its views and 

councillor members were 

urged to approach their 

respective chief executive 

officers, in order to chase up a 

response to the letter sent from 

the Board’s solicitor regarding 

the invitation  

to be joined to the 

proceedings. 

Yes Yes This is not 

clear from 

the minutes. 

The minutes 

record that 

he withdrew 

from any 

discussions

but do not 

state that he 

withdrew 

from the 

meeting.  

Mr Attewell 

has stated 

that he does 

not think he 

left the 

meeting 

room.

Mr Attewell 

was the 

Chairman of 

the meeting. 

There is no 

minute of an 

No Not

applicable 

Not applicable Yes Yes This is not 

clear from

the minutes. 

The minutes 

record that  

he withdrew 

from any 

discussions

but do not 

state that he 

withdrew from 

the meeting. 

The Board 

member

maintains  

that he left 

the room.

The case 

summary 

notes

prepared by 

the Board's 

solicitors

appear to 

have been 

circulated to 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

P
age 60



Page 61 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

Date of 

Board

meeting 

Matter discussed Mr Leonard Attewell Mr Neville Waters Mr Tom James 

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from

meeting 

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from meeting

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from

meeting 

alternative 

chairman 

being 

appointed. 

The case 

summary 

notes

prepared by 

the Board's 

solicitors

appear to 

have been 

circulated to 

all members 

of the Board 

including 

Mr Attewell. 

all members 

of the Board 

including 

Mr James. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

P
age 61



Page 62 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

Date of 

Board

meeting 

Matter discussed Mr Leonard Attewell Mr Neville Waters Mr Tom James 

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from

meeting 

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from meeting

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from

meeting 

08/11/2010 The Board's solicitor circulated 

the case summary notes to 

members, and outlined and 

summarised the main aspects 

of the case. The Board 

resolved to: 1) continue to 

defend the case 2) request that 

the question of maintenance of 

the sea wall to be addressed 

first and the question of liability 

to be addressed second 3) to 

write formally to the three 

funding local authorities and 

other interested bodies to join 

informal talks 4) to provide 

Queen's Counsel with a brief 

summary of the Board 

meeting. 

Yes, but 

after sea 

defences 

case had 

been 

discussed.

Not

applicable

Not

applicable 

Yes Yes Yes – the 

case

summary 

notes

prepared by 

the Board's 

solicitors

appear to 

have been 

circulated to 

all members 

of the Board 

including 

Mr Waters. 

Yes Yes Yes – the 

case

summary 

notes

prepared by 

the Board's 

solicitors

appear to 

have been 

circulated to 

all members 

of the Board 

including 

Mr James. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

P
age 62



Page 63 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

Date of 

Board

meeting 

Matter discussed Mr Leonard Attewell Mr Neville Waters Mr Tom James 

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from

meeting 

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from meeting

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from

meeting 

13/12/2010 The sea defences case was 

considered and that the Clerk 

and Engineer briefed the 

Board on the case. The 

minutes record that ‘following a 

protracted and very lengthy 

discussion, the following was 

resolved: 1) the Board 

accepted liability incumbent 

under the 1884 Act and 2) the 

Board agreed the requirement 

that the definition of ‘maintain’ 

was to be decided first by the 

judge.’ 

Yes No No Yes No No No Not

applicable 

Not

applicable 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

P
age 63



Page 64 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

Date of 

Board

meeting 

Matter discussed Mr Leonard Attewell Mr Neville Waters Mr Tom James 

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from

meeting 

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from meeting

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from

meeting 

24/01/2011 The Clerk and Engineer 

informed the Board that 

members needed to reconsider 

the resolutions it had made on 

13 December 2010 regarding 

the sea defences case. The 

Board resolved to rescind the 

resolutions of 13 December 

2010 and resolved: 1) ‘That  

the Board accepted liability 

incumbent under the 1884 Act, 

subject to the Board having the 

necessary resources’ 2) ‘That 

the Board agreed the 

requirement that the definition 

of ‘maintain’ was to be decided 

first by the judge’. 

Yes Yes No – 

minutes

record that 

Mr Attewell 

withdrew 

from the 

meeting 

after the 

case had 

been 

discussed 

but before 

the vote. 

No Not

applicable 

Not applicable Yes Yes No – minutes 

record that 

Mr James 

withdrew 

from the 

meeting after 

the case  

had been 

discussed 

but before 

the vote. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

P
age 64



Page 65 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

Date of 

Board

meeting 

Matter discussed Mr Leonard Attewell Mr Neville Waters Mr Tom James 

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from

meeting 

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from meeting

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from

meeting 

14/02/2011 The Clerk and Engineer 

updated members in relation to 

the case including informing 

members that ‘the judge 

declined to make any order for 

costs so that each party must 

bear its own costs’.  

Yes Yes This is  

not clear 

from the 

minutes.

The 

minutes

record that 

he did not 

take part in 

any further 

discussion

but do not 

state that 

he left the 

room.

Yes Yes This is not 

clear from

the minutes. 

The minutes 

record that he 

did not take 

part in any 

further

discussion

but do not 

state that he 

left the room. 

Mr Waters 

was the 

Chairman of 

the meeting. 

There is no 

minute of an 

alternative 

chairman 

being 

appointed.  

No Not

applicable 

Not

applicable 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

P
age 65



Page 66 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

Date of 

Board

meeting 

Matter discussed Mr Leonard Attewell Mr Neville Waters Mr Tom James 

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from

meeting 

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from meeting

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from

meeting 

21/03/2011 The minutes of the meeting do 

not record detail on the nature 

of the discussion.  

Yes Yes This is  

not clear 

from the 

minutes.

The 

minutes

record that 

he did not 

take part in 

any 

discussion

but do not 

state that 

he left the 

room.

Yes Yes This is not 

clear from

the minutes. 

The minutes 

record that he 

did not take 

part in any 

discussion

but do not 

state that he 

left the room. 

Mr Waters 

was the 

Chairman of 

the meeting. 

There is no 

minute of an 

alternative 

chairman 

being 

appointed.  

Yes Yes This is not 

clear from 

the minutes. 

The minutes 

record that 

he did not 

take part in 

any 

discussion

but do not 

state that he 

left the room. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

P
age 66



Page 67 of 68 - Audit of Accounts 2010-11 – Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

Date of 

Board

meeting 

Matter discussed Mr Leonard Attewell Mr Neville Waters Mr Tom James 

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from

meeting 

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from meeting

Present Declared 

interest 

Withdrew 

from

meeting 

11/04/2011 The Clerk and Engineer 

updated members on the case 

which had been heard in the 

High Court of Justice on 1 April 

2011. The Clerk and Engineer 

informed Board members that 

the judge had advised that he 

would make his determination 

within three months. 

Yes Yes This is  

not clear 

from the 

minutes.

The 

minutes

record that 

he did not 

take part in 

any 

discussion

but do not 

state that 

he left the 

room.

Yes Yes This is not 

clear from

the minutes. 

The minutes 

record that he 

did not take 

part in any 

discussion

but do not 

state that he 

left the room. 

Mr Waters 

was the 

Chairman of 

the meeting. 

There is no 

minute of an 

alternative 

chairman 

being 

appointed.  

No Not

applicable 

Not

applicable 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

P
age 67



PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 1 

Page 68



Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board 

 

Board membership as at 31 March 2011 

 

(% attendance relates to Board meetings in 2010-11) 

 

 

Elected: Start % Attend  Appointed: 
Local 

Authority 
Start % Attend 

Attewell, L  05/2003 100  Atwell, D NCC 07/2008 0 

Clatworthy, B 11/1987 0  Boswell, A NCC 03/1996 0 

Cullimore, J H 11/2008 50  Hadley B NCC 06//2010 0 

David, D T  07/2004 100  Kellaway, M NCC 07/2008 0 

James, D 11/2005 50  Knight, L J NCC 06/2001 62 

Park, R L 11/1993 75  Lloyd, R NCC 07/2008 62 

Price, D J 11/2002 100  Suller, T NCC 07/2008 62 

Price, M 11/2008 0  White, R NCC 11/2008 87 

Prosser, A  11/2008 12  Williams, D NCC 07/2008 37 

Rowland, R J 11/1996 100  Jenkins, G CCC 07/2008 0 

Small, J M 11/2002 62  Kellaway W CCC 11/2010 100 

Stephens, B 11/1993 62  Harris, J MCC 07/2008 62 

Thomas, A 11/2008 87  Major, J MCC 05/1999 75 

Turner, J 11/1975 62      

Waters, S 12/2005 0      

Waters, W N 
MBE 

06/1959 87      

Willett, R J 11/2002 87      

 

 

  

Page 69



 

Board membership as at 31 March 2012 

 

(% attendance relates to Board meetings in 2011-12) 

 

 

Elected: Start % Attend  Appointed: 
Local 

Authority 
Start % Attend 

Cullimore, J H 11/2008 45  Coombes, M NCC 01/2012 0 

Dartnell, C 12/2011 78  Ferris, C NCC 01/2012 67 

David, D T  07/2004 92  Hadley B *  NCC 06//2010 0 

Edwards, H 12/2011 78  Harris, J  MCC 07/2008 50 

James, D 11/2005 36  Jenkins, G CCC 01/2007 36 

Park, R L 11/1993 83  Kellaway, M NCC 07/2008 0 

Price, D J 11/2002 91  
Kelloway, 
LW 

CCC 11/2010 91 

Price, M 11/2008 91  King, T CCC 01/2012 0 

Prosser, A  11/2008 30  Lloyd, R NCC 07/2008 45 

Rowland, R J 11/1996 100  Major, J MCC 05/1999 64 

Small, J M 11/2002 73  Morris, A NCC 01/2012 0 

Stephens, B 11/1993 64  Mortimer, B NCC 01/2012 0 

Thomas, A 11/2008 92  Routley, L NCC 01/2012 0 

Turner, J 11/1975 83  Routley, W NCC 01/2012 0 

Waters, S 12/2005 27  Suller, T NCC 07/2008 55 

Waters, W N 
MBE 

06/1959 92  White, R NCC 11/2008 91 

Willett, R J 11/2002 100  Williams, D NCC 07/2008 64 

Williams, P 01/2012 100  * Finished 03/2012.   

Worman, R 07/2011 71      

 

  

Page 70



Current board membership (at 03/2013): 

 

 

Elected: Start  Appointed: 
Local 

Authority 
Start 

David, D T 
(Chairman) 

07/2004  
Derbyshire, 
B (Cllr) 

CCC 07/2012 

Willett R J  11/2002  
Evans, C 
(Cllr) 

NCC 12/2012 

Cullimore, R C 
J  

11/2008  
Hannon, P 
(Cllr) 

NCC 12/2012 

Dartnell, C 11/2011  Hepworth, R NCC 12/2012 

Edwards, H E 11/2011  
Huntley, P 
(Cllr) 

NCC 12/2012 

James, G 12/2012  Jenkins, G CCC 07/2008 

Park, R L 11/1993  Langsford, B NCC 12/2012 

Price, G D J 11/2002  Lloyd, R NCC 12/2012 

Prosser, A 12/2012  
Maxfield, C 
(Cllr) 

NCC 12/2012 

Rowland, J R 11/1996  
Mayer, D 
(Cllr) 

NCC 12/2012 

Stephens, B 11/1993  Morris, A NCC 12/2012 

Thomas, A C 
W 

11/2008  Mortimer, B NCC 12/2012 

Turner, J 11/1975  Mudd, J (Cllr) NCC 12/2012 

Waters, S 12/2005  
Murphy, P 
(Cllr) 

MCC 06/2012 

Williams, P 12/2011  Sheridan, J NCC 12/2012 

Worman, R 07/2011  Speight, A NCC 12/2012 

Vacant -  
Watkins, T 
(Cllr) 

NCC 12/2012 

Vacant  
 

-  
Webb, A 
(Cllr) 

MCC 06/2012 

   Wilson, G NCC 12/2012 

 

Page 71



17 January 2013

www.wao.gov.uk

Operations of the Forestry Commission 

Wales Follow-up Report

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 Agenda Item 3

Page 72



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report

 I have prepared this report for presentation to the National Assembly under the 

Government of Wales Act 1998 and 2006. 

The Wales Audit OfÞ ce study team comprised Jason Blewitt, Nigel Blewitt and 

Emma Giles under the direction of Alan Morris.  

Huw Vaughan Thomas

Auditor General for Wales

Wales Audit Offi ce

24 Cathedral Road

Cardiff

CF11 9LJ

The Auditor General is totally independent of the National Assembly and Government. He examines and 

certiÞ es the accounts of the Assembly Government and its sponsored and related public bodies, including NHS 

bodies in Wales. He also has the statutory power to report to the National Assembly on the economy, efÞ ciency 

and effectiveness with which those organisations have used, and may improve the use of, their resources in 

discharging their functions. 

The Auditor General also appoints auditors to local government bodies in Wales, conducts and promotes value for 

money studies in the local government sector and inspects for compliance with best value requirements under the 

Wales Programme for Improvement. However, in order to protect the constitutional position of local government, 

he does not report to the National Assembly speciÞ cally on such local government work, except where required to 

do so by statute. 

The Auditor General and his staff together comprise the Wales Audit OfÞ ce. For further information about the 

Wales Audit OfÞ ce please write to the Auditor General at the address above, telephone 029 2032 0500, 

email: wales@wao.gov.uk, or see web site http://www.wao.gov.uk 

© Auditor General for Wales 2012 

You may re-use this publication (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium. You must re-use 

it accurately and not in a misleading context. The material must be acknowledged as Auditor General for Wales 

copyright and you must give the title of this publication. Where we have identiÞ ed any third party copyright material 

you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned before re-use.

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 73



80% recycled paper

80% o bapur a ailgylchwyd

Report presented by the Auditor General for Wales to the 

National Assembly for Wales on 17 January 2013

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 74



4

Contents

 Summary 6

Recommendations 12

1 The FCW now has clear priorities linked to relevant 

performance indicators and to the Welsh Government’s 

strategy, but lack of detailed planning for delivery is 

hampering further progress 15

The FCW has established its corporate priorities, which are aligned to the Welsh 

Government’s forestry strategy and to which its staff are committed 15

The FCW has developed performance indicators to measure progress in delivering

priorities but in some cases has yet to set out the levels of performance it is 

seeking to achieve  19

The FCW has high-level plans for delivering priorities but spatial planning is not 

yet linked to Þ nancial and workforce plans 20

The FCW is in the early stages of planning the future of the forest estate and has 

developed plans to manage other key assets, but these plans will need to evolve, 

as decisions about the future composition of the estate have been put on hold 

until after April 2013 23

2 The FCW has sought to improve its core processes by 

issuing new guidance and updating procedures but some 

of the original problems persist  25

The FCW has strengthened its risk management processes but some 

weaknesses remain 25

The FCW has established a single procurement service which, if implemented 

effectively, should address weaknesses in its procurement arrangements 26

Management of aspects of timber production and sales remains weak and FCW 

has not developed its resilience to the risk of falling timber income, but it is now 

making good progress in meeting the expectations of its timber customers 32

Although FCW has made progress in key aspects of its grant management, this 

has not always been timely, nor has FCW yet achieved all of the desired outcomes  36

Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 75



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report 5

 Appendices

Appendix 1 - Our methods 41

Appendix 2 - The merger of FCW, the Countryside Council for Wales and the 

                     Environment Agency Wales 43

Appendix 3 - Grant schemes operated by FCW 44

Appendix 4 - The main responsibilities of the key delivery units within FCW 45

Appendix 5 - Indicators for which FCW has not set targets 46

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 76



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up ReportOperations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report6

Part Heading

1 The Forestry Commission Wales 

(FCW), which is currently a part of the 

Forestry Commission Great Britain, 

makes recommendations to the Welsh 

Government on its forestry policy. The FCW 

is also responsible for delivering the Welsh 

Government’s objectives for forestry as set out 

in the Wales Woodlands Strategy 

(March, 2009). 

2 From April 2013, FCW will no longer be part of 

Forestry Commission Great Britain. Together 

with the Countryside Council for Wales and 

the Environment Agency Wales it will form 

part of a new organisation called Natural 

Resources Wales (Appendix 2).

3 In order to deliver the Welsh Government’s 

forestry objectives, FCW: manages the Welsh 

Government woodland estate (some 38 per 

cent of forestry land in Wales); regulates 

forestry in Wales (including issuing licenses 

for felling and replanting); and supports the 

Welsh Government in delivering its grant 

scheme to encourage woodland creation and 

more sustainable woodland management in 

the private sector. 

4 In 2010-11, FCW generated £14.13 million 

from timber sales. It received the majority of 

the remainder of its £50 million costs from the 

Welsh Government, with some funding from 

European grant schemes. 

5 In November 2010, the National Assembly’s 

Public Accounts Committee considered the 

award by FCW of a grant to Calon yn Tyfu 

Cyf (Calon) to purchase Ffynone and Cilgwyn 

woodlands in Carmarthenshire, following 

earlier publication of a report by the Wales 

Audit OfÞ ce. The Committee had previously, 

in November 2008, considered a broader 

range of FCW’s functions, again following an 

earlier report by the Wales Audit OfÞ ce.

6 In its report on the grant award to Calon the 

Committee recommended that the Wales 

Audit OfÞ ce test the implementation by FCW 

of all recommendations made to FCW by the 

Committee and the Wales Audit OfÞ ce. 

7 This report examines whether FCW, 

where appropriate together with the Welsh 

Government, has effectively implemented 

previous audit recommendations to optimise 

the long-term beneÞ ts of forestry. In order to 

give a meaningful account of FCW’s progress 

we have grouped recommendations into a 

series of themes, such as procurement, risk 

management and grant management. 

8 We have concluded that FCW has 

made progress in taking forward audit 

recommendations but, despite this, some 

of the original challenges remain and are 

impeding delivery. 

Summary

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 77



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report 7

The FCW now has clear priorities 

linked to relevant performance 

indicators and to the Welsh 

Government’s strategy, but lack 

of detailed planning for delivery 

is hampering further progress

9 The FCW has established its corporate 

priorities, which are aligned to the Welsh 

Government’s forestry policy and to 

which its staff are committed. Previous 

audit work identiÞ ed a lack of clear corporate 

strategic direction and alignment with Welsh 

Government objectives. Since our previous 

work, FCW has ensured that its priorities 

are linked to the Welsh Government’s 

March 2009 strategy for forestry in Wales 

(the Wales Woodland Strategy). The FCW’s 

clear strategic priorities are supported by a 

stronger corporate culture where staff appear 

united around a clearly understood corporate 

direction and understand their own role in 

delivering FCW’s objectives. The FCW has 

also improved its corporate communications, 

to better inform external stakeholders and 

staff of its role, purpose and direction. 

However, a 2011 staff survey showed that 

there was scope for FCW to further improve 

communication by senior staff. 

10 The FCW has developed performance 

indicators to measure progress in 

delivering priorities but in some cases has 

yet to set out the levels of performance 

it is seeking to achieve. The FCW has 

developed a set of indicators which are 

aligned to its corporate priorities and can be 

used to demonstrate its contribution to the 

intended outcomes of the Wales Woodland 

Strategy. The FCW told us that for some of 

the more complex indicators it did not have, at 

the time of developing the indicators, the data 

needed: to establish a baseline measure; to 

measure trends; and to set targets. When the 

National Forest Inventory becomes available 

in 2014, FCW will need to assess the scale of 

the change it wishes to achieve across Welsh 

woodlands and identify the resources needed 

and the likely timescale for delivering that 

change.

11 The FCW has high-level plans for 

delivering its priorities but spatial planning 

is not yet linked to fi nancial and workforce 

plans. The FCW has established 10 

‘corporate programmes’ to deliver its corporate 

priorities. These programmes are essentially 

action plans which identify tasks, ascribe tasks 

to a responsible owner and set out a timescale 

for completing the required action. While the 

programmes have added clarity to how FCW 

intends to achieve its objectives there remain 

some important gaps in its plans for delivery, 

especially spatial, workforce and Þ nancial 

planning.

12 The FCW recognises that it cannot, and 

should not, do everything everywhere: 

some actions need to be targeted at speciÞ c 

geographical regions. Spatial planning is the 

process by which FCW identiÞ es which tasks 

it should carry out in which areas of Wales. As 

a result of the decision to proceed with Natural 

Resources Wales, FCW dropped its original 

intention to develop a comprehensive formal 

spatial plan. Instead it is taking forwards 

spatial planning on a case-by-case basis as 

part of the corporate programmes. We have 

seen evidence that spatial planning is under 

way, including work to prioritise action in the 

most deprived areas of Wales, but it is not 

yet comprehensive and FCW recognises that 

further progress is a key priority. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 78



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report8

13 The progress made to date on spatial planning 

has impacted on FCW’s ability to accurately 

plan the Þ nancial and staff resources needed 

to deliver its objectives. The FCW still cannot 

accurately cost its corporate programmes as it 

has yet to develop a complete understanding 

of which tasks should be carried out in 

which areas of Wales. In the interim, FCW 

has taken a number of important steps to 

align its Þ nancial processes with its intended 

outcomes, for example, it has introduced an 

Accounting by Objectives system, so that 

its accounting systems are now structured 

around its 10 corporate programmes. 

However, as in 2008, Þ nancial planning is 

predominantly ‘bottom up’, that is, driven by 

the Þ nances that have historically been made 

available to the local areas, rather than by 

strategic priorities. The developing nature of 

its spatial planning also impacts on FCW’s 

ability to carry out robust workforce planning. 

The FCW’s current StafÞ ng Action Plan 

does not assess whether FCW has the right 

skills mix in the right locations to deliver its 

corporate priorities. Nor does the action plan 

set out what actions, if any, FCW needs to 

take to ensure that it has the right number of 

appropriately skilled staff in the right places 

to deliver its corporate priorities. Only when it 

has comprehensive business plans that link 

corporate priorities to clear spatial, Þ nancial 

and workforce plans will FCW be able to plan 

for the longer term.

14 The FCW is in the early stages of planning 

the future of the forest estate and has 

developed plans to manage other key 

assets, but these plans will need to evolve, 

as decisions about the future composition 

of the estate have been put on hold until 

after April 2013. In 2008, we recommended 

that FCW and the Welsh Government develop 

a clear strategy for the future development 

of the forest estate, including proposals for 

the disposal and acquisition of land and for 

the use of any receipts. In February 2011, 

FCW and the Welsh Government agreed 

a set of principles to underpin the future 

development of the estate. This agreement 

was the culmination of work started in March 

2009, when the Minister for Rural Affairs 

commissioned FCW to review the future 

of the publicly owned estate and its role in 

delivering the Welsh Government’s objectives 

for forestry.

15 The FCW has made progress in taking 

forward the principles agreed in February 

2011, but key decisions have been postponed 

following the decision to establish Natural 

Resources Wales. The FCW has assessed the 

extent to which individual blocks of woodland 

can contribute to delivering its priorities and 

considered options for disposing of land, either 

through sales or through transfer to the third 

sector. The FCW established a ‘Repositioning 

Programme’ to oversee its disposal and 

acquisition of land and it has established 

a reserve of £0.8 million to fund new land 

acquisitions. The FCW is also exploring ways 

of acquiring land through methods other than 

buying the freehold, for example through long-

term leases. However, FCW told us that it 

decided to put on hold much of the decision 

making and detailed planning needed to take 

forward its work on acquiring and disposing 

of land. It believes these decisions should be 

taken by Natural Resources Wales, which will 

be launched in April 2013. 

16 The FCW has reviewed all of its other 

signiÞ cant non-estate assets to assess 

whether they are needed, Þ t for purpose, and 

are in the right location. However, despite 

this good progress, there remain weaknesses 

and risks in aspects of FCW’s management 

of both its estate and non-estate assets. 

The FCW has not developed performance 

measures, to enable it to assess the success 

of its asset management plans and strategies, 

and decisions about the future composition of 

the estate, which might well impact on FCW’s 

plans for its other assets, have yet to be 

made.  

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 79



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report 9

The FCW has sought to improve 

its core processes by issuing 

new guidance and updating 

procedures but some of the 

original problems persist 

17 The FCW has strengthened its risk 

management processes but some 

weaknesses remain. The FCW has made 

progress in some of the areas of risk 

management where we had previously 

expressed concerns. The FCW has: 

established risk registers for key areas of its 

business; improved the frequency with which 

risk registers are reviewed; and provided 

appropriate levels of risk management training 

for its staff. However, FCW still does not align 

its risks to its corporate priorities. (The FCW 

told us that it had decided that there was no 

real beneÞ t in doing so as the majority of its 

risks were cross-cutting.) Nor is it clear that 

FCW has identiÞ ed opportunities to improve 

the way it runs its business and delivers its 

responsibilities – even though its own risk 

management policy requires it to do so. 

18 The FCW has established a single 

procurement service which, if implemented 

effectively, should address weaknesses 

in its procurement arrangements. In April 

2012, FCW established a single procurement 

service. The team of seven staff led by a 

qualiÞ ed head of procurement is responsible 

for undertaking all procurement activity 

over £20,000. This was in response to 

FCW identifying a number of non-compliant 

procurement processes, despite the actions 

it took to improve procurement subsequent to 

our 2008 report. 

19 Where it has sought to review expenditure 

through Government Procurement Cards 

limited data in terms of the types of goods 

and services being purchased through these 

cards has prevented a full trend analysis 

with regard to spend. And, although, it has 

developed a procurement strategy, FCW has 

not established an approach for measuring its 

success in delivering that strategy. 

20 In 2008, we found that FCW’s expenditure 

was weighted towards the year end and that 

this risked hurried year end spending with 

the allied risk of poor procurement planning. 

This study found that, while spending was still 

weighted towards the last two quarters of the 

year, the tendency was less pronounced than 

we had found in 2008. The FCW told us that 

this pattern of expenditure reß ected the nature 

of its business, as planting and restocking 

takes place in the spring. 

21 Management of aspects of timber 

production and sales remains weak and 

FCW has not developed its resilience to 

the risk of falling timber income, but it 

is making good progress in meeting its 

commitments to its timber customers. The 

FCW is now more reliant upon timber income 

as its income from other sources has declined 

since we reported in 2008. In 2007-08, FCW 

generated £14.6 million in income from 

non-timber sales, primarily through European 

grants. By 2010-11, FCW’s income from 

sources other than timber sales had fallen to 

£5.8 million. This failure to diversify its income 

base makes FCW vulnerable to falling timber 

prices. The FCW is also under a Ministerial 

direction to increase the income generated by 

the publicly owned estate, particularly through 

renewable energy generation, but also through 

using the estate as a site for forest-based 

holidays. The FCW has taken a number of 

actions to enhance its income from sources 

other than timber sales, but the income 

generated from non-timber sources remains 

as yet small-scale.

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 80



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report10

22 In 2008, we recommended that FCW 

develop clear contingency plans to deal with 

ß uctuations in the timber market and carry out 

scenario planning to assess the opportunities 

and risks from falling or rising timber income. It 

has not met either of these recommendations. 

However, it has taken a number of actions 

to enhance the stability of its income from 

timber, thereby, it argues, reducing the need to 

scenario and contingency plan. 

23 Key aspects of FCW’s approach to selling 

timber are not sufÞ ciently evidenced or 

monitored. The FCW’s Timber Marketing 

Strategy (2011-2016) contains a number of 

objectives including to ‘secure best value from 

the sale of timber’. However, the performance 

measures developed by FCW do not cover the 

full range of objectives set out in the strategy. 

The strategy also sets out FCW’s approach to 

selling timber through direct production and 

standing sales (Box 1) and through 

short-term and long-term contracts (Box 2). 

We found that FCW had not implemented our 

recommendations to address key weaknesses 

in its strategic approach to selling timber and 

its management of contracts. As a result, we 

cannot be conÞ dent that FCW is securing 

good value for money from its sale of timber. 

Particular weaknesses we identiÞ ed include: 

 a work by FCW to identify the factors 

impacting on the proÞ tability of standing 

sales and direct production has yet to 

be used to inform decisions about the 

appropriate balance between these two 

methods of timber production;

 b the FCW has not, as we recommended, 

carried out a cost-beneÞ t analysis on 

timber contracts to assess the impact on 

its income of extending contract end dates; 

and

 c despite introducing new guidance on 

managing extensions to contracts, in 

the majority of cases, where contracts 

had been extended, staff were not 

implementing the correct procedures for 

authorising such extensions. 

24 For each of the Þ ve years between 1 April 

2006 and 31 March 2011, FCW guaranteed 

to bring 770,000 cubic metres of timber to the 

market. We found that FCW did not deliver 

this volume in three of the Þ ve years, but over 

the full Þ ve-year period FCW met (and slightly 

exceeded) its commitments to the timber 

industry. The FCW told us that it would expect 

to see annual variations against these targets. 

Furthermore, FCW’s timber customers told 

us that FCW was performing well in terms of 

meeting their expectations. 

Box 1 – Direct production and standing sales

Direct production – The FCW harvests the timber 

itself and sells the timber ‘at the roadside’ as logs.

Standing sales – Trees are sold to customers 

standing and the customers harvest the trees

Box 2 – Long-term contracts and short-term 

contracts

Long-term contracts – Since 1997 FCW has sold 

some of its timber through long-term contracts of 

between Þ ve to seven years. The FCW has set up an 

independent panel to make decisions about which 

companies should be awarded long-term contracts. 

Short-term contracts – These contracts cover 

shorter periods of usually up to 12 months.

Source: Wales Audit Offi ce

Source: Wales Audit Offi ce

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 81



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report 11

25 Although FCW has made progress in key 

aspects of its grant management, thishas 

not always been timely, nor has FCW yet 

achieved all of the desired outcomes.

The Wales Audit OfÞ ce and the Public 

Accounts Committee reported, in 2010 

and 2011 respectively, on FCW’s award (of 

£502,000) to a not-for-proÞ t organisation 

(known as Calon) to purchase the Ffynone 

and Cilgwyn woodlands. The award was 

made under FCW’s Cydcoed grant scheme 

(Appendix 3). The Public Accounts Committee 

concluded that the structure of FCW’s 

Cydcoed scheme was such that there was a 

‘signiÞ cant risk’ that the local community would 

not be sufÞ ciently represented in the grant 

award process. 

26 The FCW has sought to improve its overall 

processes for involving communities in the 

grant award process by issuing new guidance. 

No new grant projects have come on stream 

since FCW issued the new guidance, and 

so we have been unable to test FCW’s 

implementation of its new guidance. 

27 In line with our recommendations, FCW has 

worked with Calon in an effort to improve 

long-term public access to, and public 

engagement in, decision making around the 

Ffynone and Cilgwyn woodlands. However, 

despite FCW’s actions, the intended outcomes 

of our recommendations have not yet been 

achieved. The terms of FCW’s contract with 

Calon constrain FCW’s ability to act alone, and 

mean that it can do no more than encourage 

Calon to engage with the community and to 

give the community long-term access to the 

woodland. 

28 Our routine audit work on FCW’s Wood 

Energy Business Scheme (Appendix 3) in 

2009-10 identiÞ ed serious weaknesses with 

the scheme which we reported to FCW. This 

year’s audit work concluded that there had 

been improvements in the control framework 

for the scheme. However, these only followed 

critical audit reports and the withholding of 

grant money by the Welsh European Funding 

OfÞ ce. 

29 Where FCW has sought to learn lessons from 

its implementation of its Better Woodlands for 

Wales grant scheme (Appendix 3), it has not 

done this as effectively as it might have done. 

For example, the FCW has established two 

performance indicators for the scheme, but 

has still not developed a suite of indicators 

that cover the full range of the intended 

beneÞ ts of the scheme, as we recommended 

in 2008. 

  

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 82



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up ReportOperations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report12

Recommendations

From April 2013, FCW’s functions will be 

delivered by Natural Resources Wales. Therefore, 

Natural Resources Wales will be responsible for 

implementing the recommendations. An early 

action should be to set out who within the new 

organisation will be responsible for taking forward 

each recommendation. 

To link corporate priorities to local planning, 

resource allocation and workforce planning

The FCW has established its corporate priorities 

and has high-level plans for delivering its priorities 

but spatial planning is not yet linked to Þ nancial and 

workforce plans. 

1 When Natural Resources Wales has an 

adequate understanding of where key actions 

should be targeted, we recommend that:

 a an assessment is made of what this means 

for the current and future skills mix; 

 b the corporate programmes are costed 

to determine the timescales for delivery, 

given the likely availability of resources; 

and

 c local forest design plans are updated.

To further strengthen core business processes

Procurement

In April 2012, the FCW established a single 

procurement service which, if implemented 

effectively, should address weaknesses in its 

procurement. However, in other areas of its 

business FCW has struggled to implement 

new procedures and guidance, and so testing 

the implementation of the single procurement 

service is fundamental. Weaknesses in FCW’s 

procurement arrangements identiÞ ed by this study, 

included: limited data in terms of the types of goods 

and services being purchased by Government 

Procurement Cards precluding a full trend analysis 

with regard to spend on these cards; and the 

absence of measures to assess the success of 

FCW’s procurement strategy. 

2 We recommend that:

 a there is a review of the operation of the 

single procurement service to assess 

whether it is operating as expected and 

delivering the intended improvements; 

 b the procurement service develops an 

approach to measuring performance 

against the objectives set out in FCW’s 

procurement strategy; and

 c the single procurement service further 

reviews purchases through Government 

Procurement Cards to assess whether the 

goods and services purchased could be 

procured in other more cost-effective ways.

Risk management

It is unclear whether FCW has identiÞ ed 

opportunities to improve the way in which it does 

its business and delivers its responsibilities – even 

though its own risk management policy requires it to 

do so. The FCW’s corporate risk register does not 

explicitly identify opportunities. We are uncertain as 

to whether this is because FCW has not identiÞ ed 

any opportunities which it feels merit inclusion within 

its corporate risk register, or whether it is because 

FCW has not undertaken an examination of the 

opportunities before it. The FCW has not met our 

2008 recommendation that it should link its risk 

register clearly with its corporate objectives. 

3 We recommend that Natural Resources Wales 

consider the merit of:

 a formally identifying opportunities within its 

risk registers; and

 b aligning risks to corporate priorities, where 

appropriate.

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 83



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report 13

To manage its resources more effectively

Timber production and forecasting

The FCW’s Timber Marketing Strategy 

(2011-2016) did not establish how FCW would 

measure the success of the strategy. Nor was the 

approach towards key aspects of timber production 

set out in the strategy underpinned by sufÞ cient 

evidence. 

4 We recommend that Natural Resources 

Wales:

 a establishes an approach to measuring, 

evaluating and reporting on the success of 

its timber strategy; and

 b feeds the results of the FCW’s work on 

the factors affecting the proÞ tability of 

direct production and standing sales 

into a wider cost-beneÞ t analysis, to 

ensure that its future decisions about the 

balance between these two methods are 

underpinned by sufÞ cient evidence.

In 2009, FCW issued revised guidance (which 

was further updated in April 2010) setting out the 

procedures staff needed to apply to authorise 

timber extractions over contract levels. Our testing 

showed that staff were not implementing these new 

procedures. 

5 We recommend that:

 a a review is undertaken of the reasons 

for non-compliance with procedures, to 

identify areas for improvement such as 

revisions to guidance or additional staff 

training; 

 b spot checks are made of a sample 

of contracts to ensure that staff are 

implementing guidelines; and 

 c a cost-beneÞ t analysis is undertaken 

of the impacts on income of extending 

contracts beyond the contract end date 

and authorising contractors to extract more 

timber than agreed in contracts.

The FCW has taken some action to help it secure 

income from sources other than timber. However, 

since we reported in November 2008, FCW’s 

income from non-timber sources has fallen from 

£14.6 million in 2007-08 to £5.8 million in 2010-11. 

6 We recommend that Natural Resources Wales 

develops a formal strategy and action plan 

to increase its income from sources other 

than timber. Any such strategy would need 

to be tied in with the ongoing work on the 

future development of the forest estate and 

would need to be monitored to ensure it was 

delivering the anticipated beneÞ ts.

Acquiring and disposing of forest land

The FCW has undertaken a wide range of activities 

to develop its understanding of how the estate can 

contribute to the delivery of the Welsh Government 

forestry objectives. However, the detailed decision 

making and planning needed to take this work 

forward has been paused until the launch of Natural 

Resources Wales, in April 2013. 

7 We recommend that Natural Resources Wales 

sets out, as a matter of priority, a timetable for 

how it will build upon the progress made by 

FCW in identifying how the estate can best 

contribute to Welsh Government’s objectives.

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 84



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report14

To manage change effectively 

Results from the most recent employee opinion 

survey demonstrate that FCW has made good 

progress in developing a stronger corporate culture. 

Staff appear united around a clearly understood 

corporate direction and understand their own role in 

delivering its objectives. However, the transition to 

Natural Resources Wales will be a period of change 

for staff which may undermine the good progress 

made. 

8 We recommend that to mitigate this risk a 

staff survey is undertaken in the early days 

of Natural Resources Wales to capture the 

impacts of the merger on such factors as staff 

engagement, and relevant actions are taken to 

address the results of the survey.

To develop a culture of continuous improvement 

by enhancing learning from review, scrutiny and 

challenge

A number of the recommendations made above 

were also made in previous audit reports. For 

example, it had been previously recommended 

that FCW: carries out robust workforce planning; 

develops risk management arrangements to identify 

both opportunities and threats; and assesses 

the costs and beneÞ ts of changing the balance 

between direct production and standing sales. In its 

2009 report on the operations of FCW, the Public 

Accounts Committee recommended that ‘the Welsh 

Government work with Forestry Commission Wales 

to ensure implementation of the recommendations 

made to that organisation, both by the Auditor 

General and this Committee’. 

9 We recommend that:

 a Natural Resources Wales ensures that it 

puts in place arrangements for the periodic 

scrutiny of the implementation of all audit 

recommendations.

 b The Welsh Government reviews the way 

in which it takes assurance that both 

its own departments and organisations 

which it funds to deliver its objectives are 

implementing audit recommendations. 

The review should look at how the Welsh 

Government takes assurance, not only 

that organisations and/departments 

are updating policies, guidance and 

procedures, but that any such changes 

are being implemented effectively and 

delivering their intended beneÞ ts. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 85



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report 15

Part 1 - The FCW now has clear priorities linked to relevant 

performance indicators and to the Welsh Government’s strategy, 

but lack of detailed planning for delivery is hampering further 

progress

1.1 In 2008, we found that FCW staff did not feel 

that there was a clear set of organisational 

priorities and that FCW’s corporate plan did 

not link priorities to resources. This part of the 

report looks at the progress FCW has made in 

establishing a clear corporate direction which 

is underpinned by robust plans for delivery. 

The FCW has established its 

corporate priorities, which 

are aligned to the Welsh 

Government’s forestry strategy 

and to which its staff are 

committed

1.2 In 2001, the Welsh Government published its 

50-year vision for forestry entitled Woodlands

for Wales. In March 2009, the Welsh 

Government published a revised strategy, 

which retained the same name. This report 

will refer to the March 2009 document as the 

Wales Woodlands Strategy, to distinguish it 

from the 2001 Woodlands for Wales strategy. 

The Wales Woodlands Strategy reiterated the 

Welsh Government’s ambitions for a broader 

forestry agenda1 and incorporated new policy 

priorities, notably climate change. 

1.3 The Wales Woodlands Strategy sets out, 

under a series of themes, the outcomes that 

the Welsh Government expects for and from 

Welsh woodlands. There is an overarching 

‘foundation theme’, called Welsh woodlands 

and trees, and this theme has six high-level 

outcomes (Figure 1). The overarching theme 

and its associated outcomes are underpinned 

by four ‘strategic themes’ for forestry in Wales 

linked to 14 outcomes. 

1.4 The FCW has made good progress in setting 

out a clear corporate plan and priorities, 

linked to the Welsh Government’s strategy. 

Over the course of this study FCW revised 

its 2011-2014 corporate plan, and published 

a corporate plan covering 2012-2015. The 

FCW’s corporate plan (2011-2014) clearly set 

out nine priorities for action that are aligned to 

the Wales Woodlands Strategy themes. The 

2011-14 corporate plan did not make explicit 

links between FCW’s nine priorities and the 

Wales Woodlands Strategy outcomes, but this 

was addressed in FCW’s 2012-2015 corporate 

plan.

1.5 In addition to having clear priorities on paper, 

results from the most recent employee 

opinion survey demonstrate that FCW has 

made good progress in developing a stronger 

corporate culture. Staff appear united around 

a clearly understood corporate direction and 

understand their own role in delivering its 

objectives (Figure 2).

1  The Welsh Government’s 2001 strategy Woodlands for Wales set out a new direction for woodlands. It signalled a shift away from ‘single purpose plantations’ (aimed at 

supporting timber industries) towards the use of woodlands and forests to support the delivery of a wide range of Welsh Government social, economic and environmental 

policies.

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 86



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report16

Woodlands fo
r P

eop
le

A
 C

o
m

p
etitive and Intergrated Forest Sector

 E
n

vi
ro

n
m

enta
l Q

ualit
y

Responding to Clim
ate C

h
a

n
g

e

Welsh Woodlands and Trees

1. More woodlands and trees are

managed sustainably

2. Woodland ecosystems are

healthy and resilient

3. Woodlands are better adapted to 

deliver a full range of bene�ts

4. Woodland cover in Wales increases

5. The management of woodland and trees

is more closely related to other land uses

6. Urban woodlands and trees

deliver a full range of bene�ts

7. Welsh woodland 

contribute to reducing the 

carbon footprint of Wales

 Many of the outcomes in the 

other sections also relate to climate 

change, which can be

thought of as cross cutting

8. More communities bene�t 

from woodlands and trees
9. M

ore people enjoy

 the life long learning

 bene�ts of woodlands and

 their products

10. M
o

re p
eo

p
le live

h
ealth

ier lives as a resu
lt o

f

th
eir u

se an
d

 en
joym

en
t

o
f w

o
o

d
lan

d
s

1
1

. M
o

re
 p

e
o

p
le

 b
e

n
e

�
t

fro
m

 w
o

o
d

la
n

d
 re

la
te

d
 

e
n

te
rp

rise
s

1
2

. M
o

re
 w

e
ls

h
-g

ro
w

n
ti

m
b

e
r 

is
 u

se
d

 in
 W

al
e

s14. In
cre

ase
d u

se
 o

f t
im

ber

as a
 key re

newable re
so

urc
e

15. A thriving, skilled workforce

in the forestry sector

16. Woodland management
achieves higher standards of
environmental stewardship

17. Woodlands and trees of 

special conservation value

are in favourable management

18. W
oodland biodiversity is

supported & native woodland

is  in favourable m
anagem

ent

2
0

. N
e

w
 an

d
 e

xistin
g

 w
o

o
d

lan
d

s

an
d

 tre
e

s co
n

trib
u

te
 to

w
ate

r an
d

 so
il m

an
ag

e
m

e
n

t

19. W
oodlands and trees m

ake

a positive contribution to the

special landscape character

of W
ales and to sites of H

eritage

and cultural im
portance

13
. T

h
e 

fo
re

st
 s

ec
to

r 
is

b
et

te
r 

in
te

rt
g

ra
te

d
 a

n
d

 m
o

re

co
m

p
et

it
iv

e,
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 t

h
e

w
el

sh
 e

co
n

o
m

y

Source: The Wales Woodlands Strategy, March 2009

Figure 1 – The outcomes the Welsh Government expects for, and from, Welsh woodlands 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 87



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report 17

Source: FCW staff survey report, December 2011

Figure 2 – A 2011 staff survey indicated that the majority of staff were committed to FCW’s strategic 

direction and understood how they contributed to its objectives 

In September 2011, Forestry Commission Great Britain commissioned Capita Surveys and Research to conduct 

its staff survey. Staff across all three of the countries comprising Forestry Commission Great Britain were given 

the opportunity to complete the survey online, via the telephone or on paper. The overall response rate for 

Forestry Commission Great Britain and FCW was 60 per cent and 76 per cent respectively. 

The survey calculated what is known as an ‘employee engagement score’, which is based on employee 

responses to the following three statements (in all cases the percentage Þ gure reß ects the percentage of FCW 

employees who agreed or strongly agreed with the statement):

• ‘I am proud when I tell others I work for the commission’ (80 per cent);

• ‘I would recommend the commission as a place to work’ (73 per cent); and

• ‘I feel committed to the commission’s purposes and objectives’ (81 per cent).

Across FCW, the employee engagement score was 78 per cent, compared to 69 per cent across Forestry 

Commission Great Britain as a whole. (In a survey of its own staff, the Welsh Government also used the same 

three questions to calculate its employee engagement score. It achieved a score of 47 per cent.) 

Other relevant results included:

• 78 per cent of staff agreed/strongly agreed with the statement ‘I have a clear understanding of the 

commission’s purpose’; 

• 78 per cent of staff agreed/strongly agreed with the statement ‘I have a clear understanding of the 

commission’s objectives’; 

• 89 per cent of staff agreed/strongly agreed with the statement ‘I understand how my work contributes to the 

commission’s objectives’; and

• 93 per cent of staff agreed/strongly agreed with the statement ‘I understand how my work contributes to my 

team’s objectives’.

1.6 Since 2009, FCW has run all-Wales staff 

meetings, the purpose of which has been, in 

part, to develop a shared sense of purpose. 

As of March 2012, FCW had held three such 

all-staff meetings. The FCW sought staff 

views of the meetings, and told us it had 

used staff feedback to further shape internal 

communications. Despite this it remains 

our view that, as only 35 per cent of those 

attending the most recent (2011) all-staff 

meeting completed the evaluation form, it 

is difÞ cult for either us or FCW to assess 

whether these meetings are delivering their 

intended objectives. The FCW is considering 

ways of encouraging more staff to provide 

feedback. 

1.7 In 2008, we recommended that FCW develop 

a strategic communications plan. It was our 

intention that this should be used to both 

support external stakeholders’ understanding 

of FCW’s corporate priorities and allow FCW 

to better engage with staff. The current study 

found that FCW has met this recommendation, 

and was in the early stages of developing an 

approach to evaluating these actions, but the 

merger decision put the proposed evaluation 

on hold (Figure 3).

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 88



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report18

In 2009, FCW published a three-year strategic communications plan, which is ‘refreshed’ on an annual basis. 

The plan sets out the key communication messages FCW wishes to convey under each of the Wales Woodlands 

Strategy themes. For example, under the theme ‘a competitive and integrated forest sector’, the strategic 

communications plan states that FCW will stress the message that ‘locally-grown, certiÞ ed timber is a sustainable 

renewable resource with many uses’.

The decision to refresh the plan annually ensures that FCW’s communications strategy remains up to date and 

responsive to changing circumstances. Both the refreshed plans for 2010-11 and 2011-12 set out the need for 

FCW to focus its communication efforts on messages that promote the economic beneÞ ts of forestry in terms of 

promoting jobs, enterprises and business, in response to the economic downturn and the Welsh Government’s 

emphasis on economic renewal. 

The FCW also uses the opportunity to annually update the plan to look forward and identify where it might wish 

to focus its communications efforts in the future. For example, in 2011, FCW identiÞ ed that in the next three years 

it was likely to need to prioritise its communications efforts around the involvement of communities in woodlands. 

Emerging plans to reposition the publicly owned forest estate are focused on encouraging more community use 

and ownership of woodlands.

The FCW was planning to evaluate the impacts of a small number of projects where it felt its communications 

had been particularly strong. But, FCW has not carried this out, due initially to stafÞ ng constraints and then to the 

merger process, which has required signiÞ cant input from FCW’s communications staff. 

The December 2011 staff survey found that:

• 81 per cent of staff agreed/strongly agreed with the statement ‘my line manager clearly explains my team’s 

purpose, objectives and plans’, the respective rating from the 2009 survey was 72 per cent;

•  61 per cent of staff agreed/strongly agreed with the statement ‘senior managers are sufÞ ciently visible within 

the commission’, the respective rating from the 2009 survey was 49 per cent; and

•  47 per cent of staff agreed/strongly agreed with the statement ‘senior managers communicate effectively’, the 

respective rating from the 2009 survey was 36 per cent.

Figure 3 – The FCW has developed a strategic communications plan to both support external 

stakeholders’ understanding of its strategic objectives and better engage staff with its priorities 

Figure 4 –  Communication by line managers is viewed more positively than communication by 

senior managers

Source: Wales Audit Offi ce

Source: FCW staff survey report, December 2011

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 89



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report 19

1.8 However, the results from the recent staff 

survey also suggest that FCW needs to 

further improve communication by senior 

staff. Staff were asked to respond to a series 

of statements about the effectiveness of 

communication by line managers and senior 

staff. Communication by line managers was 

viewed more positively than communication by 

senior managers, although there has been an 

improvement since these questions were last 

asked about senior managers in 2009 

(Figure 4). 

The FCW has developed 

performance indicators to 

measure progress in delivering 

priorities but in some cases 

has yet to set out the levels of 

performance it is seeking to 

achieve

1.9 In 2008, we found that FCW’s key 

performance indicators were insufÞ ciently 

linked to its strategic objectives and to 

Woodlands for Wales indicators. As a 

result, it was difÞ cult for FCW to assess its 

performance in delivering the key forestry 

strategy for Wales. Since then FCW has, 

as we recommended, reviewed its key 

performance indicators. To measure progress 

in delivering its strategic priorities, the FCW 

has established 31 indicators. The FCW can 

demonstrate how this set of indicators can be 

used to assess its contribution to the Wales 

Woodlands Strategy outcomes. The FCW 

has also established a separate set of 15 

indicators (covering 2009-2012) to assess how 

well it is operating as a business. 

1.10 The FCW sought to establish targets for the 

period covered in the corporate plan (2009-

2012) and longer-term targets covering the 

period until 20252. However, FCW did not set 

targets for all of its 31 indicators (Appendix 

5), despite some of these indicators clearly 

lending themselves to numerical targets. It 

is not our view that the sole way to assess 

performance is through the use of numeric 

targets but it is our view that the following 

examples of FCW indicators should have 

numerical targets associated with them: 

 a area outside of the publicly owned estate 

managed by Continuous Cover Forestry, or 

under transformation to Continuous Cover 

Forestry3;

 b area of native woodland; and

 c proportion of native woodland in 

favourable/recovering condition.

1.11 The FCW told us that, for some of the more 

complex indicators, such as proportion of 

native woodland in favourable/recovering 

condition, it did not at the time of writing the 

2009-2012 performance indicators, have the 

information needed to determine sensible 

targets. The FCW also told us that for those 

indicators where it does not yet have targets, 

it has identiÞ ed the data sets needed to 

establish a baseline, measure trends and set 

targets. When the National Forest Inventory 

becomes available in 2014, FCW will need to 

assess the scale of change it wants to achieve 

across the Welsh forests and identify the 

resources needed and the likely timescales for 

delivering that change.

2  The FCW told us that it had chosen the period to the end of 2025, as this reß ects the half-way point of the 50-year vision for Welsh woodlands, as set out in the original 2001 

Woodlands for Wales strategy.

3   What is continuous cover forestry? Forestry Commission Great Britain, October 1999

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 90



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report20

The FCW has high-level plans for 

delivering priorities but spatial 

planning is not yet linked to 

fi nancial and workforce plans

1.12 This part of the report looks at the quality of 

the planning FCW has undertaken to deliver 

its intended objectives. It particularly considers 

FCW’s progress in identifying where to deliver 

priority actions (known as spatial planning), 

and in identifying and allocating resources 

(both Þ nancial and human) to its priorities. 

The FCW has high-level plans setting out what it 

intends to do to deliver its corporate priorities

1.13 The FCW’s high-level plans are set out in 

its 10 ‘corporate programmes’. Each of the 

corporate programmes is broken down into 

a series of sub-programmes, which are 

further broken down into a series of tasks. 

Each task is accompanied by a timescale 

for delivery and responsibility for delivering 

that task is ascribed to a lead unit within 

FCW. For example, as part of delivering its 

priority of using Welsh woodlands to mitigate 

the impacts of climate change, FCW has 

established a renewable energy corporate 

programme. Within the renewable energy 

programme is a sub-programme to facilitate 

community scale renewable energy. Actions 

under this sub-programme are ascribed to 

FCW’s Estates Management Group and the 

Policy, Programmes and Development team 

and timescales are also identiÞ ed.

1.14 In response to the merger decision, FCW 

has reviewed the tasks supporting delivery 

of its 10 corporate programmes to identify 

which actions are ‘critical’ and which actions 

are of a lower priority. It has then used this 

assessment to further prioritise its work. 

Spatial planning is under way but is not yet 

linked to high-level financial and workforce 

plans, and FCW has identifi ed that further 

progress in this area is a priority 

1.15 The FCW is clear that some tasks within the 

corporate programmes cannot, and should 

not, be carried out across Wales as a whole, 

but should be targeted at speciÞ c geographical 

regions. Spatial planning is the process by 

which FCW identiÞ es which tasks it should 

carry out in which areas of Wales.

1.16 The FCW had originally intended to take 

forward spatial planning through the 

development of a formal strategic spatial plan, 

which would be in place to inform the 2013 

round of business planning. The decision 

to establish Natural Resources Wales led 

FCW to adopt a different approach, namely 

to produce spatial plans on a case-by-case 

basis, as and when such plans were needed 

to inform decisions.

1.17 Overall, the process of spatial planning 

is underway across the 10 corporate 

programmes, although work is more 

developed in some programmes than others. 

For example, FCW has, together with the 

Welsh Government, developed ‘planting 

maps’, which are already informing decisions 

about where to fund woodland creation 

on privately owned woodland. In regard 

to recreation and access, FCW is at an 

earlier stage of reviewing and mapping its 

recreation sites. This pattern of progress is to 

be expected. Some corporate programmes 

have been established for longer than others; 

the Þ rst corporate programme was agreed 

in September 2009 and the Þ nal programme 

agreed in November 2010. 

1.18 In autumn 2011, FCW assessed its progress 

in delivering its corporate programmes and 

concluded that it needed to accelerate its 

spatial planning to enhance delivery of its 

programmes. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 91



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report 21

1.19 Since then, FCW has completed what it told 

us were two key spatial planning exercises:

 a In July 2012, the Environment Minister 

launched the revised Ancient Woodland 

Inventory. One of the aims of the new 

inventory is to help to steer development 

away from ancient woodlands, as the 

Welsh Government’s Planning Policy 

Wales, which gives guidance to local 

authorities, recognises the importance of 

these ancient woodland sites.

 b In October, 2012, FCW published its 

Strategic Assessment of the Afforested 

Peat Resource in Wales, which includes 

for the Þ rst time a detailed assessment 

of deep peat that has been planted with 

trees. This inventory will help FCW and 

others to assess the potential/feasibility 

for restoration of peat sites which have 

previously been planted with trees.

1.20 The FCW has carried out a number of other 

actions to improve its planning process, and 

spatial planning in particular:

 a The FCW has a project to improve the 

quality and management of its spatial data.

 b The four Forest Districts4 have not updated 

their plans to reß ect and align with FCW’s 

corporate priorities. In part to address this, 

in April 2012, FCW appointed a Wales 

Planning OfÞ cer to ensure that FCW’s 

strategic and operational forest planning 

processes are aligned with its corporate 

programmes. 

 c  The FCW is piloting its approach to spatial 

prioritisation through its involvement in 

the Heads of the Valleys and the Western 

Valleys regeneration areas (Figure 5). 

 d  The FCW carried out a review to identify 

how to free up resources to carry out more 

forest-level planning. This review work 

concluded in February 2012 with FCW’s 

Management Board deciding to centralise 

its local forest planning function. 

1.21 Initially, FCW decided not to work out the 

precise cost of its corporate programmes 

until they had all been developed. At the start 

of the process of developing the corporate 

programmes, FCW’s Management Board 

agreed that it was inevitable that some actions 

would cut across corporate programmes and 

contribute to the delivery of more than one 

corporate priority. The details of which actions 

will cut across corporate programmes would 

only become clear when all 10 programmes 

had been developed. So in delaying the 

costing until it had developed all corporate 

programmes, FCW was seeking to identify the 

synergies and linkages between programmes 

and develop a more accurate understanding 

of the costs of the programmes. At the outset, 

FCW also concluded that it was only when 

all programmes had been fully developed 

and costed that they could then be linked to 

business planning processes. 

1.22 Now that the 10 programmes have been 

developed, FCW should be in a position to 

undertake comprehensive Þ nancial planning. 

However, the absence of a complete set of 

clear spatial plans means it does not know 

exactly what activity it intends to carry out 

where across Wales. Without that information, 

FCW will struggle to identify the costs of 

its programmes and to make decisions 

as to where to prioritise action between 

programmes and between tasks and activities 

within programmes. 

4  Responsibility for putting the corporate programmes into action rests with a number of key delivery units within FCW, particularly the four Forest Districts, Wales Harvesting 

and Marketing and Wales Silvicultural Operations. (Appendix 4 describes the main responsibilities of these key delivery units within FCW.) Each delivery unit has its own senior 

manager and is responsible for developing local plans. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 92



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report22

1.23 In the meantime, FCW’s approach to Þ nancial 

planning continues in some key respects as it 

was in 2008. It is still the case that, Þ nancial 

planning is ‘bottom up’, that is, driven by the 

Þ nances that have historically been made 

available to the local areas, rather than by 

strategic priorities. In response, FCW has 

taken a number of steps to align better its 

Þ nancial processes with its outcomes:

 a As a part of the annual business planning 

process, the Finance department and 

FCW policy staff meet with operational 

managers to raise awareness about the 

need to better link business planning to 

corporate priorities.

 b District managers use a pro forma 

business planning document which 

is structured around the 10 corporate 

programmes. These documents are 

reviewed by a Management Board 

member to assess their Þ t with FCW’s 

corporate programmes.

 c In 2010-11, FCW introduced Accounting by 

Objectives, so that its accounting systems 

are now structured around its 10 corporate 

programmes.

The Welsh Government has identiÞ ed seven regeneration areas, which are ‘currently under-performing, both 

economically and in terms of wellbeing’. It has committed itself to investing in these areas, in order to raise their 

performance with ‘the aim of addressing the inequalities experienced across geographical areas in Wales’. 

The FCW has demonstrated its commitment to spatially prioritising its actions by targeting some of its resources 

on two of these seven areas. The FCW has fully funded a post in the Heads of the Valleys and part funded a post 

in the Western Valleys. The post holders have supported the local regeneration area partnerships in developing 

woodland plans, which aim to deliver job and training outcomes along with health, education and landscape 

change by creating focus points for activity where regeneration beneÞ ts are greatest. It is envisaged that these 

objectives will be achieved by enhancing existing woodland; creating new areas of woodland and improving the 

local woodfuel supply chain. (There is currently a signiÞ cant amount of timber on the publicly owned estate in the 

Heads of the Valleys area which is unmanaged primarily due to infrastructure and access problems. The FCW 

is in the early stages of examining how to target some of its resources, and those of its partners, on addressing 

these problems.)

Although yet to be implemented, FCW has also made a number of other commitments to prioritise the 

regeneration areas and so spatially target its activities. For example, it has committed to focus its work on the 

development and promotion of best practice in the planting, management and conservation of urban woodlands 

on the regeneration areas. It has also committed to focusing on bringing more woodlands into management within 

the regeneration areas. 

The FCW is also using its involvement in the regeneration areas to pilot new approaches to land ‘ownership’. It 

is using its involvement in the local regeneration area partnerships to explore ways to achieve sufÞ cient interest 

in woodland blocks to determine the land management practices used, short of buying the land. For example, 

through the use of short and long-term leases and other kinds of land management agreements. The FCW is 

developing an options paper setting out how to offer land holders in the regeneration areas an increased grant, if 

their land is suitable for planting. Options being explored are to supplement Welsh Government funding for agri-

environment schemes with other funding sources such as regeneration or Wind Energy Programme monies.5 

These proposals are in their early stages and FCW told us that the options paper should go to its Management 

Board for consideration in the early summer of 2012. 

Figure 5 –  The FCW is using its involvement in the regeneration area partnerships to 

develop its approach to spatial prioritisation

Source: Wales Audit Offi ce

5 Installing turbines under the Wind Energy Programme will lead to the loss of approximately 5000ha of woodland. The Welsh Government has made the commitment that there 

will be no net loss of woodland. In order to meet this commitment, those awarded contracts under the Wind Energy Programme are required to provide funding for the cost of 

creating 5000ha of woodland. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 93



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report 23

1.24 The FCW told us that to some extent the 

Þ nances made available to local areas will 

not change over time, as local areas have 

some ongoing, and largely unchanging, land 

management responsibilities, for example 

repairing fences. 

1.25 The developing nature of its spatial planning 

also impacts on FCW’s ability to carry out 

robust workforce planning for the future. 

Without a full set of clear plans stating what 

it intends to deliver and where, FCW will 

struggle to identify its stafÞ ng requirements. 

The FCW has revisited its (2006-2010) 

StafÞ ng Action Plan6, but the revised 

document does not assess whether FCW 

currently has the right skills mix to deliver its 

corporate priorities. Consequently, the plan 

does not set out what actions, if any, FCW 

needs to take to ensure that it has the right 

numbers of appropriately skilled staff in the 

right places to deliver its corporate priorities. 

1.26 The FCW was intending to carry out an 

exercise entitled ‘Building Local Area Capacity’ 

to identify whether it had the appropriately 

skilled staff in the right numbers in its local 

areas to deliver its corporate programmes. 

However, prior to the merger decision, in July 

2011, FCW decided to put this work on hold, 

on the basis that should the decision be taken 

to merge then any work carried out would 

become redundant.

1.27 Once it has comprehensive business plans 

that link corporate priorities to clear spatial, 

Þ nancial and workforce plans, the FCW will 

be able to plan for the longer term. At present, 

the FCW operates on a three-year planning 

cycle. However, the woodland agenda is 

much longer term, with plans and activities 

inherently often taking a long time to reach 

fruition.

The FCW is in the early stages of 

planning the future of the forest 

estate and has developed plans 

to manage other key assets, but 

these plans will need to evolve, 

as decisions about the future 

composition of the estate have 

been put on hold until after April 

2013

1.28 Spatial planning needs to be linked to an 

assessment of the potential of the estate to 

deliver all of the required actions. In November 

2008, we recommended that FCW and the 

Welsh Government develop a clear strategy 

for the future development of the publicly 

owned estate, including proposals for the 

disposal and acquisition of land and for the 

use of any receipts. In March 2009, the then 

Minister for Rural Affairs commissioned FCW 

to review the future of the publicly owned 

estate and its role in delivering the Wales 

Woodlands Strategy objectives.

1.29 The FCW presented an interim report to the 

Minister in September 2010. The Minister 

rejected complete privatisation of the estate, 

but also rejected the idea that no further 

changes be made to the estate. Instead the 

Minister asked FCW to develop the idea 

that the estate be ‘repositioned’ through a 

combination of sale, transfer to the third sector 

and retention in public ownership. The Þ nal 

report (The Assembly Government Woodland 

Estate Research Project – fi nal report), which 

formally set out the potential for repositioning 

the estate in this way was published in 

November 2010.

6  The FCW re-launched its StafÞ ng Action Plan in April 2011.

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 94



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report24

1.30 In February 2011, the Minister gave approval 

for FCW to take forward the ideas set out in 

the November 2010 report. To take forward 

this Ministerial direction and improve its 

approach to acquiring and disposing of land, 

FCW has undertaken the following initiatives, 

which have given it a good basis for making 

informed decisions about the future direction 

of the estate: 

 a The FCW has carried out a portfolio 

analysis to assess whether individual 

woodland blocks are contributing, or have 

the potential to contribute, to the delivery 

of its corporate priorities. The FCW has 

used this information to inform internal 

discussions about which blocks to retain, 

which to sell and which to transfer to the 

third sector. 

 b  The FCW is considering ways of acquiring 

land, other than on a freehold basis. 

Pilot work on acquiring land through land 

management agreements is being carried 

forward through FCW’s involvement in 

the regeneration area partnerships in the 

Heads of the Valleys and the Western 

Valleys (Figure 5).

 c The FCW established a ‘Repositioning’ 

Programme Board to oversee the sale 

of land that has less potential to deliver 

public beneÞ ts and investment in woodland 

or land which has the potential to deliver 

more public beneÞ ts.

 d Following our 2008 report, the Welsh 

Government agreed a new funding 

arrangement with FCW, and FCW is using 

this facility to support its repositioning 

programme. In 2008, we recommended 

that the Welsh Government should identify 

the scope to relax its restrictions on FCW 

holding reserves. Since 2009-10, the 

Welsh Government has allowed FCW to 

hold a cash reserve of up to 20 per cent of 

its timber income – this facility is known as 

the ‘Flexible Funding Reserve’. In 2010-11, 

FCW set up, within the Flexible Funding 

Reserve, an estates capital reserve for 

the purpose of purchasing additional land, 

which currently has a balance of 

£0.8 million. 

 e The FCW has also estimated it can 

generate £16 million in income over a 

four-year period from land sales. This 

Þ gure is not based on an agreed list of 

areas for sale. Rather, FCW has estimated 

that given its available human resources it 

would be capable of managing the sale of 

1,000 hectares of land per year at £4,000 

per hectares; £4,000 reß ecting the average 

price of forestry land in Wales. 

1.31 However, the decision making and detailed 

planning needed as next steps will not occur 

until the launch of Natural Resources Wales 

in April 2013. The FCW has agreed that the 

Board of Natural Resources Wales should 

take decisions about land disposals and 

acquisitions. In light of this decision, FCW 

suspended its Repositioning Programme 

Board after one meeting.  

1.32 In addition to its woodland assets, FCW has 

a range of other signiÞ cant non-estate assets 

all of which it has now reviewed. However, we 

consider that there are weaknesses and risks 

remaining in relation to asset management:

 a there are no performance measures in 

place to assess the success of FCW’s 

asset management strategies and plans; 

and

 b decisions about the future composition 

of the estate, which might well impact on 

FCW’s plans for its other assets, have yet 

to be made. 

 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 95



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report 25

Part 2 – The FCW has sought to improve its core processes by 

issuing new guidance and updating procedures but some of the 

original problems persist 

2.1 In 2008, we found weaknesses in FCW’s 

core business processes, including risk 

management, procurement, timber production 

and grant management. Our 2009 report into 

public funding of the purchase of Ffynone and 

Cilgwyn woodlands also found weaknesses 

in FCW’s grant and project management 

arrangements.

2.2 Part 2 of this report looks at the progress 

FCW has made in strengthening these core 

business processes.

The FCW has strengthened its 

risk management processes but 

some weaknesses remain

2.3 According to the OfÞ ce for Government 

Commerce7, almost every decision made by 

an organisation has an upside and a downside 

involving some degree of risk. Effective risk 

management can bring far-reaching beneÞ ts, 

such as: improved service delivery; less 

time spent Þ reÞ ghting; fewer unwelcome 

surprises; more efÞ cient use of resources; 

and increased likelihood of change initiatives 

being achieved. Effective risk management 

includes identifying, estimating and evaluating 

risks, and then planning and implementing risk 

responses. 

2.4 The reports on FCW issued by both the Wales 

Audit OfÞ ce and the National Assembly’s 

Public Accounts Committee since 2008, 

found a number of weaknesses with its 

risk management. The current study found 

that while progress has been made some 

weaknesses remain:

 a The FCW has developed operational 

risk registers for key business areas. 

Operational risk registers are ‘owned’ by 

Management Board members and are 

discussed in monthly meetings between 

the ‘owner’ and the FCW Director. The 

FCW’s Audit and Risk Committee receives 

one operational risk register at each of its 

three meetings per year (and the relevant 

Management Board member also attends 

to take questions). Our review of a sample 

of three operational risk registers identiÞ ed 

errors in the scoring of certain risks in two 

of these. Although these errors had no 

effect on the overall risk ratings for these 

risks, FCW’s own review process had not 

been sufÞ ciently rigorous to identify the 

errors.

 b The corporate risk register is reviewed on 

six occasions each year: three times by the 

Audit and Risk Committee; and three times 

by the Management Board. 

 c The FCW has identiÞ ed staff requiring 

formal risk management training and has 

rolled out training to those staff. The FCW 

has also developed a Risk on a Page 

document to raise general awareness 

about risk management among its other 

staff. Risk on a Page is published on 

FCW’s intranet, along with FCW’s revised 

risk management policy. (The FCW’s 

revised risk management policy was 

approved by its Audit and Risk Committee 

in March 2011 and by its Management 

Board in May 2011.) The revised risk 

management policy was also part of a 

presentation to the all staff meeting in 

May 2011. 

7 OGC Best Practice in Risk Management

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 96



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report26

 d The FCW has not met our 

recommendation that its risk registers align 

risks to its corporate priorities. The FCW 

told us that it had decided that there was 

no real beneÞ t in doing so as the majority 

of its risks were cross-cutting. 

For example, the introduction of Natural 

Resources Wales is a potential risk 

to FCW achieving the full range of its 

objectives. 

 e Key documents do not make it clear 

whether FCW has identiÞ ed opportunities 

to improve the way in which it does 

business and delivers its responsibilities 

– even though its own risk management 

policy requires it to do so. The FCW’s 

corporate risk register is focused solely on 

threats to the organisation and does not 

identify opportunities. We are uncertain 

if this is because FCW does not believe 

that there any signiÞ cant opportunities 

which merit inclusion within its corporate 

risk register, or if it is because FCW has 

not carried out any assessment of the 

opportunities facing it.

The FCW has established a 

single procurement service 

which, if implemented effectively, 

should address weaknesses in 

its procurement arrangements

Subsequent to our 2008 report, FCW took a 

number of actions to improve procurement, 

but in May 2011, FCW itself identifi ed that 

these were not suffi cient to deliver the required 

improvements

2.5  In 2008, we identiÞ ed the need to strengthen 

procurement to ensure that it better supported 

delivery of FCW’s strategic objectives. 

SpeciÞ c problems included: the absence of 

central coordination of procurement activity; 

non-compliance with FCW procedures; the 

absence of any mechanism for disseminating 

lessons learned from major procurement 

projects; and the risk of poor procurement 

planning, due to expenditure being heavily 

weighted towards year end. 

2.6  In response, FCW took a number of actions to 

meet our recommendations (Figure 6), but did 

not change its overall approach of delivering 

procurement locally by unqualiÞ ed staff. 

2.7 In February 2011, FCW initiated a review 

of the progress it had made in improving 

procurement over the previous two and a 

half years. The resulting May 2011 paper to 

its Management Board acknowledged that, 

although ‘positive steps forward have been 

made’, FCW has been operating ‘at the lowest 

level in terms of best practice. Procurement is 

seen as largely an administrative task with the 

emphasis being on efÞ cient processing......it 

is time to move procurement to a point where 

purchasing is a key part of strategic planning 

and where the emphasis is on relationships 

with suppliers being seen as vital partners.’

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 97



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report 27

Between 2008 and 2011 FCW made the following improvements in procurement practice: 

• The FCW appointed a procurement ofÞ cer who produced a Procurement Delivery Plan, to deliver a one-off 

savings target of £0.9 million on 10 larger contracts within three years. The FCW reports that this target was 

delivered. In 2010, FCW appointed a second procurement adviser. 

•  The FCW appointed local procurement ‘champions’ who were required to meet with the procurement ofÞ cer 

and disseminate information back to local areas.

•  The three countries of Forestry Commission Great Britain have worked together to revise procurement 

guidance for staff.

•  The FCW has developed ‘call off’ and ‘framework contracts’ for a number of larger contracts.

•  An enhanced contracts database is now in place, to record all contracts and their key details.

•  The FCW has increased its working with Value Wales, using their expertise particularly to provide training 

courses for its staff and suppliers.

•  Contract managers’ workshops include lessons learned sessions and its intranet includes procurement 

lessons learned pages.

•  The FCW runs ‘development days’ for suppliers, which it considers innovative and of signiÞ cant help to many 

smaller suppliers who may be unfamiliar with government procurement rules.

•  In March 2010, the Welsh Government commenced a shared services programme between FCW, the 

Countryside Council for Wales and the Environment Agency; procurement was a key element of this 

development and there is now a shared procurement programme. 

•  Updated guidance and training for staff on procurement arrangements in April 2011. 

Figure 6 –  Improvements to FCW’s procurement practices 2008 -2011

Source: Wales Audit Offi ce

2.8 The paper highlighted a number of cases 

(varying in value between £25,000 and £3 

million) where FCW’s procurement staff 

had identiÞ ed non-compliant procurement 

processes, and intervened to address the 

emerging issues. The paper concluded that 

such non-compliance, ‘together with an 

increasingly aware supplier base, is increasing 

FCW’s risk exposure’.

2.9 To both assess the scale of the problem and 

identify any common themes, we asked FCW 

to provide us with a list of the cases referred to 

in the Management Board paper. In response 

FCW told us that, while it could use e-mail 

correspondence to identify the cases referred 

to in the Management Board paper, it did not 

have, and did not believe that it needed, a 

readily available list, as none of the examples 

had resulted in non-compliant procurements. 

The March 2011 paper was highly signiÞ cant; 

it identiÞ ed that FCW was operating at the 

lowest level in terms of best procurement 

practice and it formed the basis for the 

development of a new centralised approach 

to procurement. Given its signiÞ cance, in 

our view FCW should have better collated 

the evidence base for the conclusions and 

proposals put forward in the Management 

Board paper.  

2.10 We did, however, review two signiÞ cant 

procurements that FCW had already identiÞ ed 

as requiring remedial action, to gain an 

understanding of the issues. We did not look 

more widely at other procurements, as FCW 

had already reviewed its own procurement 

processes.

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 98



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report28

2.11  In 2008, we commended FCW on the way 

in which it had managed the wind farm 

procurement and recommended that it 

disseminate the lessons of this success to 

other procurements (for example, greater use 

of procurement expertise on tender evaluation 

panels). However, in both of the cases we 

looked at, leaving procurement to unqualiÞ ed 

staff was an important element contributing to 

non-compliance with procedures 

(Case Studies 1 and 2).

Case Study 1 - Flaws in its tender process meant that FCW had to retract its tender award for work to 

build new forest roads

The ‘new roads’ contract was a framework contract to construct new forest roads, bridges, tracks and paths at 

two ‘lots’ – one in North Wales and one in South Wales. It was a joint procurement between FCW, Countryside 

Council for Wales, Environment Agency Wales and the Welsh Government, and had an estimated value per 

annum of £300,000 to £750,000, with a maximum value over the three-year life of the contract of £3 million. The 

contract was due to commence in April 2011. 

The FCW had to withdraw two sets of invitation to tender documents, due to errors in the documents. When 

FCW appraised the tenders, some tenderers were disqualiÞ ed as they had not completed parts of version 3 of 

the invitation to tender. However, these tenderers had already completed these parts once or twice before in the 

previous versions they had submitted. Following contract award, a number of complaints were received from 

unsuccessful tenderers and one in particular stated an intention to formally challenge FCW’s decision.

The FCW told us that it sought legal advice, as it wished to stop what was a complex process. The legal advice 

concluded that there was a risk of successful challenge, should FCW continue with the contract award. The FCW 

subsequently retracted the contract award. The contract has now been successfully tendered. 

The other signiÞ cant issue we found was the lack of involvement by procurement staff at key points in the tender 

award process:

• As this was a high- value contract, the Forestry Commission Great Britain Head of Procurement signed the 

original documentation (including the invitation to tender). However, the team undertaking the procurement 

exercise (who were civil engineers/forest district staff and not procurement experts) amended the documents 

post sign-off by the Head of Procurement and sent these revised documents to bidders. It was these 

documents which contained errors and required FCW to reissue the invitation to tender.

•  The scoring panel for assessing the tenders was made up solely of civil engineers and forest district staff, and 

did not include any procurement or Þ nance staff.

The FCW carried out a workshop to identify the lessons it could learn from this case. 

Source: Wales Audit Offi ce

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 99



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report 29

Source: Wales Audit Offi ce

Case Study 2 - A contract for security services exceeded its estimated three-year value within the Þ rst 

two years and did not fully comply with either OJEU8 or FCW procurement procedures

This framework contract was for the provision of security services in South Wales, to protect plant and equipment 

from theft and damage, and to create a safer environment for contractors, to encourage a greater number of 

tenders for work on the publicly owned estate. The contract was for two years with an option of a one-year 

extension and an estimated contract value over three years of £900,000. As of February 2012, expenditure stood 

at £1.58 million, and thus less than two years into the contract expenditure already signiÞ cantly exceeded the 

three-year contract value. The FCW has ended the contract at the break point (31 March 2012). The FCW told us 

that a new contract was let in October 2012.

The FCW’s own review into this matter concluded that insufÞ cient knowledge of the true cost of security provision 

had resulted in ‘contract value and budget being set on an unreliable base’, and subsequent to contract award 

there had been insufÞ cient rigour in contract management.

As in the case of the tender exercise for the work to build new forest roads, the procurement exercise had been 

run by one of the Forest Districts, with inadequate procurement involvement at some key stages. The FCW took 

advice on the pre-qualiÞ cation questionnaire from Forestry Commission Great Britain procurement experts, but 

there was no procurement or Þ nance expertise on the tender scoring panel.

Other key problems identiÞ ed with both the procurement and the management of the contract included:

• At the outset of this procurement, FCW’s aim was to establish a framework contract. The FCW only speciÞ ed 

the score needed to get onto the framework after it had received and scored all tenders. To reduce the risk 

of any perceived impropriety, FCW should have set the threshold for successful inclusion on the framework 

agreement prior to the bids being opened and evaluated. 

• Only one bidder met the score needed to get onto the framework which meant that FCW were unable to 

run mini competitions between contractors, to ensure it got the best cost and quality. The FCW should have 

considered re-running the tender exercise to ensure it got the beneÞ ts it was seeking to achieve through a 

framework contract.

• The contract was based on a scale of rates per hour per member of security staff, but tenders did not provide 

an overall cost for undertaking the contract and there was no speciÞ cation by FCW to do so. This approach 

left costs ‘open ended’, and exposed FCW to the risk (which subsequently materialised) that the actual cost 

far exceed the estimated reserve/contract value if actual hours worked are greater than originally estimated.

• The FCW did not comply fully with either OJEU or its own internal procurement procedures. The FCW did 

not, as required, send a notice to OJEU when it awarded the contract. The FCW’s own guidance states that it 

is good practice for pre-qualiÞ cation questionnaires to be opened by at least one member of staff independent 

of the procurement – this was not done, nor were all potential tenderers informed of the decision to extend 

the closing date.

• The FCW did not identify overspends in a timely manner. The Head of Finance and ICT was informed in 

September 2011 that spend from June 2010 to August 2011 was £808,000, although spend was scheduled to 

have been £300,000 per annum. 

As well as carrying out a review into this speciÞ c case, in October 2011 the FCW Director sought assurance that 

Þ nancial controls are in place to monitor contract spend. It was reported to the November 2011 Management 

Board that all unit managers receive monthly budget control reports. However, given the overspend on this 

contract, this level of feedback is not sufÞ cient to provide assurance that the controls in place are operating in 

practice, and that this is an isolated incident. More recently, recognising this, FCW has strengthened its processes 

for controlling contract spend. One of the functions of the newly introduced single procurement service is to use 

the monthly budget control reports to work with contract managers to manage spend. 

8  OJEU is the OfÞ cial Journal of the European Union. When contracts for works, supplies and services exceed a speciÞ ed threshold value, local authorities and other public 

organisations must advertise their details in this publication, calling for expressions of interest.

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 100



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report30

2.12 Also, FCW’s procurement planning has 

been hampered as it has not reviewed its 

procurement expenditure to identify trends and 

whether it is procuring goods and services in a 

way which optimises value for money. Where 

it has sought to review expenditure through 

the use of Government Procurement Cards, 

limited data in terms of the types of goods and 

services being purchased through these cards 

has prevented a full trend analysis with regard 

to spend. Although there have been some 

recent improvements in its use of such cards, 

and other improvements are being introduced:

 a The FCW has rationalised the number of 

card holders from 231 in October 2011 to 

136 currently.

 b The FCW told us that, under its new 

Government Procurement Card contract, 

there is a better reporting package to 

allow for timely and accurate monitoring 

of trends in expenditure. We have not 

examined this contract. 

 c The FCW also told us that, from 

spend data derived from Government 

Procurement Card usage, Forestry 

Commission Great Britain is currently 

working to develop a series of embedded 

cards with speciÞ c businesses.

In April 2012, FCW established a single 

procurement service which, if implemented 

effectively, should deliver the required 

improvements

2.13 As a result of the paper it received in May 

2011, FCW established in April 2012 a 

centralised procurement function, at an 

estimated cost of £100,000 per annum. All 

procurement activity over £20,000 is now 

undertaken by a team of seven staff led 

by a qualiÞ ed head of procurement. Two 

other members of the team are currently 

undertaking procurement training, one of 

whom should be qualiÞ ed by the end of 

2012-13.  

2.14 It is inevitable that it will take some time for 

these new arrangements to have an impact. 

But if implemented correctly they should 

reduce the risks associated with the absence 

of central coordination of procurement and 

procurement by inexperienced and unqualiÞ ed 

staff. One of the priorities for the new 

service should be to develop an approach to 

measuring FCW’s success in delivering its 

procurement strategy. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 101



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report 31

The FCW is also making some progress in 

mitigating the risk of short-term decision 

making at year end with the allied risk of poor 

procurement

2.15 In 2008, we reported that FCW’s expenditure 

proÞ le was weighted towards the latter part of 

the year (when it had a clearer understanding 

of its timber income). This created the 

potential for expenditure to reß ect short-term 

decisions at the year end with the allied risk of 

poor procurement planning and consequently 

poor value for money. We also argued that 

this expenditure pattern was in part explained 

by the fact that FCW was not allowed to hold 

reserves; it had either to spend the funds 

available to it before year end or return them 

to the Welsh Government. In 2008-09, the 

Welsh Government gave FCW the capacity 

to hold reserves. Given this change, we 

would not expect to see the same proÞ le of 

expenditure as we found in 2008.

2.16 Our analysis of the proportion of annual 

expenditure in each quarter since 2008 shows 

that although expenditure is still weighted 

towards the end of the year, the pattern is less 

pronounced than we found previously 

(Figure 7). The FCW told us that, due to 

the nature of its business, expenditure will 

continue to be weighted to some extent 

towards the year end, as planting and 

restocking takes place during the spring. It 

also told us that historically grant holders have 

tended to wait until year end before claiming 

grant monies from FCW.

Figure 7 – The FCW’s expenditure profile continues to be weighted towards the latter part of the 

year, but to a lesser extent than when we reported in 2008-09

2
0

0
8

/0
9

: 
Q

tr
 1

0%

11% 8%

42% 39%

18%

25%
25%

32%

19%
26%

23%

32%

19% 21% 22%

38%

25%

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 o
f 
a

n
n

u
a

l 

s
p

e
n

d
 p

e
r 

q
u

a
rt

e
r

Proportion of annual expenditure in each quarter for 2008-09 and 2011-12

50%

75%

100%

2
0

0
9

/1
0

: 
Q

tr
 1

2
0

0
9

/1
0

: 
Q

tr
 2

2
0

0
9

/1
0

: 
Q

tr
 3

2
0

0
9

/1
0

: 
Q

tr
 4

2
0

1
0

/1
1

: 
Q

tr
 1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

: 
Q

tr
 1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

: 
Q

tr
 2

2
0

1
1

/1
2

: 
Q

tr
 3

2
0

1
1

/1
2

: 
Q

tr
 4

2
0

1
0

/1
1

: 
Q

tr
 2

2
0

1
0

/1
1

: 
Q

tr
 3

2
0

1
0

/1
1

: 
Q

tr
 4

2
0

0
8

/0
9

: 
Q

tr
 2

2
0

0
8

/0
9

: 
Q

tr
 3

2
0

0
8

/0
9

: 
Q

tr
 4

Source: Wales Audit Offi ce analysis of FCW data

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 102



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report32

Management of aspects of 

timber production and sales 

remains weak and FCW has not 

developed its resilience to the 

risk of falling timber income, but 

it is now making good progress 

in meeting the expectations of its 

timber customers

2.17 Timber income represents a signiÞ cant 

amount of FCW’s income. In 2010-11, FCW’s 

income from timber was £14.13 million (or 28 

per cent of its total expenditure). It is therefore 

vital that FCW has robust processes to 

optimise income from timber sales and deliver 

its timber production plans. 

The FCW is now more reliant upon timber 

income as its income from other sources has 

declined since we reported in 2008

2.18 In 2008, we recommended that FCW diversify 

its income to make it less reliant on timber 

income and so more resilient to falling income 

from timber sales. Although timber income in 

2010-11 was broadly comparable with timber 

income in the year we originally reported 

(£14.6 million and £14.1 million respectively), 

there were falls in 2008-09 and 2009-10 

(Figure 8).The FCW also needs to diversify 

its income to deliver the Minister’s vision for 

the future of the publicly owned estate in 

Wales. In February 2011, the then Minister 

for Rural Affairs directed FCW to ‘deepen 

commercialisation’ of the estate. That is, to 

develop its approach to generating income 

from the estate, particularly through renewable 

energy projects, but also through using the 

estate to support more recreational activities 

and as a base for forest holidays. 

Figure 8 – Since we reported in November 2008, FCW has become much more reliant upon timber 

income, as its income from other sources has reduced

20

2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11

Timber Income Other Income

15

10

5

0

8.2

10.3 8.7

11.1 10.2

14.6

12.1

5.2

13.2

4.4

14.1

5.8

M
ill

io
n

s

The value of income from timber sales and other sources 2005-06 to 2010-11

Source: Wales Audit Offi ce

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 103



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report 33

2.19 However, since we reported in November 

2008, FCW has become much more reliant 

upon timber income, as its income from other 

sources has reduced (Figure 8), due, FCW 

told us, to the end of European Union funded 

grant programmes. The FCW can point to 

examples of new income streams in recent 

years and to actions being taken to further 

diversify its income (Figure 9). Nevertheless, 

this income remains as yet small-scale 

compared to the income generated from 

timber production. The FCW told us that its 

scope to diversify its income is affected by 

factors such as lead-in times, the economic 

climate and legislation which constrains the 

kinds of activities it can undertake.  

2.20 In 2008, we also recommended that FCW 

develop clear contingency plans to deal with 

ß uctuations in the timber market and carry out 

scenario planning to assess the opportunities 

and threats from falling or rising timber 

income. The FCW has not implemented either 

of these recommendations. Instead, it has 

sought to make its income from timber more 

reliable, thus reducing the need, it argues, for 

contingency planning: 

 a long-term timber contracts give it a 

guaranteed long-term income and provide 

a cushion against short-term ß uctuations in 

the timber market; and

 b  the FCW now provides 10 per cent of its 

timber to the wood energy market, and 

prices in this market tend to ß uctuate less 

than prices in FCW’s traditional market (ie 

timber for construction).

2.21 The FCW also told us that the lack of 

contingency and scenario planning had not 

prevented it from responding effectively to 

emerging threats to timber income. It cited 

the actions it had taken in response to the 

recession and to an outbreak of larch disease. 

These are, however, reactionary measures 

rather than a proactive approach to developing 

contingency plans and scenario planning.

Source: Wales Audit Offi ce

Examples of FCW’s commitment to diversifying its income base include, but are not limited to, the following 

initiatives. The FCW has:

• Entered into a number of access agreements to permit access across the forest estate to enable wind 

farm development, which could generate in excess of £10 million over a 25-year period . These access 

agreements, FCW told us, would also reduce its road building costs, as it would be able to use the new 

access roads constructed at the developers’ own cost.

• IdentiÞ ed new markets for its timber products; it is several years into a Biomass Contract in Port Talbot for 

66,000 tonnes a year with the price linked to the price of electricity. 

• Published a Minerals Strategy, to form the basis for signiÞ cant and long-term mineral projects.

• Generated a one-off payment of £300,000 as a ‘tipping fee’ (where contractors pay FCW to tip unneeded 

stone on the estate) and is looking to develop this into a 10-year contract.

• Commenced a procurement exercise to offer hydroelectric schemes to the private sector which will generate 

some income.

• Opened discussions with Woodfuel Wales as the demand for wood for Þ res has increased again. 

• Appointed a Market Development OfÞ cer to help improve the marketing of FCW timber, particularly for use in 

biomass, Þ rewood and other niche markets.

Figure 9 –  The FCW generates income from a range of activities other than timber production, 

and is committed to further income diversifi cation

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 104



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report34

Key aspects of FCW’s approach to selling timber 

are not suffi ciently evidenced or monitored

2.22 The FCW last reviewed its Timber Marketing 

Strategy in 2010. The strategy covers the 

Þ ve-year period from 2011. The FCW told us 

that it measures the success of this strategy 

through progress against two of its corporate 

performance measures: Gross Value Added 

in the forestry sector and proportion of timber 

harvested in Wales. However, the timber 

strategy has a range of objectives which 

are not all directly linked to these corporate 

measures, for example, ‘securing best value 

from the sale of timber’, and for which FCW 

has not set performance indicators. 

2.23 The strategy also sets out FCW’s approach 

to selling timber through direct production 

and standing sales and through short-term 

and long-term contracts. At the time of our 

2008 work, the balance of sales through 

direct production to standing sales was 50:50. 

However, since then FCW has changed its 

approach and its position is now that the exact 

proportion of timber sold through each method 

may vary between 40 and 60 per cent.

2.24 In 2008, we recommended that FCW assess 

the costs and beneÞ ts of changing the balance 

of each method. The FCW has identiÞ ed the 

various factors affecting the proÞ tability of the 

two methods. We welcome FCW’s work on 

the proÞ tability of the two methods. However, 

it needs now to ensure that the results of 

this exercise are fed into a wider cost-beneÞ t 

analysis to support decisions about the 

appropriate split between direct production 

and standing sales. We would also like FCW 

to formally benchmark the proÞ tability of the 

balance it has chosen to adopt between direct 

production and standing sales with proÞ tability 

achieved by other countries. (Although, 

we also recognise FCW’s position that its 

continued use of both direct production and 

standing sales is informed by more than just 

Þ nancial considerations around the relative 

proÞ tability of either method.)

2.25 We accept that long-term contracts have a 

range of beneÞ ts, both to FCW and to its 

customers. However, there is not yet a 

well-evidenced basis for the balance of 

long-term contracts and short-term contracts. 

(The FCW has also adopted the position that 

the exact proportion of timber sold through 

long-term and short-term contracts may vary 

between 40 and 60 per cent.) The FCW 

should evaluate the success of the Þ rst round 

of long-term contracts it has signed, as they 

come to an end from 2013-14 onwards, and 

use the results of this evaluation to underpin 

future decisions about the appropriate split 

between long and short-term contracts.

There continues to be weak compliance with 

procedures for managing extensions to timber 

contracts

2.26 In 2008, we reported examples of where 

contractors had extracted more timber than 

set out in the contract and examples of 

where timber had been extracted after the 

contract end date. In 2009, FCW issued 

revised guidance setting out the procedures 

staff needed to apply to authorise timber 

extractions over contract levels. We reviewed 

the guidance and tested a sample of the 

contracts which had exceeded the agreed 

contract volume to see whether the revised 

procedures were being complied with.

2.27 We found that the guidance was not clearly 

written and was incomplete, for example 

appendices two and four are incomplete. 

We also found that the revised authorisation 

procedures were not operating in practice. 

Our testing found that in the majority of cases, 

where contractors were extracting more timber 

than set out in the contract and extracting 

timber after the contract end date, FCW 

staff were not implementing procedures for 

authorising such extensions (Figure 10). 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 105



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report 35

2.28 In 2008, we suggested FCW carried out a 

cost-beneÞ t exercise on timber contracts 

to ascertain the effect on income of both 

extending contract end dates and extracting 

timber beyond the volume. It has not done 

this. The absence of a cost-beneÞ t analysis, 

together with non-compliance with its own 

guidelines, means that FCW does not have a 

robust basis for extending contracts. Nor can 

it be conÞ dent that its approach to extending 

contracts is delivering value for money, as it 

does not know the effect on its income of not 

renegotiating contracts, but rather allowing 

contractors to extract timber after the contract 

end date. 

Source: Wales Audit Offi ce

We tested a sample of timber contracts which had gone over volume to assess compliance with the revised 

Timber Contracts Guidance. The revised guidance was not approved by the Head of Wales Harvesting and 

Marketing (the FCW division with responsibility for managing timber sales) until September 2010. However, the 

revised guidance was rolled out to staff in January 2009. Therefore, as staff were working from this guidance from 

January 2009, we have tested the implementation of the guidance on sales contracts signed in both 2009-10 and 

2010-11.

From a list of all timber sales contracts signed by FCW in 2009-10 and 2010-11, we tested 15 from each year 

which had exceeded the speciÞ ed contract volume. We then identiÞ ed that 22 of these 30 contracts had also 

gone beyond the contract end date. We therefore used this group of 22 contracts to test whether FCW had 

complied with its own procedures for authorising extensions to contract end dates.

Compliance with procedures for allowing more timber to be extracted than agreed in the contract

Twelve of the 30 contracts tested were long-term contracts and were yet to complete. According to FCW’s 

procedures controls on extracting timber in excess of the agreed contract only apply after the end of the contract. 

So we could not test whether FCW had complied with its own procedures for managing these 12 contracts. 

Sixteen of the remaining 18 contracts were not managed in accordance with agreed FCW procedures, which 

require a formal extension for extraction of timber over 20 per cent of the agreed contract volume. The remaining 

two contracts did not exceed the 20 per cent threshold and so did not require any formal sign-off. 

Contract closure

The FCW’s procedures require a contract closure form to be completed. Where necessary it should include 

the reasons why a contract has been allowed to extend beyond the contract end date and agreed volume, and 

lessons learnt. Of the 30 tested9:

• six did not have a contract closure form on Þ le; and

• 24 had a contract closure form on Þ le, but these did not include reasons for extensions to time/volume or 

lessons learnt.

Compliance with procedures for allowing timber to be extracted beyond the contract end date

Seventeen of the 22 contracts where timber was extracted beyond the contract end date did not have a formal 

extension in place, as required by FCW procedures, even though some extensions granted were signiÞ cant. 

One contract was extended six times, taking the contract 29 months beyond the original contract end date. In a 

further three cases, while there were extensions on Þ le, these were not agreed in a timely manner, as they were 

retrospective and put in place after timber had been harvested beyond the contract end date. 

Figure 10 –  Results of audit testing of contracts signed in 2009-10 and 2010-11 

9       Although the long-term contracts we tested had not closed, under FCW’s procedures there should be a contract closure report for each year of these contracts.

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 106



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report36

The FCW is making good progress in meeting its 

commitments to its timber customers

2.29 As part of the 2008 study, we set up a website 

soliciting views about the operations of FCW. 

Nineteen of the 28 public submissions to 

the website called upon FCW to improve the 

way in which it produced timber, managed 

the timber market and reß ected concerns 

about the reduction in timber supply and the 

adequacy of, and adherence to, production 

forecasts. 

2.30 In order to assess progress in this area, we 

assessed FCW’s performance in delivering its 

commitment to the timber industry between 

1 April 2006 and 31 March 2011. For each 

of these years, FCW guaranteed to bring 

770,000 cubic metres of timber to the market. 

We found that FCW did not deliver this volume 

in three of the Þ ve years, but over the full Þ ve-

year period FCW met (and slightly exceeded) 

its commitment to the timber market. Over 

the full Þ ve-year period FCW produced 3.89 

million cubic metres of timber, against its 

commitment to produce 3.85 million cubic 

metres of timber. The FCW told us that it 

would expect to see annual variations in 

production, as it does not have complete 

control over when timber is harvested from 

the estate. For example, weather conditions 

have an impact on the exact timing of work. 

Moreover, we found that the annual variations 

were not viewed negatively by FCW’s timber 

customers, as they told us that FCW is 

performing well in terms of meeting its annual 

timber production targets.

Although FCW has made 

progress in key aspects of its 

grant management, this has not 

always been timely, nor has FCW 

yet achieved all of the desired 

outcomes

The FCW has tried to improve community 

engagement in grant schemes but in one 

important case, intended outcomes of improved 

community engagement and long-term public 

access have not yet been achieved and FCW’s 

options are limited due to weaknesses in the 

contract

2.31 In 2010, the Wales Audit OfÞ ce reported on 

its examination of FCW’s award of £502,000 

to the not-for-proÞ t organisation Calon yn 

Tyfu Cyf (known as Calon) for the purchase 

of Ffynone and Cilgwyn woodlands. This 

award was made under FCW’s Cydcoed grant 

programme. The subsequent 2011 report 

into the same issue by the Public Accounts 

Committee found that the structure of the 

Cydcoed scheme was such that there was a 

‘signiÞ cant risk’ that the local community would 

not be adequately represented in the 

grant-giving process. 

2.32 In August 2011, FCW issued two new 

guidance documents for staff aimed at 

ensuring adequate community engagement 

takes place before it approves grant 

applications. No new grants have come on 

stream since the guidance has been issued, 

and consequently we have not been able to 

assess compliance with this revised guidance. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 107



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report 37

Source: Wales Audit Offi ce

Together, the Wales Audit OfÞ ce and Public Accounts Committee recommended that FCW: 

• work with Calon to explore options for:

 !  greater community involvement in decision making for the woodland to include community 

    representation on Calon’s board, for example, as non-executive directors; and

!  longer-term protection of the asset for the local community and public purse.

• work with Calon to secure designation of the greatest possible portion of Ffynone and Cligwyn woodlands 

under the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 at the earliest possible opportunity; and 

• continue to encourage community involvement in the decision making surrounding the woodland by all means 

possible in the hope and expectation that the community reciprocates. 

This study found that the following progress had been made against these three recommendations.

Protecting the Ffynone and Cilgwyn woodlands as a long-term community asset 

Under the Countryside and Rights of Way Act land can be ‘dedicated’ to allow public access on foot in perpetuity. 

However, the land cannot be dedicated as access land without Calon’s permission. The FCW has been in regular 

contact with Calon to help it designate the land. We found evidence of FCW providing Calon with advice on how 

the designation process works and seeking updates from Calon on timescales for designation. This was mainly 

through phone calls, emails and letters, but FCW also met with Calon on 27 September 2011 and on 29 May 2012 

to discuss its progress. 

Despite these actions, designation has not occurred. Both FCW and Calon told us that this was due to boundary 

disputes. In March 2012, the Adjudicator to the HM Land Registry resolved one boundary dispute, but Calon 

told us that two other boundary disputes remained. Calon told us also that it has now appointed solicitors to take 

forward the dedication work, once the remaining boundary disputes have been resolved.

Community involvement in the decision making surrounding the woodland

The FCW is seeking to achieve greater community engagement in the decision making about the Ffynone and 

Cilgwyn woodlands through two main vehicles: certiÞ cation of the woodland under the Forestry Stewardship 

Scheme and securing community representation on the Calon board. 

Certifying the woodlands under the Forestry Stewardship Scheme

CertiÞ cation of the woodland has not yet been achieved under the Forestry Stewardship Scheme. However, FCW 

is supporting Coed Lleol (the Independent Community Woodlands Association funded by FCW) to work with 

Calon to certify the woodlands. Calon told us that it is intending to undertake the full assessment needed to join 

the scheme in 2013. Calon told us also that it had already received a pre-assessment visit and was now working 

through the areas highlighted by that visit. 

Figure 11 –  Progress to date in taking forward the audit recommendations 

relating to the Ffynone and Cilgwyn woodlands

2.33 The FCW has also worked with Calon, as 

recommended by the Wales Audit OfÞ ce in 

2010 and by the Public Accounts Committee in 

2011, to improve long-term public access10 to 

and public engagement in decision making for 

the Ffynone and Cilgwyn woodlands. Despite 

FCW’s actions, the outcomes sought by our 

recommendations have not yet been achieved 

(Figure 11). However, the conditions of FCW’s 

grant to Calon constrain FCW’s ability to 

act alone, and mean that it can do no more 

than encourage Calon to engage with the 

community and to give the community 

long-term access to the woodland.  

10 The FCW told us that, prior to its grant to Calon to purchase the woodland, none of the woodland was open, except where there were public rights of way. Under the conditions 

of FCW’s grant award, all of the woodland is now open to the public, except as and when health and safety considerations require areas to be closed to public access. However, 

as we concluded in our 2010 report Forestry Commission Wales Public Funding of Ffynone and Cilgwyn Woodlands, the conditions of FCW’s grant do not guarantee long-

term community use of the woodland, ie beyond the twenty years covered by the contract with Calon. The FCW stressed to us that its contract with Calon did not differ from its 

contracts with other Cydcoed grant recipients, as no other Cydcoed grant holder has been required to guarantee public access beyond the period covered by the contract. 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 108



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report38

Community representation on the Calon board

On 22 March 2011, Councillor John Davies wrote on behalf of ManordeiÞ  Community Council to the FCW 

Director, copied to Calon, with three nominations for non-executive directors to represent the local community 

on Calon’s board. Actions taken by FCW staff in response include telephone discussions with Calon, and 

writing to the Community Council referring it to Calon’s existing procedures for joining the board. In this letter 

FCW suggested that the Community Council should contact Calon directly to discuss these requirements, and 

reiterated that FCW had no powers to force Calon to accept additional non-executive board members.  

During this study, the Ffynone Woodland Protection Group (a local interest group) expressed to us its continuing 

frustrations with Calon’s procedures for becoming a board member, and its view that the Calon board still 

does not sufÞ ciently represent the local community. It remains the case that, as we reported in 2010, Calon is 

so constituted that it does not allow for non-executive directors on its board. (Calon is so constituted that only 

members of the Calon co-operative can become board members, and only those working 30 or more hours 

per week for the co-operative are eligible to join it.) In response, Calon told us that our recommendation that it 

appoint non-executive directors to its board was ‘problematic’ for it. It remains Calon’s view that as a ‘workers co-

operative’ its board should comprise co-operative workers solely. 

The FCW itself told us that it will continue to encourage community residents to consider joining the co-operative, 

as a route to becoming a member of the Calon board, whilst also encouraging Calon to relax their requirement 

that only members of the co-operative can become board members. 

Figure 11 cont. –  Progress to date in taking forward the audit recommendations 

relating to the Ffynone and Cilgwyn woodlands

Source: Wales Audit Offi ce

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 109



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report 39

Following critical audit reports and the 

withholding of grant monies by the Welsh 

European Funding Offi ce, FCW has now 

improved the control framework for its Wood 

Energy Business Scheme

2.34 Every year, the Wales Audit OfÞ ce reviews 

FCW’s management of the grant scheme 

called the Wood Energy Business Scheme. 

Audit work in 2009-10 identiÞ ed serious 

weaknesses with the management of the 

scheme, which we reported to FCW. 

2.35 Our 2011-12 audit work on the scheme 

concluded that ‘as a result of the signiÞ cant 

effort made by FCW staff, improvements in 

the control framework have occurred. It is 

vitally important that the progress made in the 

latter half of the year continues in the coming 

periods.’ 

2.36 While we welcome this improvement, it is clear 

that achieving this has been a challenge to 

FCW, and we remain concerned about FCW’s 

effectiveness in using audit Þ ndings to secure 

continuous improvement. The following two 

examples illustrate our concerns: 

 a Our audit work relating to the Wood Energy 

Business Scheme in 2010-11 identiÞ ed a 

number of issues that we had previously 

highlighted to FCW in 2009-10, and similar 

issues were identiÞ ed in our August 2010 

report on Public Funding of Ffynone and 

Cilgwyn Woodlands. These issues were 

reported to the Welsh European Funding 

OfÞ ce (which part funds the scheme) and 

resulted in the Welsh European Funding 

OfÞ ce requesting additional audit work and 

withholding payment, until the additional 

work conÞ rmed positive direction of travel 

by FCW. 

 b As set out in our 2010-11 Management 

Letter to FCW, aside from the similarities 

to the issues raised in the Ffynone and 

Cilgwyn Woodlands report, we consider 

that many of the issues raised in regard 

to the Wood Energy Business Scheme 

have been reported to FCW on audits of 

previous grant schemes, such as Objective 

1 schemes. The Management Letter 

concluded that ‘FCW does not appear 

to learn the lessons from previous audit 

Þ ndings and effectively roll these out 

across the organisation for shared learning 

and to ensure that such issues are not 

repeated’. We did not raise these concerns 

again in our 2011-12 Management Letter 

to FCW.

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 110



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report40

Where FCW has sought to learn lessons from 

its implementation of its Better Woodlands for 

Wales grant scheme, it has not done this as 

effectively as it might have done 

2.37 In our 2008 report, we recommended that 

FCW develop a series of performance 

indicators for its Better Woodlands for Wales 

grant scheme which measured and reported 

progress against outcomes rather than 

performance against aspects of process, 

such as the area of woodland covered by the 

scheme and expenditure. 

2.38 Since then, FCW has established two 

performance indicators for the scheme linked 

to the delivery of two of its nine corporate 

priorities: woodland area in sustainable 

management; and woodland area managed 

without clearfelling. However, despite this 

progress it has still not developed a suite 

of indicators that cover the full range of the 

intended objectives of this scheme. Even 

though the scheme was closed in December 

2010 to new applicants, we would have 

expected FCW to develop indicators to 

assess whether the legacy agreements were 

delivering the full range of intended objectives 

and as part of providing assurance that its 

use of grant funding was providing value for 

money.

2.39 In 2008, we recommended that, to improve 

take-up of the Better Woodlands for Wales 

scheme, FCW should survey grant applicants 

to identify trends in uptake, stakeholder 

perceptions and areas for improvement.  

2.40 The FCW decided not to survey applicants 

and other stakeholders, although it did make a 

number of adjustments to improve the scheme 

and the application process. For example, it: 

simpliÞ ed some of the scheme rules (to make 

applications less onerous, particularly for 

smaller woodlands); amended the IT system; 

and provided additional training for its staff 

and the external consultants it employed to 

support applicants. 

2.41 The FCW told us that it had tested the 

proposed changes at stakeholder meetings, 

and in its view these changes had been 

successful as take-up was no longer a 

problem and the scheme budget was 

fully spent. It is our view that had FCW 

more systematically gathered the views of 

stakeholders it would have been in a better 

position to simplify the grant application 

process in a way which met the needs of 

applicants. This view is supported by evidence 

from the Mid Term Evaluation of the Wales 

Rural Development Plan, which found that in 

2010 the grant application process remained 

a concern with grant recipients and other 

stakeholders. Interviews with 26 Better 

Woodlands for Wales grant recipients and 12 

stakeholders found that the grant application 

process remained an issue. Thirty of the 38 

interviewees stated that the top lesson FCW 

needed to take away was to ‘simplify the grant 

application process’.

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 111



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report 41

Our methods

This follow-on study originates from a recommendation made by the National Assembly’s Public 

Accounts Committee in November 2010 that the Wales Audit OfÞ ce test the implementation by FCW of all 

recommendations made by both the Auditor General and the Public Accounts Committee. In carrying out 

our examination of FCW’s implementation of audit recommendations we used the following methods:

Document review

This study relied heavily upon the review of a wide range of internal FCW documents relating to the 

following key business areas: corporate and business planning; strategy and communications; workforce 

planning; Þ nancial management; corporate and individual performance management; risk management; 

asset management (including documents relating to the management of the publicly owned estate); and 

grant management. 

We supplemented this work with a review of Welsh Government policy and strategy (using sources such as 

such as the Wales Woodlands Strategy, The Assembly Government Woodland Estate Research Project, 

a Ministerial statement on the future of the woodland estate and minutes from discussions held by the 

National Assembly about the future direction of forestry in Wales). We also reviewed documentation on the 

merger of FCW, the Countryside Council for Wales and the Environment Agency Wales.

We also drew upon other audit work carried out by the Wales Audit OfÞ ce, speciÞ cally work carried out by 

Þ nancial audit staff on the implementation by FCW of the Wood Energy Business Scheme.

To check whether FCW staff were implementing internal guidance for extending timber contracts, we 

reviewed relevant documentation, but also tested a sample of 30 timber contracts. We also reviewed the 

Þ les relating to two procurement exercises (these procurements are considered in Case Studies 1 and 2 in 

the main report).

Data analysis

Where it would help us to assess progress in implementing audit recommendations, we updated and 

reanalysed the Þ nancial and performance data we had previously collected as part of our 2008 report 

Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales. As in 2008, we used this data to look at such issues as 

patterns of income and expenditure, performance against timber production forecasts and procurement 

practices.  

Appendix 1 - Our methods

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 112



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report42

Semi-structured interviews

We carried out the following semi-structured interviews:

• FCW staff – interviewees were primarily senior staff at FCW Management Board level. Where 

appropriate, we also interviewed other staff involved in planning and overseeing delivery within a range 

of key business areas (for example, timber production). We also had discussions with a small number of 

operational FCW staff delivering speciÞ c projects.

• Representatives of FCW’s main timber customers.

• Welsh Government ofÞ cials working on the merger of FCW, the Countryside Council for Wales and the 

Environment Agency Wales and responsible for managing aspects of FCW’s relationship with the Welsh 

Government.

• A representative of the Ffynone Woodland Protection Group. The group also provided us with written 

evidence on its views of FCW’s progress in securing greater public access to, and greater public 

engagement in decisions relating to, the Ffynone and Cilgwyn woodlands. 

 

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 113



43Wales Audit OfÞ ce - Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report 2012

The FCW currently operates as both the forestry department of the Welsh Government and as a part of 

the Forestry Commission Great Britain. These arrangements will change in April 2013 when FCW, the 

Countryside Council for Wales and the Environment Agency Wales merge to form Natural Resources 

Wales. 

In January 2010, the Welsh Government started working with stakeholders to develop a new Natural 

Environment Framework for Wales. The purpose of the framework is to set out how to enable Wales’ land 

and water to deliver long-term well-being reß ecting the guiding principle of sustainable development. In 

particular, the framework will aim to ensure that there is an integrated approach to the management of the 

environment, placing a particular focus on the value of ecosystems. 

In a written statement to the National Assembly on 6 July 2010, the Minister for Environment, Sustainability 

and Housing stated that there was a need to consider whether the current arrangements for delivering 

the Assembly Government’s environmental policies would be appropriate to deliver future needs, in line 

with the framework. This led to a review which undertook a comparison of different delivery options, 

ranging from no change to the establishment of a new environmental body comprising the functions of 

the Countryside Council for Wales, the Environment Agency Wales and FCW. The resulting Feasibility 

Study concluded that the establishment of a single body involving all three had the potential to provide the 

greatest beneÞ ts.

The Minister then authorised further, more detailed work to be undertaken on the option of establishing 

a single environmental body for Wales. Subsequent to the reporting of this work, in November 2011 the 

Environment Minister announced the decision to proceed with establishing a single body for Wales. 

Appendix 2 - The merger of FCW, the Countryside Council for 

Wales and the Environment Agency Wales

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 114



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report44

This report covers a number of grant schemes operated by FCW, although some of these grant schemes 

are now closed.

The Cydcoed grant scheme

This scheme targeted the most deprived communities in Wales and those where there was limited or no 

access to community green space. In these communities the programme aimed to: make existing woodland 

spaces more accessible; develop additional woodland spaces; and foster community involvement in the 

sustainable development of woodlands. The scheme ran in two phases between 2001 and 2008. 

Wood Energy Business Scheme 2

This scheme provides capital grant support to businesses for woodfuel heating systems and processing 

equipment to develop the sustainable and renewable wood heat market across Wales. The current scheme 

runs from 2009 to 2013; the previous scheme ended in 2008.

Better Woodlands for Wales

The FCW launched this scheme in 2007, to provide private woodland owners with grants for: social 

forestry; the protection of native woodlands; and the more traditional economic aspects of forestry. At the 

core of the Better Woodland for Wales scheme was a Þ ve-year management plan which had to comply with 

the minimum standards of the UK Woodland Assurance Standard. The scheme was jointly funded by FCW 

and the European Union.

The scheme was closed to new applicants in December 2010. However, grants are still being paid out 

currently on contracts signed previously. The FCW signed the last contract in February 2012, although 

Better Woodlands for Wales remains a legacy scheme as grants are still being paid out against the signed 

contracts. With the closure of Better Woodlands for Wales, responsibility for making and managing grants 

to private owners to create and enhance their woodlands has passed from FCW to the Welsh Government, 

under the Glastir agri-environment scheme. 

In January 2012, Glastir replaced the existing Þ ve agri-environment schemes operating in Wales. Grant 

holders will be paid for delivering speciÞ c environmental goods and services aimed at: combating climate 

change; improving water management; and maintaining and enhancing biodiversity. Glastir includes a 

‘Woodland Element’, which is designed to support land managers in maintaining and/or creating new 

woodlands.

Appendix 3 - Grant schemes operated by FCW

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 115



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report 45

Appendix 4 - The main responsibilities of the key delivery units 

within FCW

Forest Districts 

There are four Forest Districts across Wales, with responsibility for:

• ensuring forest design plans have been developed and approved for the Welsh Government woodland 

estate;

• consulting on forest design plans;

• ensuring that FCW meets its legal responsibilities as a land manager;

• a wide range of estate management issues (for example, ensuring that fences on the Welsh Government 

woodland are adequately maintained, dealing with fallen trees); and

• developing and managing public access to the Welsh Government-owned woodlands through a variety of 

initiatives, such as establishing and maintaining mountain bike routes and encouraging use of the forest as 

an outdoor classroom.

Wales Harvesting and Marketing 

Wales Harvesting and Marketing was set up in 2000 and is based at FCW’s head ofÞ ces in Aberystwyth, however 

there are also Wales Harvesting and Marketing staff based in each of the four Forest Districts with responsibilities 

for:

• Developing contracts with the timber industry for both the harvesting of land, and for selling timber products.

• Managing FCW’s own harvesting operations.

• Developing the ‘U18’ or Þ ve-year production plan, which identiÞ es which areas of the forest are to be 

harvested, using what method and when. The ‘U18’ production plan is based on forest design plans 

developed by the Forest Districts.

• Working with colleagues across Forestry Commission Great Britain (for example, as part of the Great Britain-

level Operational Services group).

• Providing timber income forecasts, and tracking trends in timber prices.

Wales Silvicultural Operations 

Wales Silvicultural Operations staff are co-located with forest district staff and have responsibilities for

• Restocking (or replanting) of Welsh Government-owned woodlands, including working with the Forestry 

Commission Great Britain Plant and Seed Supply branch to secure appropriate stock. The level of annual 

restocking is determined by amount of land harvested by Wales Harvesting and Marketing. Wales Silvicultural 

Operations needs to ensure that the land bank (or the area of Welsh Government woodland awaiting 

replanting) should not exceed the average annual area felled by more than a factor of 3.5. 

• Providing advice to district planning ofÞ cers, as part of the Forest Design Plan process (for example regarding 

types of species to be planted).

• Working with colleagues across Forestry Commission Great Britain (for example, as part of the Forest 

Management OfÞ cers Group).

Source: Wales Audit Offi ce

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 116



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up ReportOperations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report46

Appendix 5 - Indicators for which FCW has not set targets

 Business indicators for which FCW has not set three-year targets

Business area Indicators Comments

Proportion of posts 

identiÞ ed for Welsh 

language competence with 

appropriately skilled staff in 

post

No target has been set for the single 

indicator used to track this business 

measure:

• to increase the percentage of FCW 

posts Þ lled with staff with required 

Welsh skill level.

The 2009-2012 target was to ‘identify the 

proportion of posts with the appropriate 

competency and Þ ll gaps from 2009 onwards’. 

The target is poorly worded, as it does not 

quantify the pace at which FCW would expect 

to ‘Þ ll gaps’ over 2009-2012.

The FCW told us that it needed Þ rst to 

establish how many posts were Þ lled by 

staff with the required level of Welsh, before 

identifying a realistic rate of change. 

Business sustainability Targets have not been set for two of the 

four indicators FCW is using to track this 

business measure:

• increase in the percentage of waste 

recycled from the 2008 baseline; and

• decrease in the amount of waste 

produced from the 2008-09 baseline.

We are not clear as to why FCW has not set a 

target for increasing the percentage of waste it 

recycles. It has baseline data for 2008-09. 

The FCW did not have baseline data on the 

amount of waste it produced in 2008-09.

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 117



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report 47

Corporate performance indicators for which FCW has not set three-year targets

Corporate performance 

measure

Indicator Comments

Woodland area managed 

without clearfelling

No target has been set for one of the 

three indicators FCW is using to track 

this corporate performance measure:

• area outside of the publicly owned 

estate managed by Continuous 

Cover Forestry or under 

transformation to Continuous Cover 

Forestry.

The FCW had intended to use information 

collected through the Better Woodlands for 

Wales grant scheme to establish a baseline 

Þ gure, to monitor trends and subsequently 

set a target. However, before FCW could 

complete this process the decision was taken 

to close the Better Woodlands for Wales 

scheme.

The FCW has told us that since the Better 

Woodlands for Wales scheme has been 

discontinued, it will be looking at using the 

Glastir scheme to collect information on 

the area of woodland managed without 

clearfelling, once the scheme comes online in 

2013. 

Tree diversity in non-native 

woodland

Targets have not been set for two of the 

three indicators FCW is using to track 

this corporate performance measure:

• proportion of non-native woodland 

with one, two, or three or more 

species; and

• mean number of species in non-

native woodland in Wales.

The FCW told us that it had not set targets 

for these two indicators as they are awaiting 

baseline data from the Great Britain National 

Forest Inventory, which will be available in 

2014. 

Level of woodland and 

timber-related enterprise 

Targets have not been set for one of the 

Þ ve indicators FCW is using to track this 

corporate performance measure:

• Gross Value Added from small 

businesses

The FCW told us that it could not set a target 

for this measure, as reliable baseline and 

trend data on the Gross Value Added from 

small business has proved difÞ cult to secure. 

The FCW is considering whether to adopt 

another indicator. It has collected data looking 

instead at trends in the number of employees 

in forestry businesses. This data can be 

broken down according to the size of the 

business.

Native woodland extent Targets have not been set for one of the 

four indicators FCW is using to track this 

corporate performance measure:

• area of native woodland.

The FCW told us that it had not set a target 

for this indicator as it is awaiting baseline 

information from the National Forest Inventory, 

which will be available in 2014. 

Native woodland condition No target has been set for the single 

indicator used to track this corporate 

performance measure:

• proportion of native woodland in 

favourable/recovering condition.

The FCW told us that it had not set a target 

for this indicator as they are awaiting baseline 

information from the National Forest Inventory, 

which will be available in 2014. 

Source: Wales Audit Offi ce

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 118



Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report48

PAC(4)-04-13 Paper 2 

Page 119



 Tom Jackson 

Clerc/Clerk 

Ffon / Phone: 029 2089 8597 

Ffacs / fax: 029 2089 8021 

Ebost / Email: tom.jackson@wales.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
Public Accounts Committee 
Bae Caerdydd / Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd / Cardiff CF99 1NA 
 

 

 
 
Emyr Roberts  
Chief Executive  
Natural Resources Wales 
Welsh Government 
Cathays Park 
Cardiff 
CF10 3NQ 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

12 February 2013 

 

 
Public Accounts Committee Meeting – 5 February 2013 
Operations Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report.  

 
Dear Emyr   
 
I would like to begin by welcoming you in your new role as Chief Executive of 
Natural Resources Wales. 
 
On Tuesday 5 February 2013 the Public Accounts Committee discussed 
issues raised by the Wales Audit Office’s January report: Operations of the 
Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report.  
 
The Committee resolved to request a written update from the Chief Executive 
of Natural Resources Wales on the implementation of a recommendation 
previously made by the third Assembly’s Public Accounts Committee, in its 
report on Forestry Commission Wales: Pubic Funding of Ffynone and Cilgyn 
Woodlands in February 2011. Specifically, the Committee requested an 
update on recommendation 13 of this report: 
 
We recommend that Forestry Commission Wales continue to encourage 
community involvement in the decision making surrounding the woodland 
bay all means possible in the hope and expectation that the community 
reciprocate. 
 
It may be helpful to note that the Welsh Government previously advised the 
Committee in March 2011 that: 
 

“FCW has supported Coed Lleol (a group managed by the Smallwoods 
Association) to work with Calon yn Tyfu Cyf (Calon) on community 
engagement using the proposed Forestry Stewardship Council (FSC) 
certification of the woodlands as a vehicle for discussions. A number of 
open community meetings have been undertaken throughout the 

Page 120



 Tom Jackson 

Clerc/Clerk 

Ffon / Phone: 029 2089 8597 

Ffacs / fax: 029 2089 8021 

Ebost / Email: tom.jackson@wales.gov.uk 

 

 

 

summer 2010 and more are planned. The FSC requires ongoing 
engagement to maintain certification. Calon have an existing process 
that permits members of the co-operative to become members of the 
board. They are willing to accept new members to the co-operative  
 
“The work being done by contractors on behalf of Calon is monitored by 
the local FCW Woodland Officer and other FCW staff have informal 
contact with them on an occasional basis in order to provide advice on 
their plans. When in contact we will continue to encourage Calon to 
engage the local community in its decision making process.” 

 
I would be very grateful if you could liaise with Forestry Commission Wales to 
provide the Committee with a further update on this recommendation. 
 
 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
Darren Millar AM 
Committee Chair 
 

Page 121



 

Public Accounts Committee 

 

Meeting Venue: Committee Room 3 - Senedd 
 

 

  
Meeting date:  Monday, 28 January 2013 

 

  
Meeting time:  14:01 - 16:20 

 

  

This meeting can be viewed on Senedd TV at: 
http://www.senedd.tv/archiveplayer.jsf?v=en_400000_28_01_2013&t=0&l=en 

 
 

Concise Minutes: 

 

   
Assembly Members:  Darren Millar (Chair) 

Mohammad Asghar (Oscar) AM 
Mike Hedges 
Julie Morgan 
Gwyn R Price 
Jenny Rathbone 
Aled Roberts 
Jocelyn Davies 

 

  

   
Witnesses:  Jane Hutt, Minister for Finance and Leader of the House 

Paul Brown, Bill Manager, Welsh Government 
 

  

   
Committee Staff:  Tom Jackson (Clerk) 

Sarah Beasley (Clerk) 
Sarah Sargent (Deputy Clerk) 
Daniel Collier (Deputy Clerk) 
Joanest Jackson (Legal Advisor) 

 

  

 

1. Introductions, apologies and substitutions  
 
1.1 No apologies were received. 
 

2. Public Audit (Wales) Bill: Stage 2 - Consideration of Amendments  
 
2.1 In accordance with Standing Order 26.21, the Committee disposed of the following 
amendments to the Bill: 
 
Section 1:  

Agenda Item 4

Page 122



No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 1 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 2: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 2 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 3: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 3 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 4: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 4 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 5: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 5 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 6: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 6 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 7: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 7 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 8: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 8 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 9: 
Amendment 37 (Aled Roberts) was withdrawn. 
 
Section 10: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 10 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 11: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 11 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 12: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 12 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 13: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 13 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 14: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 14 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 15: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 15 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 16: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 16 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 17: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 17 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 18: 
 
Amendment 1 (Jane Hutt) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 17.34(i). 
 

Page 123



Amendment 2 (Jane Hutt) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 17.34(i). 
 
Amendment 3 (Jane Hutt) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 17.34(i). 
 
Section 19: 
 
Amendment 4 (Jane Hutt) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 17.34(i). 
 
Amendment 44 (Aled Roberts) was not moved. 
 
Amendment 5 (Jane Hutt) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 17.34(i). 
 
Section 20: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 20 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 21: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 21 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 22: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 22 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 23: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 23 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 24: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 24 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 25: 
 
Amendment 6 (Jane Hutt) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 17.34(i). 
 
Section 26: 
 
Amendment 7 (Jane Hutt) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 17.34(i). 
 
Section 27: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 27 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 28: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 28 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 29: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 29 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 30: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 30 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 31: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 31 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 32: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 32 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 33: 

Page 124



 
Amendment 8 (Jane Hutt) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 17.34(i). 
 
Section 34: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 34 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 35: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 35 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 36: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 36 was deemed agreed. 
 
Section 37: 
No amendments were tabled to this section, therefore Section 37 was deemed agreed. 
 
Schedule 1: 
 
Amendment 9A (Mohammad Asghar) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 
17.34(i). 
 
Amendment 9 (Jane Hutt) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 17.34(i). 
 
Amendment 10A (Mohammad Asghar) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 
17.34(i). 
 
Amendment 10 (Jane Hutt) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 17.34(i). 
 
Amendment 11 (Jane Hutt) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 17.34(i). 
 
As Amendments 9A, 9, 10A, 10 and 11 were agreed, Amendment 12 (Jane Hutt) fell. 
 
Amendment 46 (Mohammad Asghar) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 
17.34(i). 
 
Amendments 13 to 18 (Jane Hutt) were agreed in accordance with Standing Orders 
17.34(i) and 17.36. 
 
Amendment 19 (Jane Hutt) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 17.34(i). 
 
Amendments 20 to 22 (Jane Hutt) were agreed in accordance with Standing Orders 
17.34(i) and 17.36. 
 
Amendment 23 (Jane Hutt) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 17.34(i). 
 
Amendment 24 (Jane Hutt) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 17.34(i). 
 
Schedule 2: 
 
Amendment 25 (Jane Hutt) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 17.34(i). 
 
Amendment 40 (Jocelyn Davies) was withdrawn. 
 
Amendment 41 (Jocelyn Davies) was not moved. 
 

Page 125



Schedule 3: 
 
Amendment 42 (Jocelyn Davies) was withdrawn. 
 
Amendment 35 (Jocelyn Davies) was withdrawn. 
 
Amendment 45 (Jane Hutt) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 17.34(i). 
 
As Amendment 45 (Jane Hutt) was agreed, Amendment 36 (Jocelyn Davies) fell. 
 
Schedule 4: 
 
Amendment 26 (Jane Hutt) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 17.34(i). 
 
Amendment 43 (Jocelyn Davies) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 
17.34(i). 
 
Amendment 27 (Jane Hutt) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 17.34(i). 
 
Amendments 28 to 33 (Jane Hutt) were agreed in accordance with Standing Orders 
17.34(i) and 17.36. 
 
Amendment 34 (Jane Hutt) was agreed in accordance with Standing Order 17.34(i). 
 
2.2 The Chair advised that all sections and schedules of the Bill had been agreed by the 
Committee and, as all amendments had been disposed of, Stage 3 would commence 
on 29 January 2013. 
 

3. Papers to note  
 
3.1 The Committee noted the three papers and the minutes of the previous meeting. 
 

4. Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the public 
from the meeting for the following business:  
 
4.1 The motion was agreed. 
 

5. Consideration of draft Committee report on Maternity Services in 
Wales  
 
5.1 The Committee commented on and agreed its draft report on Maternity Services, 
which would be published shortly. 
 

6. Consideration of draft report on Health Finances  
 
6.1 The Committee commented on its draft report on Health Finances and agreed to 
consider it further at a future meeting. 
 
TRANSCRIPT 
View the meeting transcript.  

Page 126


	Agenda
	2 Briefing in the Wales Audit Office report on Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board
	Response to Action Point  - Caldicot and Wentloog Levels Internal Drainage Board

	3 Briefing from the Auditor General for Wales on the Wales Audit Office report Operations of the Forestry Commission Wales Follow-up Report
	Additional Information - Correspondence from Chair to Natural Resources Wales

	4 Papers to note

